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Leoch International Technology Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are pleased to
announce the following financial highlights:

Financial Highlights
MFBHEE

BrEREMARAR ((F28) RENEAE
(s A ER) MASH T IMBEE

Year ended 31 December

B#E+_HA=+—HLEE

2024 2023 Change
—EME —EB-=HF B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFTT
Revenue & 16,126,477 13,471,235 +19.7%
Gross profit EZil 2,266,845 1,943,707 +16.6%
Profit for the year KEERF] 563,502 567,836 -0.8%
Profit attributable to owners of NEVEB AL
the parent bl 566,393 535,372 +5.8%
Basic earnings per share, SREARF
in RMB (AR 0.41 0.39
Proposed final dividend per share EERERABERE
(HK cents) GBA) 7.0 7.0
Paid interim dividend per share BRI ERPEHRKRE
(HK cents) B 4.0 4.0
Profit attributable to
Revenue Gross profit Profit for the year owners of the parent
Wz Sl REERF BREER AL R
AR AR ARRER AR
20,000,000 2500,000 600,000 567,836 563,502 600,000 566,393
2,266,845 535,372
J6:126:4 70 — AR 500,000 500,000
15,000,000
13,471,235
400,000 400,000
1,500,000
10,000,000 300,000 300,000
1,000,000
200,000 200,000
5,000,000
500,000
100,000 100,000
0 0 0 0
2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
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Financial Highlights BEA1 58 &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Period”), the
Group’s audited profit attributable to owners of the parent
amounted to approximately RMB566.4 million.

Basic earnings per share was RMBO0.41 (2023: RMB0.39),
the calculation of such basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 1,373,897,419 (2023: 1,362,202,493) in issue during the
year.

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
recommend the payment of a final dividend of 7 cents for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 7 cents). The
Company had declared and paid an interim dividend of 4
cents during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The register of members of the Company will be closed:

(i)  from Tuesday, 13 May 2025, to Thursday, 16 May
2025, (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attending and vote at the AGM, Shareholders should
ensure that all transfer documents, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, are lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 May 2025; and

(i) from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Wednesday, 4 June
2025 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of
determining Shareholders’ entitiement to receive the
final dividend, during which period no transfer of Shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for receiving the
final dividend, Shareholders should ensure that all
transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, are lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited. at 17/
F Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 30 May 2025.
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WORDS FROM THE CHAIRMAN

A Year of Strategic Growth and Resilience

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Leoch
International Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group” or
“Leoch”), | hereby present the audited report on Leoch’s
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Period”), reflecting a year of consistent performance,
strategic expansion, and resilience amid global challenges.

In 2024, Leoch achieved RMB16.1 billion in revenue, a
19.7% increase from 2023, driven by our diversified products
offering and expanded sale channels particularly in Start
Batteries (SLI) and Network Batteries.

Global Market Dynamics

Our market shares in non-China region remains limited, but
lead acid and lithium-ion batteries are still key technologies
playing an essential role in energy storage, automotive, and
industrial applications.

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

FE
SRR 18 R BRI A TR B — 4

FNERRELTEEEMARAR (FAR) &
HINB AT ERARBMHE 4EE) 5 L))
EFg (E5g) EE2EEI®E_T_MF+Z
B=+—HLFE ((8A) NEEZE2FEE
BE FRURREE -E—F BEELMNEE
B RAIEFERMIIBERRE MR TER TR
VL FiRiR RO -

T s B EEZEARKEIG1ET BT
T =FIRR19.7% FERmNERMEESE]
(SL)FAB4& Tt A5 E I 2 o b E R EE LR A
HERBNES-

2HTHIZEAE
R REUSMEN IS R - G HEA

SRRE T M B BRI TERERE  REEAN R
PRSI TP A B RAER (F R o

“ETMEFR - BXEERTERAR 7



Chairman’s Statement T [EIRL

The battery and automotive industry is undergoing rapid
transformation, drive by several key trends that present both
challenges and opportunities. The accelerating demand
for renewable energy storage and electric vehicles (EVs)
has created unprecedented demand for efficient energy
storage solutions and driving growth in EVs market. Leoch
has reacted swiftly and demonstrated its ability to capture
increasing market shares through our competitive product
portfolio. Besides, the technological developments in energy
management systems (EMS), lithium ion batteries, and
advanced lead acid technologies (AGM and EFB) have been
crucial in driving our growth and gaining new market shares.
Meanwhile, the increasingly stringent environmental policies
and supply chain reconfiguration are reshaping the landscape
and prompting industry players to respond with greater
adaptability. Leoch is well prepared and well-positioned to
capitalise on these trends, leveraging our diversified portfolio
and global footprint across China, EMEA, the Americas, and
Asia Pacific.

2024 Business Highlights
1. Product Line Performance

In 2024, our product lines delivered an overall strong
performance, with hiccups faced by the recycled lead
business.

SLI Batteries: There has been a significant revenue
growth, which surged 60.9% to RMB5.9 billion for the
Period, driven by the rising adoption of AGM and EFB
in start stop systems and strategic expansion into the
automotive aftermarket.

8 Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Data Centre and Network Batteries: Revenue
has grown 9% to RMB6.9 billion as supported by
the sustained demand for data center and telecom
solutions.

Motive Power Batteries: Revenue increased by
19.2% to RMB1.4 billion, fuelled by ecommerce
logistics and industrial automation trends.

Recycled Lead Business: We recorded a 19.8%
decline in revenue due to reduced tax incentives in
China. While challenges remain for the business model,
we maintain confidence of its long-term prospects as
sustainability priorities evolve.

Geographic Expansion

EMEA: Revenue increased by 42.3% with strong
performance across multiple segments, led by
data centre, telecoms and transportation segments
respectively, This demonstrates our ability to serve
diverse industrial needs in the region.

Americas: The region achieved growth of 20.1%,
primarily driven by expanding demand for Energy
Storage Systems (ESS) and successful capture of
additional market shares in the aftermarket segment.

Asia Pacific (ex China): A steady growth of 7.2% was
reported, though certain sectors demonstrated room
for improvement.

China Region: The region maintained a consistent
growth recorded at 16.1%. Going forward, we will
prioritise development of the aftermarket in automotive
replacement, data centre and telecom backup systems.

Chairman’s Statement T EiR
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Chairman’s Statement T [EIRL

3. Strategic Initiatives

AGM (Absorbent Glass Mat » I 35 4 4 'R ffi =¢)
and EFB (Enhanced Flooded Battery {388 5
7R E ) Technology: We significantly expanded our
offerings for start stop system, aligning with the global
automotive industry’s transition towards electrification
and improved fuel efficiency standards.

Lithium lon & ESS: We successfully launched our
high density lithium batteries and Al driven EMS
solutions to enhance grid stability.

Acquisition: The newly acquired company, Yuasa
Battery (Guangdong) Company Limited (“Yuasa
Battery (Guangdong)”’) has provided synergy to the
Group, in particular, by strengthening our aftermarket
distribution channels.

Challenges and Mitigation

In addition to the key trends shaping the battery and
automotive industry described above, 2024 also presented
significant hurdles in terms of rising costs alongside reduction
in tax incentives.

Increased Freight Costs: The surge in global shipments
costs heightens the need for securing long term contracts
with the shipping companies directly to stabilise costs and
ensure supply chain resilience.

Regulatory Pressures: Reduced tax incentives in China has
compressed recycling margins. In response, we optimised
our operations and diversified feedstock sources in a view
to offsetting fiscal impacts while maintaining production
efficiency.
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Chairman’s Statement T EiR

BE_Z_RF BRI A2 IR BAE
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Looking ahead to 2025, Leoch will focus on three strategic
pillars with its innovative and global mindset and pave its way

We are committed to advancing sustainability through
three key pillars: environmental stewardship, workplace
and operational safety, and transparent, accountable
governance. Such sustainability strategy will continue to
be integrated into our business development model to
create not only commercial but also social value across
our operations.

for success: £
Technology Leadership 1. EErEL
Leoch will intensify its development of BMS solutions. B+ REBEFAMBESHEERKBMS)
ESS and Al driven EMS solutions. Concurrently, we are FRRTT 22 ~ (A RE A M5 (ESS)A A T8 SEERZNRY
advancing our Pure Lead Automotive technology to BEREIERMAEMS) o FfI B B IEHEEATTS
deliver higher product performance and superior CCA B U R ERNERME -FS
and overall performance benchmarks. Y% BN EN E R(CCAFI B REAY M AEFEIE
Market Expansion 2. MG ER
As global regions are expected to expand rapidly, the HRFEF 2B BIFR RIRER  AEBEF
Group will place its strategic focus in the global market, RESMEMBERIKNIS  LEEEMNFMER
particularly in the Americas and EMEA. We will also SN R ER R IESMEMEA) o L9k » FoffI il & &
solidify and enhance our aftermarket networks and MNP EBALURIRSIRIFEES
enhance our service capabilities to capture emerging WMBEZE B NEENMIERBIRE
business opportunities in these high-potential regions. ES =
Sustainability 3. HFEEE

HFIR BB = (B R S AT SN D) 548
%R ORRREE - TFBMNEEZE
MURIBER B EERAE  RPINEHERE
BRIREER SR ELERRE LAET
KRIAXFRIGEEEBE UBNA/HTEEIE
(LR
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Chairman’s Statement T [EIRL

Spinoff and Shareholder Value

In February 2025, we announced our plan to spin off our
wholly-owned subsidiary, Leoch Energy Inc, which operates
our EMEA, Americas and APAC business, for separate
U.S. listing. This will unlock value, enhance focus, and
benefit business developments. This move aims to unlock
value for both the spin-off group and the Group through
enhanced focus and ability to capture regional growth
opportunities. This strategic spin-off initiative has again
demonstrated Leoch’s commitment to business expansion
and enhancement of shareholder’s value.

Gratitude

| extend my deepest appreciation and sincere gratitude to
our valued stakeholders, customers, and vendors for the
unwavering support and encouragement. Your continued
support has been instrumental in Leoch’s achievements to
date. Together, we are not just delivering power solutions -
we are powering a sustainable future through innovation and
shared commitment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

As the Global Power & Energy Technology Partner in power
solution and energy management solutions, the Group
demonstrated robust revenue growth in 2024 compared to
2023, driven by strong performance across key geographical
regions. The Company’s strategic focus on expanding its
market presence, investing in innovative technologies, and
capitalizing on the growing demand for energy storage
solutions has yielded significant results. Below is a detailed
analysis of Leoch International’s revenue growth by Product
Lines and Geographical region:

For the Period, we navigated a landscape of technological
regulatory pressures and market demands with
an emphasis on balancing performance improvements with
environmental considerations. Leoch’s revenue was recorded
at RMB16,126.5 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 19.7% The growth by Product Lines during the Period
showed variations compared to the corresponding period
in 2023, driven by the evolving demands across different
sectors and regions.

evolution,
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

By Productlines

Data Center and Network batteries recorded its Revenue of
RMB6,852.8 million Representing YOY Growth of 9.0%

The data center and network batteries maintained as one of
Leoch’s key product lines, driven by increased investments
in renewable energy projects and government incentives
for energy storage. Leoch introduced modular and scalable
energy storage systems (ESS) solutions to cater to diverse
customer needs.

Leoch maintained a solid presence in the data center and
reserved power battery market, offering high-quality lead-acid
and lithium-ion batteries tailored for critical power backup
applications. Rising demand for uninterrupted power supply
(UPS) systems in data centers is driven by the growth in
cloud computing, 5G networks, and digital transformation
initiatives which positions Leoch favourably due to its
reputation for providing reliable and durable battery solutions.

Further, Leoch’s ESS solutions gained traction in residential,

commercial, and industrial applications, supported by the
global shift toward renewable energy and grid stability needs.

14 Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

SLI battery reported its Revenue of RMB5,931.6 million
Representing YOY Growth of 60.9%

Leoch achieved high double-digit growth in the start battery
segment in 2024, outperforming the previous year in certain
regions. The Company launched advanced start batteries
with extended lifespans and maintenance-free designs,
catering to the needs of modern vehicles and equipment.
Leoch expanded its reach in emerging markets, particularly
in Southeast Asia, Africa, and South America, where demand
for start batteries was fueled by economic growth and
increasing vehicle ownership.

The global automotive industry continued to recover from
supply chain disruptions, leading to higher demand for start
batteries in both OEM (original equipment manufacturer)
and aftermarket segments. Leoch capitalized on this trend
by supplying batteries to leading automotive manufacturers
and distributors. Economic growth and increasing vehicle
ownership in emerging markets drove demand for affordable
and reliable start batteries. Leoch strengthened its
distribution network and localized production to meet this
demand.

Leoch expanded its start battery portfolio to include
AGM (Absorbent Glass Mat) and technologies, which are
increasingly used in modern start-stop systems and modern
automotive applications.

The company formed strategic partnerships with automotive
OEMs, marine equipment manufacturers, and industrial
machinery providers, securing long-term contracts and
expanding its customer base.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

Motive power battery reported its Revenue of RMB1,442.0
million Representing YOY Growth of 19.2%

In 2024, the Group achieved a double digit growth in its
motive power battery segment driven by increasing demand
from material handling equipment, electric forklifts, and
industrial automation sectors. The Company’s focus on
innovation, sustainability, and market expansion played
a key role in its success. Below is a detailed analysis of
Leoch’s motive power battery growth in 2024 compared to
2023: Leoch maintained a strong presence in the motive
power battery market by offering reliable and durable
batteries for electric forklifts, warehouse equipment, and
other industrial applications. Growth in e-commerce and
logistics sectors has also driven demand for electric
material handling equipment and induced the increasing
adoption of automation and electrification in warehouses
and manufacturing facilities. In response to such trend, the
Company launched advanced motive power batteries with
higher energy density, longer cycle life, and fast-charging
capabilities, catering to the needs of modern industrial
applications. Leoch’s batteries were widely adopted in
automated guided vehicles (AGVs) and robotic systems,
further solidifying its position in the market.

Recycled Lead Business reported its Revenue of
RMB1,622.7 million Representing YOY Decline of 19.8%

In 2024, the Group faced several challenges in its China
recycling business, driven by regulatory changes, market
dynamics, and removal of governmental tax incentive policy.
These challenges impacted the Company’s ability to maintain
profitability and expand its recycling operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EI2E:1:m R D

In 2024, Leoch International faced several challenges M= [UFE  IB+-FHREEEZIEHE  FHRHE
that impacted its margins compared to 2023. Key factors —& - =FHILTE—CHFE - TERNZTHE !
included:

Rising Freight Costs & Shipping Disruptions

Sea Crisis and Geopolitical Tensions — Attacks on
shipping routes force longer detours around africa,
increasing fuel costs and delays.

- Container Shortages & Rate Volatility — Higher
demand and rerouted shipments lead to
fluctuating ocean and air freight prices. As
a mitigation for 2025, Loech had negotiated
multiples long-term contracts with lock in rates
with shipping lines before peak seasons to avoid
spot market volatility and using freight forwarders
for volume discounts.

Reduction or Removal of local government incentives
and subsidies

The Chinese government scaled back or eliminated
local government incentives and subsidies previously
available to lead-acid battery recyclers. This directly
increased the burden on recycling companies,
squeezing profit margins and reducing cash flow for
reinvestment in operations or technology upgrades
reduced joint venture recycled business activities and
margin. On the positive fronts, extended Producer
Responsibility (EPR) mandates requiring that battery
manufacturers ensure higher recycling ratio rates and
only Government-approved recyclers can process
LABs hence consolidation favors compliant players
like Leoch and the projected Global lead deficit,
due to mine closures (e.g, Australia’s Mount Isa) will
further increased demands of recyclced activities and
accordingly improved margin is expected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

These challenges collectively pressured Leoch International’s
margins more severely in 2024 compared to 2023, where
some of these issues were less pronounced or still emerging.
There was noted improvement in profit attributable to owners
of the parent company primarily due to the gross profit
growth from business expansion.

By Regions

During the Period, the battery market exhibited distinct trends
across various geographical regions.

Chinese Mainland Region reported its Revenue of
RMB9,474.4 million Representing YOY Growth of 16.1%

In 2024, the Group demonstrated its consistent double-
digit growth in the Chinese market compared to 2023,
with strong performance noted across most product lines.
The Company’s growth was influenced by market trends,
regulatory changes, and competitive market dynamics.
During the Period, Leoch experienced steady growth driven
by strong demand for lead-acid batteries, ESS, and motive
power batteries, Energy Storage Solution and Data Center
Network Batteries. The Company benefited from government
support for renewable energy and industrial automation with
significant gains in ESS exponential growth as investments
in renewable energy projects and government incentives for
energy storage increased. Leoch introduced modular and
scalable ESS solutions, enabling its expansion into emerging
markets and formation of strategic partnerships with key
players in the EV and renewable energy sectors. Leoch’s
emphasis on eco-friendly products and recycling initiatives,
which aligned with China’s environmental goals.

Leoch’s growth in 2024 was more pronounced in high-
potential segments like ESS reflecting the Company’s
successful pivot toward sustainable and advanced energy
solutions.

18 Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

Y-St

BB CETEE S T MENFIEEATR
TEI=FFANERN RAREP IS MEER
KRB MER VAR - S AR HEA AELR
MBS FRCERERBREFIER

‘&l o

HAR > T RHIEE R B IR R IREIATRE o

B Ay 34 341 (6B 5% 15 e 7 A B P
[AEEE=16.1%

0,474.45 T

AT TNE AEBERE T HEE R
g R BT —FEL KB D EmFIIA R
YRR - AAREERRTHES BEER RS
PP RBFTRE - BIR TEEHEEE Toth » FERERRR
A ERBEROEEB M EHT RS T E
THREREER ARRARBRBUNH I BERE
B IHEBEHENRF AIBEEREENRE
EAN AN L EUATHE B 2 SR (R AE 1T 22 8038 T -
LESSH W am HIRIR M TUE R - BT HEW TIEIR1E
K AIERRESSHR S % (R B R E IR ERM
Ehi5 WRBENENBEREREINIE
TEERUERGFERG - BIHIRFEEMRREU
TR EREFENIRRERZE S

BER T FERIERAEESSEFS B AL
HREE > RIRAA T AINA BT R 48 K S RE R AR
R B o



Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

America Region reported its Revenue of RMB2,571.3 million
Representing YOY Growth of 20.1%

In 2024, the Group’s business achieved strong growth in
the Americas, driven by increasing demand for ESS, and
motive power solutions. The Company’s strategic focus
on innovation, market expansion, and sustainability has
allowed it to seize emerging opportunities in North and South
America.

Leoch’s business growth accelerated, particularly in lithium-
ion batteries and ESS, driven by the region’s push toward
renewable energy, electric vehicles (EVs), and industrial
automation. The Company also expanded its presence in
emerging markets in South America. Exponential growth
due to increased adoption of solar and wind energy,
coupled with government incentives for energy storage, has
enabled Leoch’s modular and scalable ESS solutions to gain
significant traction.

North America contributed around 15.9% of Leoch’s total
revenue in 2024. The region’s focus on clean energy and
infrastructure modernization has provided significant growth
opportunities for the Company.

EMEA (Europe, the Middle East and Africa) Region reported
its Revenue of RMBZ2,753.8 million Representing YOY
Growth of 42.3%

In 2024, revenue growth was driven by accelerated
adoption of renewable energy storage systems, particularly
in Germany, France, and the UK, alongside the growing
demand for backup power solutions in commercial
and residential sectors. Strategic collaborations with
European energy companies and EV manufacturers further
strengthened market penetration, and compliance with
stringent environmental regulations, further positioned Leoch
as a preferred supplier of eco-friendly battery solutions.

The EMEA region’s focus on sustainability and energy
independence has created a favorable environment for
Leoch’s advanced battery technologies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

The Company is capitalising on increasing investments in
renewable energy projects, particularly in the UAE, Saudi
Arabia, and South Africa, coupled with the growing demand
for reliable power backup solutions in off-grid and remote
areas. It has also formed strategic partnerships with local
governments and energy companies to support infrastructure
development.

Additionally, Leoch has expanded its product offerings to
include cost-effective and durable battery solutions tailored to
the EMEA region’s needs.

The EMEA region accounted for approximately 17.1% of
Leoch’s global revenue in 2024. While it remains a smaller
market compared to other regions, EMEA's growth potential
is significant, driven by rapid urbanization and energy
transition initiatives.

Asia-Pacific Region (excluding the Chinese Mainland)
reported its Revenue of RMB1,327.0 million Representing
YOY Growth of 7.2%

In 2024, revenue growth reflected a strong demand for
renewable energy storage solutions in India and Southeast
Asia. The Company has expanded its manufacturing
facilities and distribution networks across the APAC region,
capitalising on government incentives for green energy
adoption and electric vehicle (EV) infrastructure development.
The Company has also forged increased partnerships with
local EV manufacturers and renewable energy projects.
The APAC region remains as Leoch’s key potential growing
market, contributing approximately 8.2% of total revenue in
2024. The Company’s ability to cater to diverse customer
needs, from industrial batteries to residential energy storage
systems, has solidified its leadership in this region.

Despite macroeconomic and regulatory headwinds, Leoch’s
diversified product portfolio, technological capabilities, and
global footprint provide a solid foundation for sustainable
growth. The Company remains well-positioned to capitalize
on the global energy transition while improving operational
resilience in 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EI2E:1:m R D

PROSPECTS

According to the forecasts of institutions such as the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank, the
global economy is expected to maintain a moderate growth
rate of 2.8% to 3.5% in 2025, with emerging markets serving
as the primary driving force. China and India are projected
to achieve growth rates of 4.5% to 5.5% and 6.5% to
7.5% respectively. Among these, technological innovations
such as new energy and artificial intelligence will become
the main drivers of growth for major economies worldwide.
Therefore, the Group anticipates that with the accelerated
transformation of the global energy structure towards green
and low-carbon, as well as the rapid popularization of digital
and intelligent technologies, the new energy and artificial
intelligence sectors will witness unprecedented development
opportunities. The energy solutions the Group provide for
data centers, communications, and energy storage, among
others, are in line with the current global technological
innovation trends, which will help the Group create new
growth points and consolidate its leading position in the
industry.

At the same time, we also see that the risks facing the
global economy are complex and diverse. There are short-
term challenges such as geopolitical conflicts and inflationary
pressures, as well as long-term structural risks such as
climate change and debt issues. To address these multiple
challenges, the Group has added analyses and response
strategies for potential risks such as fluctuations in raw
material prices, supply chain risks, and technological change
risks in our strategic planning. We have also established a
risk management team to regularly assess and adjust risk
response strategies.
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The rapid growth of demand for network
power batteries used in data center is driven
by the explosion of artificial intelligence

As of now, the global digital economy has exceeded USD60
trillion, accounting for more than 55% of the global GDP.
Against the backdrop of the continuous acceleration of
information technology iterations, the development of artificial
intelligence has fully entered the stage of deep application
and value creation. The global digital infrastructure
construction has shown a leapfrog development, with
a significant increase in 5G network coverage and
breakthrough progress in 6G technology research and
development. New computing architectures such as
quantum computing and edge computing have begun to
be commercialized on a large scale. Countries are actively
promoting the construction of digital governance systems,
gradually improving the market-based allocation mechanism
of data elements, and continuously deepening the integration
of digital technology and the real economy, injecting new
impetus into global economic recovery.

Among them, the development of global data center
business is particularly remarkable. By 2025, the global data
center market size has exceeded 300 billion US dollars,
with an average annual growth rate of over 15%. Driven
by the rapid development of the digital economy and the
large-scale application of artificial intelligence large models,
the demand for data centers, as the core computing
infrastructure, has also shown explosive growth, bringing
unprecedented development opportunities to the UPS
battery industry. It is expected that by the end of 2025,
the total electricity consumption of global data centers
will account for a significantly higher proportion of global
electricity consumption, and the market size of power supply
systems required will also continue to expand. Facing this
significant development opportunity, the Group will continue
to increase R&D investment, focus on improving the
performance indicators of core products such as high-power
lead-acid batteries, high-density lithium-ion energy storage
systems, and intelligent power management systems, and
ensure that the energy consumption efficiency of products
reaches the international leading level. At the same time, we
will deepen strategic cooperation with global leading data
center operators and equipment providers, communication
enterprises, and cloud service providers, actively participate
in the construction of new-generation green data centers,
and strive to achieve significant growth in data center-related
business areas.

22 Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

Y-St

ATEEBRETHHEEFORMEES
MERIREE R

BEER ENEMFEREER0BRET
152 IXGDPLL BB i855% ° 715 B TS A H &N
ENEFRT ALEEZEREEZEEARCER
BEBERERE 2B FERREERZRE
IR > SCHBAE B R KIBIR 7T > 6GH fiTbff 3%
RSRRMER EF58 BEtBESHEHE
RisRBRRCEA - SEEREEM T B IEE
AR BBERTHCEERAZEY & 8F
MR BREERSREENEINR  AEKEE
B AR ERE

BHEP 2REIRFOEBNERZINER-HE
2025%F » 2IREUR A0 T R E B 32 8830001& =
7o EIE ERRIFIE15%L L o E B F L R
BREMATISEAEIRECEANEE T &
BHROMEAZOE NDERS NG R 2IRGEES

B R » AUPSE TR T HIFT R B I EEH
8o FEETRI2025FEE 2B EE POV AESEE
KA EEMELAIE KIBRFA > MATEERAMART
BRBENBIFERA B E—EAREHE K
%lhﬁ%ﬂuﬂﬁéff&)\ SHRAS XN
B o EREHERA SELEREERA
LR0E BB MRS Eljfﬁ > IR SR AEFERRZ T
BUPRLE ST IR o [B B » A R C B 2 BRAE STV B
BhOESBENREREE BELERERS
EREES e B2 ANm— g s8Rt OE

%o NFEEEEDOERAER B EIREEE R



Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

Maintain the market advantage of
network power batteries and focus on the
advantages of new industry development

While deeply engaged in the lead-acid battery sector, we
are accelerating our strategic transformation towards the
lithium-ion battery field to seize the historic opportunities
brought about by the global energy structure transformation.
According to the prediction of Bloomberg New Energy
Finance (“BNEF”), the global lithium-ion battery market
size will exceed USD400 billion by 2030. Among them,
the annual compound growth rate (“CAGR”) of the energy
storage battery field is expected to reach 25%-30%, while
that of the automotive battery field is approximately 20%-
25%. Based on this trend, we have successfully developed
a new generation of high-energy-density lithium-ion battery
products, featuring extreme safety and longer cycle life,
and have achieved large-scale applications in power supply
for network power, industrial and commercial energy
storage systems, and low-speed electric vehicles used in
communication data center. It is expected that the revenue
from the lithium-ion battery business will show an optimistic
growth.

Great potential for the energy storage
business development and significant
advantages in the external environment

Against the backdrop of the accelerated transformation of
global energy structure, influenced by multiple factors such
as the intensified fluctuations in energy prices, the impetus of
carbon neutrality policies, and the rising demand for stability
of power systems, the market for energy storage batteries is
experiencing explosive growth. According to Bloomberg New
Energy Finance’s forecast, by 2025, the global market for
energy storage will exceed USD500 billion, with lithium-ion
energy storage systems accounting for more than 80% of the
share. Under this circumstance, leveraging our accumulated
advantages in network power battery technology and our
customer service experience, we have launched a new
generation of high-performance industrial and commercial
energy storage systems in response to the urgent demands
of the European and American markets for energy storage
solutions with high safety and long cycle life. This system
adopts a modular design and multi-level fire control
strategies, enhancing its safety performance while expected
to increase the energy density by 30% and the cycle life to
exceed 8,000 times, significantly reducing the electricity cost
for users.
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Meanwhile, we have deeply recognized the significance
of the Energy Management System (EMS) as the “brain”
of lithium battery energy storage systems. EMS not only
can detect the battery health status, optimize the charging
and discharging strategies of the energy storage system,
and enhance energy utilization efficiency, but also can help
users participate in power market transactions through
intelligent prediction and scheduling functions, generating
additional income. Therefore, our R&D team in Singapore
is accelerating the improvement of the new generation of
energy management products. These products have passed
certifications in multiple European countries and will support
artificial intelligence algorithm optimization and cloud data
management in the future. After obtaining the approval
from relevant regulatory authorities, these products will be
launched globally, forming a complete solution with our
lithium battery energy storage products, providing users with
one-stop services from hardware to software.

In the field of new energy storage, we have made
breakthrough progress and successfully won bids for several
large-scale photovoltaic energy storage projects. Looking
forward to 2025, with the continuous growth of global
renewable energy installed capacity, we will further deepen
strategic cooperation with the photovoltaic, wind energy and
other new energy industries and provide integrated solutions.
Facing the continuous growth of global renewable energy
installed capacity, the deepening of power marketization
reform, and the rise of new business models such as virtual
power plants, the energy storage battery business will have
a broader development space. We will continue to increase
research and development investment, deepen strategic
cooperation with global energy enterprises, and contribute
more to global energy transformation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

Deepen the technological innovation of
SLI batteries and continuously expand the
aftermarket channel market

In the context of the global automotive industry accelerating
its transition towards electrification, the market for starter
batteries is witnessing new opportunities for development.
According to the latest market research data, the global SLI
battery market size is projected to exceed USD22 billion in
2024, and it will maintain a compound annual growth rate of
4.5% by 2025. Although the pure electric vehicle market is
growing rapidly, hybrid vehicles and traditional fuel vehicles
equipped with start-stop systems still occupy significant
market shares. The demand for high-performance starter
batteries for these models remains strong. Particularly,
SLI batteries equipped with AGM (absorption glass fiber
separator) and EFB (enhanced flooded battery) technologies,
due to their excellent cycle performance and environmental
adaptability, are the mainstream products in the market.

In response to this market trend, we will deepen our layout in
the following three aspects: Firstly, we will strengthen
strategic cooperation with mainstream automotive original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs), focusing on promoting the
original equipment supply of AGM and EFB batteries.
Secondly, in view of the growing replacement demand in the
aftermarket (it is expected that the global aftermarket
replacement market size will exceed USD12 billion by 2025),
we will further deepen the resource layout and exploration of
the aftermarket channel market, and integrate the channel
resources of the newly acquired Tianjin GS Battery Company
Limited# and Yuasa Battery (Shunde) Company Limited* to
build a global digital after-sales service system. And through
the marketing model integrating online and offline, we will
enhance the terminal service capabilities. Finally, we will also
increase R&D investment to develop high-performance
battery products that are compatible with the new generation
of intelligent start-stop systems and hybrid powertrain
models, ensuring the technological leading edge.

# The English transliteration of the Chinese names of these entities
are for reference only.
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It is worth noting that with the continuous growth of the
number of new energy vehicles, the demand for 12V auxiliary
batteries, as the important component of the vehicle’s low-
voltage system, will also increase simultaneously. We plan
to launch more auxiliary battery products specifically for new
energy vehicles in 2025, further improving the product matrix.
Through the dual-wheel drive of pre-installation integration
and aftermarket services, we will build a more balanced
business structure, laying a solid foundation for sustainable
development.

Emphasize on the three growth engines of
the business, and contribute to the steady
growth of the Group’s business

Looking forward to 2025, in the face of the dual opportunities
of gradual global economic recovery and structural
transformation, the Group will fully rely on the profound
advantages accumulated over many years in its global
market operations, continuously optimize and expand
the global supply chain system, and further enhance
the coverage breadth and operational efficiency of its
international marketing network. Against the backdrop
of moderate global economic growth and the rapid rise
of emerging markets, the Group will, on the basis of
maintaining its leading position in major business markets,
actively seize the incremental opportunities brought by
emerging economies in areas such as green energy, digital
transformation, and consumption upgrading, accelerate the
layout of high-potential markets, promote diversified business
development, and achieve sustainable growth. The main
strategic measures are as follows:

First, consolidate the advantages of the lead-acid battery
business and expand the high-profit aftermarket market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BIRE 158 R 2 th

The lead-acid battery business of the Group, relying on
mature technology, profound industry experience, reliable
brand advantages, and outstanding cost control, has taken
the leading position in the OE market and continuously
contributes high profit margins and cash flows to the
company. Meanwhile, compared with the OE market, the
Group is currently actively exploring the back-end channel
market with higher profit margins and shorter payment
cycles. While maintaining the advantages in the OE market,
it focuses on expanding the after-sales channel market to
further enhance its profitability.

Secondly, vigorously develop the lithium battery business to
meet the diversified development needs of customers.

With the rapid development of artificial intelligence, big
data and communication industries, it is expected that the
market for network power lithium-ion batteries will grow
from approximately USD60 billion in 2024 to USD150 billion
in 2030, experiencing explosive growth. By leveraging the
leading advantages gained from years of layout in this
field, we will seize market opportunities and achieve rapid
growth in related businesses. Meanwhile, the global energy
system is accelerating its transition towards decarbonization,
with the proportion of renewable energy such as wind
and solar power continuously increasing. However,
their intermittency and volatility pose challenges to grid
stability. Lithium battery energy storage systems, through
integrating renewable energy into the grid and optimizing
energy scheduling, have become the key to solving these
problems. The Group closely follows the industry’s intelligent
development trend and has independently developed energy
management systems (EMS), battery management systems
(BMS), and power conversion systems (PCS), which have
passed multiple international certifications and have been
successfully applied in several large-scale communication
projects. These technological breakthroughs have provided
us with a solid technical barrier. In the future, we will continue
to invest and continuously improve in the performance,
safety, and intelligence of lithium-ion battery supporting
systems, providing customers with overall energy solutions.
We believe that under the favorable policies of governments
around the world supporting the digital economy and the
development of renewable energy, our lithium-ion battery
energy storage systems are expected to achieve rapid
growth in the market and become an important part of the
future business landscape.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

Thirdly, lay out the energy management system and explore
the blue ocean market.

Under the dual impetus of technological progress and
favorable policies, the energy management market is
expanding rapidly. The Company will increase the investment
in related research and development, deeply explore the
potential of regional and industry demands, especially
innovatively integrating artificial intelligence technology into
system design, achieving remote intelligent monitoring and
predictive maintenance for lithium battery projects, which
significantly improves system operation efficiency and safety.
At the same time, we are focusing on the digitalization
and distributed energy fields, such as the development
of microgrid monitoring and control systems, achieving
comprehensive monitoring and optimization control of
microgrids, improving energy utilization efficiency, and
developing virtual power plant platforms for distributed
energy to participate in power market transactions, achieving
economic benefits while supporting stable grid operation.

With the mutual synergy of the above three business
growth engines, the traditional lead-acid battery business
will continue to provide stable cash flow, while the rapidly-
growing lithium battery business will open up new
development opportunities for the Group. The energy
management system, while empowering hardware products
with business capabilities, will create industry technical
advantages, facilitate industry upgrading, and continuously
optimize products and services through technology-driven
approaches to create greater value for customers, jointly
promoting the Group’s sustained development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EI2E:1:m R D

As a global leading one-stop energy solutions provider, the
Group will continue to adhere to the development strategy
of “technology-driven, global layout, and customer-first”.
In terms of production capacity layout, we will continue
to promote the intelligent upgrading of production bases,
improve the global manufacturing network covering China,
Southeast Asia, South Asia and North America, and ensure
the resilience of supply chain and delivery efficiency. In terms
of technological innovation, we will increase the intensity of
R&D investment, focus on breaking through key technologies
such as high-security solid-state batteries and intelligent
energy management systems, and build a core technology
barrier. In terms of market expansion, we are expanding
the professional international marketing team, deepen
strategic cooperation with global data center operators
and equipment providers, communication operators, global
energy enterprises and automobile manufacturers, aiming to
increase the proportion of overseas market revenue.

In the face of the complex and ever-changing macro
environment, we will continuously enhance operational
efficiency through digital means, optimize the cost structure,
regularly assess and adjust risk response strategies,
strengthen the ability to resist risks, and incorporate
sustainable development goals into strategic planning, such
as reducing carbon emissions, improving energy efficiency,
promoting circular economy, and building a sustainable
enterprise. At the same time, we will actively seize the
opportunities of global energy transformation, focus on the
layout of three business segments such as network power
batteries, new energy storage, and automotive starting
batteries. We expect to achieve double-digit revenue and
profit growth by 2025, further consolidating our leading
position in the global energy solution provider field, creating
sustainable value for shareholders, and contributing to global
energy transformation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

As announced by the Company on 12 February 2025,
it proposes the spin-off and separate listing on the
United States of America of its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Leoch Energy Inc (the “SpinCo”), which together with its
subsidiaries (the “SpinCo Group, and the Group excluding
the SpinCo Group shall be referred to as the “Retained
Group”) are principally engaged in reserve power batteries,
SLI batteries and motive power batteries in EMEA, Americas
and the Asia-Pacific Region (other than Chinese Mainland,
Hong Kong and Macau). We believe that this strategic move
would unlock and enhance the market value of both the
Retained Group and the SpinCo Group — each positioned to
capitalise on the regional market opportunities, operational
efficiency and attract targeted investment. The parallel listing
structure is expected to improve financial transparency,
governance, and valuation while offering shareholders
assured entitlement to SpinCo shares by way of a full
distribution in specie of existing shares of the SpinCo held by
the Company. The spin-off and separate listing plan of the
SpinCo has underscored Leoch’s commitment to business
expansion and enhancement of shareholders’ value.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB16,126.5 million, representing an increase of 19.7%
from RMB13,471.2 million for the corresponding period
in 2023. The profit for the Period amounted to RMB563.5
million as compared to RMB567.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, of which the profit attributable
to the owners of the parent amounted to RMB566.4 million
as compared to RMB535.4 million for the corresponding
period in 2023. Basic earnings per share for the Period was
RMBO0.41 (2023: RMBO0.39).
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Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

Revenue

The Group’s revenue from the power solutions business
increased by 26.7% from RMB11,447.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to RMB14,503.8 million for the
Period, while the Group’s revenue from the recycled lead
business decreased by 19.8% from RMB2,023.8 million for
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the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB1,622.7 milion  19.8%ZE AR A REE1,6227H 8T
for the Period.
Details of the Group’s revenue for the vears ended 31 UTFAXRERRBE_ZT_NER_Z __¢
December 2024 and 2023 by product category are set out +_H :+—E|thﬁf£$§§uuﬁ’*”2u 3R
below: A
2024 2023
k- 13 S
Percentage
Percentage increase/ Percentage
Product category EmER Revenue share (decrease) Revenue share
PR BE/ Py
gz B (Th&) = e gs Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBFT
Reserve power batteries BREM 6,852,789 42.5% 9.0% 6,284,398 46.6%
SLI batteries EEE M 5,931,642 36.8% 60.9% 3,686,988 27.4%
Motive power batteries EpAE=R 1,442,049 8.9% 19.2% 1,209,365 9.0%
Others Hith 271,339 1.7% 4.0% 266,706 2.0%
Sub-total INgt 14,503,819 89.9% 26.7% 11,447,457 85.0%
Recycled lead products [BlKEAE R 1,622,658 10.1% (19.8%) 2,023,778 15.0%
Total Bt 16,126,477 100% 19.7% 13,471,235 100%

Geographically, the Group’s customers are principally
located in the Mainland China, Europe, Middle East and
Africa (“EMEA”), Americas and Asia-Pacific (other than the
Mainland China). During the Period, the Group recorded
different levels of growth in different markets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The following revenue information is based on the customer

location for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

BEEFwmR DR

UFTARE-_S-_MER-S-_=€+_7
S+—ALEEREAFEREEANKEE
Tl

2024 2023
—TmE - Jt -2
Percentage  Percentage Percentage
Revenue share increase Revenue share
W@ FRAESL BRE W& FEES
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TFR AREBTFT
Mainland China TR Ayt 9,474,381 58.8% 16.1% 8,157,704 60.5%
EMEA EMEA 2,753,830 17.1% 42.3% 1,935,577 14.4%
Americas =M 2,571,306 15.9% 20.1% 2,140,455 15.9%
Asia-Pacific (other thanthe  TAME
Mainland China) (R EEFRE ) 1,326,960 8.2% 7.2% 1,237,499 9.2%
Total =t 16,126,477 100% 19.7% 13,471,235 100%
Cost of Sales €5 B S

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 20.2% from
RMB11,527.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB13,859.6 million for the Period, mainly because of the
increased sales volume.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit increased by 16.6% from
RMB1,943.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB2,266.8 million for the Period, mainly due to the
strong demand from the SLI batteries business and reserve
power batteries business as a result of expanding customer
bases. The overall gross profit margin decreased slightly from
14.4% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 14.1% for
the Period, mainly due to the increased transportation cost.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased by 5.7% from RMB227.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB240.9
million for the Period as a result of an increase in government
grants compensated by the lack of gain on bargain purchase
during the Period.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased
by 15.2% from RMB464.3 milion for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB534.7 milion for the Period. The
increase was mainly caused by the increase in staff costs and
sales commission as a result of business expansion globally.
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Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by 12.1%
from RMB446.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to RMB500.2 million for the Period. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in depreciation and amortization
and professional fees as a result of the acquisition of
subsidiaries in late 2023 and group reorganisation during the
Period, respectively.

R&D Costs

R&D costs of the Group decreased by 7.9% from RMB371.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB342.6
million for the Period.

Other Expenses

The Group’s other expenses increased by 54.4% from
RMB21.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB32.4 milion for the Period. The increase was mainly
caused by the inventory damaged by flood. The process of
insurance compensation is underway.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by 34.2% from
RMB223.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB300.0 million for the Period mainly due to the
increased bank borrowings in financing our regional capacity
investment during the Period.

Profit before Tax
As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group recorded profit

before tax of RMB694.3 million for the Period as compared
to RMB643.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by 72.1% from RMB76.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB130.8
million for the Period, mainly because assessable profits from
the power solutions business increased while profit from
the recycled lead business was effectively not subject to tax
during the Period.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group recorded net
profit of RMB563.5 million (2023: RMB567.8 million) and
profit attributable to the owners of the parent of RMB566.4
million (2023: RMB535.4 million) for the Period.

Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
assets of RMB1,296.2 million (2023: RMB1,160.7 million).
The Group’s current assets mainly consist of inventories,
trade receivables, debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, cash and bank balances,
prepayments, other receivables and other assets. The
Group’s current liabilities mainly consist of trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Inventories

Inventories constituted one of the principal components
of the Group’s current assets. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had inventories of RMB3,365.2 million (2023:
RMB2,748.7 million), representing an increase by 22.4%
compared with last year. Increase in inventories was partly
because of the strong demand from the power solutions
business and partly because of the acquisition of subsidiary
during the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BEIEfE

Trade Receivables

The Group’s trade receivables primarily relate to receivables
for goods sold to its customers and mainly comprised
customers from the power solutions business. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had trade receivables of
RMB3,704.3 million (2023: RMB3,247.2 million), representing
an increase by 14.1% compared with last year. The increase
in trade receivables was caused mainly by the increased
sales.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other
Assets

The Group’s prepayments mostly relate to the purchase
of raw materials. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had prepayments, other receivables and other assets of
RMB663.3 million (2023: RMB631.0 million), representing an
increase by 5.1% compared with last year. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in its prepayment for raw materials
and utility deposits.

Trade and Bills Payables

The Group’s trade and bills payables primarily relate to its
purchase of raw materials for production. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had trade and bills payables of RMB2,603.0
million (2023: RMB3,004.0 million), representing a decease
by 13.3% compared with last year. The decrease in trade
and bills payables was mainly caused by the decrease in bills
payables used for the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EIE

Other Payables and Accruals

The Group’s other payables and accruals primarily consisted
of provision for social insurance and retirement benefits,
payments for its expenditures related to construction and
renovation of its production facilities, payments in connection
with transportation charges, contract liabilities, payables
for acquisition of subsidiaries and accruals for payroll and
benefits for its employees. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had other payables and accruals of RMB1,094.8
million (2023: RMB1,476.0 million), representing a decrease
by 25.8% compared with last year. The decrease was mainly
caused by the settlement of payables for purchase of items
of property, plant and equipment, payables to non-controlling
shareholders and payables for acquisition of subsidiaries.

Capital Expenditures

During the Period, the Group invested RMB832.4 million
(2023: RMB609.1 million) in property, plant and equipment
for its new production facilities.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to RMB1,296.2 million (2023: RMB1,160.7
million), among which cash and bank deposits amounted
to RMB1,406.0 million (2023: RMB2,529.1 million). As at
31 December 2024, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB5,121.5 million (2023: RMB4,457.4 million), all of which
are interest-bearing. Except for borrowings of RMB1,116.2
million (2023: RMB956.2 million) which have a maturity
of over one year, all of the Group’s bank borrowings were
repayable within one year. The Group’s borrowings were
denominated in RMB, US dollars, HK dollars, Singapore
dollars, Malaysian ringgits and Euro, and the effective interest
rates of which as of 31 December 2024 were 2.00% to
9.60% (2023: 2.00% to 9.60%).
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A portion of the Group’s bank borrowings was secured by
pledges over certain assets of the Group including property,
plant and equipment, leasehold lands, deposits, inventory,
trade receivables and equity interests in the Company’s
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing
ratio was 35.3% (2023: 31.6%), which was calculated by
dividing total borrowings by total assets as at the end of each
respective period, multiplied by 100%.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates globally. For the Group’s companies in
the PRC, their principal activities were transacted in RMB.
For other companies outside of the PRC, their principal
activities were transacted in US dollars. However, as a
result of the Group’s revenue being denominated in RMB,
the conversion into foreign currencies in connection with
payments is subject to regulatory restrictions on currency
conversion in the PRC. The value of the RMB against the US
dollars and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by,
among other things, change in the political and economic
conditions in the PRC. The Group’s product sales adopted
a price mechanism by which the currency fluctuation is
basically transferred to the customers, but the Group’s
foreign currency trade receivables may still be exposed to risk
in the credit period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EI2E:1:m R D

Material Acquisition and Disposal

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary,
associated company or joint venture by the Group during the
Period.

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant
investment with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s total
assets.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 16,732
employees. Employee benefit expenses (including directors’
remuneration), which comprised wages and salaries,
performance-related bonuses, equity-settled share option
expenses and retirement benefit scheme contributions,
totaled RMB1,481.3 million for the Period (2023:
RMB1,331.0 million).

The Group has a share option scheme for selected
participants as incentive and reward for their contribution to
the Group. A mandatory provident fund scheme and local
retirement benefit schemes are also in effect. The Group
encourages employees to receive continuing education
and training to strengthen their work skills and for personal
development. The Group also provides workshops for
staff at different levels to enhance their knowledge of work
safety and to build up team spirit. Staff are rewarded based
on performance of the Group as well as on individual
performance and contribution.
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Directors and Senior Management

EZREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. DONG Li (%), aged 58, is an executive director,
chairman of the Board and nomination committee, a member
of the remuneration committee and founder of the Company.
Dr. DONG has been appointed as executive director since
27 April 2010, the date of the incorporation of our Company.
Dr. DONG is a controlling shareholder of the Company. He is
also one of the authorised representatives of the Company
and serving as director for various subsidiaries of the Group.
Dr. DONG also serves as director for various private wholly
owned companies which include investment holding and
manufacturing enterprise.

Dr. DONG obtained a Doctor of Science from Shanghai
University in 2021 and an EMBA degree from National
University of Singapore in 2015. Dr. DONG graduated from
Xi'an International Studies College, the predecessor of Xi’an
International Studies University, in 1990 with a Bachelor of
Arts degree and Northwest Textile University of Science and
Technology, the predecessor of Xi'an Polytechnic University,
in 1988 with a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering.

Dr. DONG is the controlling shareholder of the Company who
holds the shares in the Company through Master Alliance
Investment Limited. However he personally did not hold any
share options in the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Ms. HONG Yu, aged 53, is an executive director of the
Company. Ms. HONG has been appointed as executive
director since 6 April 2023.

Ms. HONG graduated from Northwest Textile University
for Science and Technology, the predecessor of Xi’an
Polytechnic University, in 1994 majoring in textiles
engineering and minoring in international economics and
sales.

Ms. HONG has almost 30 years of management and
operational experience. From July 1994 to May 2000, she
worked as the manager of the foreign trade department of
Xi'an Oumei Handicrafts Co. Ltd. From July 2000 to May
2005, Ms. HONG joined the Group as a salesperson, and
was subsequently promoted to the manager and deputy
general manager of the foreign trade department. From
May 2005 to June 2015, Ms. HONG was appointed as
the vice president of purchasing department of the Group.
From August 2015 to March 2020, Ms. HONG served as a
partner of Zhongtong Yintai (Beijing) Investment Management
Co., Ltd. From March 2020, Ms. HONG rejoined the Group
as member of enterprise management team, financial
committee officer, purchasing director and investment
director.

Ms. HONG personally held 934,000 shares and 1,000,000
share options of the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan (E75#), aged 56, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the audit committee and a member of
remuneration committee of the Company since 14 October
2010.

Mr. CAO holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting from
Sonoma State University and an MBA degree from the
Anderson School of the University of California, Los Angeles.
He worked at the auditing department of Coopers &
Lybrand between 1993 and 1996, and obtained his CPA
license (California, United States) in 1996. From 1997 to
2002, he worked at J.P. Morgan and Merrill Lynch in their
respective private banking divisions. Since 2002, he has
been the Executive Director of Etech Capital, a subsidiary
of Etech Securities, Inc., responsible for its Greater China
private equity advisory business. He is also currently the
Chief Executive Officer, Director and Founding Partner of
Shanghai Great Wall Etech Capital Management Company,
a joint venture between China Great Wall Asset Management
Company, one of the largest Chinese asset management
companies, and Etech Group. Mr. CAQO is also currently the
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of Chongging Tongli
Heavy Machinery Manufacturing Co., LTD.

Mr. CAO personally held 1,100,000 share options in the
Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Mr. LAU Chi Kit (2% %), aged 80, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the remuneration committee, a member of the nomination
committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company since 17 September 2014.

Mr. LAU retired from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited (‘HSBC”) in December 2000 after more
than 35 years’ of service. Among the senior positions in
HSBC, he was the Assistant General Manager and Head
of Personal Banking Hong Kong and Assistant General
Manager and Head of Strategic Implementation, Asia-
Pacific Region. He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers (“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s
Executive Committee (from January 1999 to December
2000) and is currently an Honorary Advisor of the Institute’s
Executive Committee. He served as a member on a number
of committees appointed by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administration Region, including the Advisory Council
on the Environment (from October 1998 to December 2001),
the Advisory Committee on Human Resources Development
in the Financial Services Sector (from June 2000 to May
2001), the Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption (from January
2000 to December 2003), the Environment and Conservation
Fund Committee (from August 2000 to October 2006), the
Innovation and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects
Vetting Committee (from January 2000 to December 2004)
and the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee
(from February 1990 to March 2006). He also served as
Chairman of the Business Environment Council Ltd. (from
September 1998 to December 2001).

Currently, Mr. LAU is also an independent non executive
director of Royale Home Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1198)
and Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co Ltd (stock
code: 6893). The shares of Royale Home Holdings Ltd. and
Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co Ltd are listed on
the Main Board.

Mr. LAU personally held 1,100,000 share options in the
Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Mr. LU Zhigiang (E&35%), aged 50, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director, a member of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee
of the Company since 21 March 2022.

Mr. LU was Asia Fellow in Harvard University from August
2018 to. July 2020. Mr. LU holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration from Central State University of
the United States of America in 2001, a Bachelor Degree
of Engineering and a Bachelor Degree of Industry from
Nanchang Hangkong University of The People’s Republic
of China in 1996 and 1997 respectively. Mr. LU attended
the program of a Master of Science Degree in International
Purchasing & Supply Chain Management organised by
Audencia NANTES.Ecole de Management in 2002.

Mr. LU is currently an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Hong Kong Life Sciences and
Technologies Group Limited whose issued shares were listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange under stock code: 8085 but
were delisted on 14 September 2020. He also served as an
independent non-executive director of ASIA TELEVISION
HOLDINGS LIMITED whose issued shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange under stock code: 707
from 8 December 2023 to 21 June 2024. He served as
an executive director of Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings
Limited whose issued shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange under stock code: 858 from 27 January
2017 to 26 January 2020.

Mr. LU personally held 225,000 share options in the
Company as at 31 December 2024.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. WU Kouyue, aged 54, has been appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company since 13 December 2024.

Mr. WU graduated from Anhui University of Technology with
a diploma in Industrial Management Engineering in 1988
and received a diploma in Business Administration from the
School of Continuing Education of Sun Yatsen University in
2003.
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Mr. Wu has nearly 30 years of experience in production
operations and supply chain management. Since May 2014,
Mr. Wu has joined the Group and has successively been
appointed as the supply chain director the quality director
and the president of sales for China Region of the Group. Mr.
WU has been serving as the Group’s chief operating officer
since 1 January 2023 and responsible for coordinating and
managing the daily operations of the Group in the People’s
Republic of China and overseas.

Mr. Wu personally hold 400,000 shares and 800,000 share
options of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Ng Kim Leong, aged 56, has been appointed as chief
financial officer since 28 May 2024.

Mr. Ng has obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting with a
minor in finance from Curtin University of Technology in 1993
and completed an executive mergers & acquisition leadership
course from Wharton University in 2012. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Ng was a director of mergers & acquisition
integration in Omya China from May 2019 to February 2024,
and he had served in roles of general manager, area business
analyst and chief financial officer of different regions and
product lines of Schlumberger Limited from August 1998 to
March 2019. Mr. Ng is an accomplished senior executive
with 30 years of experienced in the areas of finance and
management for oil & gas, and mining industries. He was
also the treasurer of the Shaanxi Chapter of the Singapore
Chamber of Commerce from 2014 to 2019. He has been a
certified member of Certified Practising Accountant Australia
since 1999.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LIN Jianan, aged 37, has been appointed as company
secretary since 28 May 2024.

Ms. Lin joined the Company as the head of office of the
board of directors of the Company in September 2023. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Tianjin
Polytechnic University in 2010 and a master’s degree in
business administration with a major in corporate governance
and directorship from Hong Kong Baptist University in
2014. She has around 10 years of experience in corporate
governance matters and has held various related positions
in public companies listed in Hong Kong. Prior to joining
the Group, she previously held the positions of Information
Disclosure Manager and Secretary of the President’s Office
at two companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Lin is a member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries), a chartered secretary, a
chartered governance professional and an environmental,
social and governance reporting certification holder.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries as at
31 December 2024 are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segments is set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations
of the Group may affect the Group’s financial conditions
or growth prospects. The Group has been focusing on
the control of risks and uncertainties with the aim of
understanding and addressing the concerns of stakeholders.
Key risk factors and uncertainties affecting the Group are
outlined below:

1) Our revenue is substantially derived from batteries using
lead-acid technology. If the lead-acid battery market
does not grow at the rate we expect or at all, or if lead-
acid technology is replaced by another technology,
our business, profitability and future prospects may be
materially and adversely affected;
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The recent array of tariffs against numerous countries
by the US government, any global economic downturn,
or changes in the economic, political and social
conditions in the PRC may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects;

If we are unable to successfully develop new
technology or new products, our business, results of
operations and prospects may be adversely affected;

We derive a significant portion of our income
from our major customers, particularly UPS and
telecommunications customers, and we have no long-
term sales contracts with our customers. Our results
of operations could be adversely affected if these
customers reduce their orders or cease to order from
us;

We face intense competition in our major markets and
continuing pressure to reduce our production costs to
remain price competitive;

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials, such as
lead, could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations; in addition, we rely on our major suppliers
for our primary raw materials. Our operations could be
affected if our major suppliers are not able to supply
raw materials as scheduled. More information on
our major suppliers is set out on page 66 under the
heading “Major Suppliers and Customers” of the Report
of Directors.
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These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and
there may be other risks in addition to those shown above
which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could become material in the future.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on page 106 and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 107 to 108.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK7 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK7 cents per share) to be payable to the
shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company as at 30 May 2025.
Subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, the
said final dividend will be paid to the Company’s shareholders
on or about 11 July 2025.

References are made to the interim results announcement of
the Company dated 23 August 2024 and the interim report
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024. The
Board has paid an interim dividend of HK4 cents per share
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 in November 2024
(six months ended 30 June 2023: HK4 cents per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
and an analysis of the performance of the Group during the
year using key financial performance indicators are set out
in the headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 13 to 39 of the annual report.
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Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group are set out below:

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
AND PERFORMANCE
(ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION)

The Group is committed to safety and environmental
protection and has implemented stringent environment
protection policies to uphold high standards of operating
practices.

Pursuant to the applicable environmental laws and
regulations in PRC, the Group installed environmental
protection equipment in all of our production facilities for
the removal of lead dust and particles generated during
our production process in order to minimize the amount
of pollutants in the air. The equipment includes ventilation
systems, dust absorbing and removing systems, acidic mist
and lead fumes purifying machines and fresh air pipelines.

The Group installed waste water treatment facilities at our
production facilities. The water treatment facility neutralizes
the waste water and removes its lead content in accordance
with the applicable environmental standards in PRC. At our
Zhaoqging and Anhui production facilities, the purified water
is collected and reused in our production process, thus
achieving “zero discharge”.

Our PRC factories management control and monitor the
waste level regularly and consistently. Monitoring systems
that provide ontime reading is connected to local government
authorities in charge of environment protection for real-time
monitoring purpose.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

Compliance procedure are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those which may have significant impact on the Group.
The Group holds high standards of operating practices
and complies with the relevant standards. The Group has
stringent requirements to maintain high levels of quality
control and responsible business practices. Any changes in
the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units
on a timely basis to ensure that adjustments are made in our
procedures and operations to reflect such changes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and
Customers

The Group believes that employees are important assets
and provides competitive remuneration packages to attract
and retain employees. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration to its employees to ensure that
they remain comparable with prevailing market standards.
Furthermore, the Group provides employee training programs
to polish their skills and knowledge and a number of staff
activities to enhance employees’ sense of belonging and to
help create a friendly and harmonious working environment.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil
its long-term goals and development. To maintain its brand
competitiveness and dominant status, the Group aims at
delivering consistently high standards of quality in the service
to its customers. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers and/or customers.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 112 to 113 and in
note 44 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company
available for distribution to shareholders amounted to
approximately RMB620.3 million (2023: approximately
RMB799.1 million).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results of the Group and of the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 307 to 308 of this
annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
(including the sale of treasury shares) for the year ended 31
December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, there were no
treasury shares held by the Company.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the
year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. DONG Li (Chairman)
Ms. HONG Yu

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan
Mr. LAU Chi Kit
Mr. LU Zhigiang

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. CAO
Yixiong Alan and Mr. LU Zhigiang will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election, at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Subject to the applicable laws, every director and other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified by
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur in the execution and discharge of his or her duties
or in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and remained
in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has also taken out and maintained directors’
liability insurance throughout the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior
management members of the Group are set out on pages 40
to 46 in the annual report of the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management members of the Group was based on
qualifications, years of experiences and the performance of
individual employees and are reviewed regularly.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and five highest

paid employees are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements
about the Company’s share option schemes, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS INTEREST IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT
OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or entity connected with the Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year, nor had
there been any contract of significance entered into between
the Group and a controlling shareholder of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO; or (b) were required under Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept by
the Company referred to in that section; or (c) were required

Elalicavi

RIZBZNMFE+"A=+—H ' xRFAEEKE
BITRABRKAT RN - BRERG RE#S

A @IRIEE 5 R E 1R G SBXVEL 557 K88 1 7R
MERRBRGZPAER KA ; F(IREE
75 S B GRS 3521 R RC B 2 AR PR LA A B
RAEFEZECMOEZARE ; HORELTR
AIFr# > EHET ABEFETESRZRIRETR]
(MRETFR)) > FEFENMERRE REHIHE

to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange #HHRKXBEIIT :
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in the
Listing Rules were as follows:
Number and Number and
class of securities class of securities
subject to options subject to options
granted under the granted under the Approximate
Name of Director/ Number and 2010 Share New Share Option percentage of
Chief Executives Position Nature of Interest class of securities” Option Scheme Scheme Total  shareholding”
R
—B-8F RIRE
FRR g R AR E
RitiniERE Fitie
FIRA FRRERR IR
BE/TEORAEHSE BB it EHUERER EHUERER HHYERER Rt HARRELY
Dr. DONG Li Director Interest of controlled corporation 1,015,021,0000 (1) - - 1,015,021,000 73.42%
i ch g2 REEENER
Ms. HONG Yu Director Beneficial Owner 934,000° (1) - 1,000,000 @ (L) 1,934,000 0.14%
magt = BHERAA
Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan Director Beneficial Owner 800,000 (L) 300,000 (L) 1,100,000 0.08%
ETERE g2 BRBAA
Mr. LAU Chi Kit Director Beneficial Owner 800,000 (1) 300,0007 (L) 1,100,000 0.08%
2BaEs Ex BHERAA
Mr. LU Zhigiang Director Beneficial Owner - 225,000® (L) 225,000 0.02%
ESREE B3 BRBAA
Mr. Wu Kouyue CEO Beneficial Owner 400,000° (1) - 800,000 (1) 1,200,000 0.09%
SMA%L BRHTE BilEAA

*

The letter “L” denotes long position of the shareholder in the
Shares.
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(10)

(1)
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Dr. DONG Li is deemed to be interested in 1,015,021,000
shares held by Master Alliance Investment Limited, a company
wholly owned by Dr. DONG Li.

Ms. HONG Yu’s number of shares held is 934,000 shares.

Ms. HONG Yu has 1,000,000 share options under the New
Share Option Scheme. Please see paragraph headed “Share
Option” below for further details of the New Share Option
Scheme.

Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan has been granted options for 800,000
shares under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. Please see
paragraph headed “Share Option” below for further details of the
2010 Share Option Scheme.

Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan has been granted options for 300,000
shares under the New Share Option Scheme. Please see
paragraph headed “Share Option” below for further details of the
New Share Option Scheme.

Mr. LAU Chi Kit has been granted options for 800,000 shares
under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. Please see paragraph
headed “Share Option” below for further details of the 2010
Share Option Scheme.

Mr. LAU Chi Kit has been granted options for 300,000 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme. Please see paragraph
headed “Share Option” below for further details of the New
Share Option Scheme.

Mr. LU Zhigiang has been granted options for 225,000 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme. Please see paragraph
headed “Share Option” below for further details of the New
Share Option Scheme.

Mr. WU Kouyue number of shares held is 400,000 shares.

Mr. WU Kouyue has 800,000 share options under the New
Share Option Scheme. Please see paragraph headed “Share
Option” below for further details of the New Share Option
Scheme.

This is based on 1,382,418,166 Shares, being the number of
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the directors or chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, nor had there been any grant or exercise of
rights of such interests during the year ended 31 December
2024,

SHARE OPTION
Share Option Schemes

(i) Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 14 October 2010,
the Company approved and adopted another share
option scheme (the “2010 Share Option Scheme”)
(@as amended at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 18 May 2018) for the purpose of
providing incentive or reward to selected participants
for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of, the Company and for such
other purposes as the Board may approve from
time to time. The number of shares which may be
issued pursuant to the outstanding share options (i.e.
options which have been granted but not yet lapsed
or exercised) under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2024 was 15,237,000 shares
(representing approximately 1.10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at that date). As the 2010
Share Option Scheme has expired, no further options
can be granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
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iy  On 30 October 2020, the Company approved and
adopted another share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution to or potential contribution to the Group
and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and for such other purposes
as the Board may approve from time to time. The
number of shares which may be issued pursuant to
the outstanding share options (i.e. options which have
been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised) under
the New Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2024 was 33,232,500 (representing approximately
2.40% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at that date). The number of options available for grant
under the scheme mandate of the New Share Option
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the Period
were 77,814,466 Shares and 77,814,466 Shares
respectively.

During the Period, no options were granted under all
schemes of the Company.

The total number of Shares available for issue under each of
the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme (including options granted but not yet exercised
and options available for issue) is 15,237,000 Shares and
111,046,966 Shares respectively, representing approximately
1.10% and 8.03% respectively of the total number of issued
Shares as at the date of this report.

Details of the Share Option Schemes are disclosed in note
32 to the financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ FERERAA T KD~ 1EE
INTERESTS AND SHORT BRIn R BRI E R Rk B
POSITIONS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

z

As at 31 December 2024, the following person (other than R _-Z_PUE+_B=+—H> T AL (F8FE
the directors and chief executives of the Company) had ZAATIEZERETETHAE) RAASINEM - 18EE
interests and short positions of 5% or more in the Shares, BR3P BB HEES%EU FiREHE S RIS E
underlying shares and debentures of the Company which {5 E5XVER 5528350 SRFT i B8 K JBL i A A B R
were discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the  1E:5 5 MHIE KA FE336EFENE L MVER
SFO and recorded in the register required to be kept under  K&KA !

Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

Number of shares/ percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest underlying shares held* shareholding®
RRRBTE REME FREsRZ1R AERARR D BB * BAFRES e
Master Alliance Investment Limited Beneficial Owner 1,015,021,000 (L) 73.42%
BamEA A
Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Beneficial Owner 95,873,804 (L) 6.94%
Master Fund Limited BEREBA
RAYS Capital Partners Limited Investment Manager 110,410,752 (L) 7.99%
EREXRERAT RERE
RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled 110,410,752 () 7.99%
corporation
R AEN#ED

* The Letter “L” denotes long position of the shareholder in the — * TR ERBERAATBHADBEA
shares of the Company.
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Notes:

M Master Alliance Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by
Dr. DONG Li, beneficially owned 1,075,021,000 Shares.

(2)  This is based on 1,382,418,166 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had, or
was deemed to have, interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 38 to
the financial statements, paragraph (a) of which constituted
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the above-mentioned transactions. The connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions entered
into by the Group in 2024, which were required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules, are set out as follows:

BtsE -

(1) Master Alliance Investment Limited (—]FHEZ=18
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Connected transaction subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements

On 12 December 2024, ZEERFEIHMEENSERA
B (Zhaoging Keli Machinery Equipment Manufacturing
Co., Limited) (“Zhaoqing Keli") as purchaser and EEI5
AR EHFIFL AT (Guangdong Marshell Electric Vehicle
Co., Ltd.) (“Guangdong Marshell”) as vendor entered into
the purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”)
for the sale and purchase of certain production facilities
(including facility, machinery and equipment etc.) at the
total cash consideration of about RMB50.8 million (inclusive
of 13% value added tax), payable as to RMB15.2 million
within 30 days from the date of the Purchase Agreement,
as to RMB30.4 million within 30 days after receipt of
the production facilities and passing of the acceptance
inspection by Zhaoqging Keli; and as to the remaining 10%
consideration within 30 days upon the expiry of the warranty
period. As Guangdong Marshell is ultimately owned as to
98.55% by Dr. DONG Li, a director and as such a connected
person of the Company, and his brother, Guangdong
Marshell is a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules. For further details regarding the
Purchase Agreement, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 12 December 2024.

62 Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

AEBTHERASTRENRER S

N TEZNFE+ZA+ZH RN AW E
RIEERARE (TEBHEAL) (FABR) HERD
AmEEtian (ERIFBEB) (EREH) T
UEERE (BERER) EEaTEERN (B1F
SEHE ~ MR R ) > BB A ARIES08EE T
(BIIE13%ILER) » HPR ARK1528E AR
FEE =N HEEI30H ST ; ARM3045ETT
AR LRI A E SR B B BRI B B 1830
BRI ; MR 0% EERREREMEI0H
AN HRERBABRELAHZESREL (KAAQF]
BEKRFEAL) REM T #EB855%Em  FER
WABARAEINMEAT (EERRE EMRL) o
BEREEGENE— DB FRRAEAARBH
R _ETMFE+"BA+"HMAE.



Report of the Directors EE F iR

Continuing connected transaction subject to
the reporting, announcement, annual review
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements

()

Sales of Products to Connected Persons

The Company and Dr. DONG Li, a director and as
such a connected person of the Company, entered
into the master agreement dated 22 November 2021
(the “2021 Master Sales Agreement’), which sets
out the terms and conditions upon which members of
the Group will sell to Dr. DONG Li's associates, and
Dr. DONG Li's associates will purchase from members
of the Group, products including connecting cables
and molds etc. and other miscellaneous items. The
products to be sold under the 2021 Master Sales
Agreement shall be at the prevailing market price,
namely, the prices at which the same type of products
is sold by the Group to independent third parties on
normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of
business, or on terms which are no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to independent third
parties who are willing to order similar quantity under
similar conditions. The 2021 Master Sales Agreement is
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January
2022, and ended on 31 December 2024. The annual
caps for the transactions under the 2021 Master
Sales Agreement for each of the three years ended 31
December 2024 have been set at RMB280.0 million,
RMB364.0 million and RMB473.2 million respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate
amount of sales by the Group under the 2021 Master
Sales Agreement was approximately RMB91.2 million.

For further details regarding the 2021 Master Sales
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 November 2021.
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()

64

Purchase of Products from Connected Persons

The Company and Dr. DONG Li, a director and as
such a connected person of the Company, entered into
the master agreement dated 22 November 2021 (the
“2021 Master Purchase Agreement”), which sets
out the terms and conditions upon which members of
the Group will purchase from Dr. DONG Li's associates,
and Dr. DONG Li's associates will sell to members
of the Group, products including (a) battery related
components including chargers, connecting cables,
BMS, battery racks; and (b) electric vehicles and related
parts. The products to be purchased under the 2021
Master Purchase Agreement shall be at the prevailing
market price, namely, the prices at which the same
type of products is purchased by the Group from
independent third parties on normal commercial terms
in the ordinary course of business, or on terms which
are no less favourable to the Group than the terms
available from independent third parties for purchasing
similar quantity under similar conditions. The 2021
Master Purchase Agreement is for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2022 and ending on 31
December 2024. The annual caps for the transactions
under the 2021 Master Purchase Agreement for each
of the three years ended 31 December 2024 have
been set at RMB80.0 million, RMB104.0 milion and
RMB135.2 million respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2024 the aggregate amount of purchases by
the Group under the 2021 Master Purchase Agreement
was approximately RMB134.2 million.

For further details regarding the 2021 Master Purchase

Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 November 2021.
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In view of the expiry of the 2021 Master Sales
Agreement and the 2021 Master Purchase Agreement
on 31 December 2024, the Company and Dr. DONG
Li entered into a new master sales agreement and a
new master purchase agreement respectively in relation
to the same subject transactions with revised annual
caps for a further term of 3 years up to 31 December
2027. For further details regarding the new master
agreements, please refer to the announcement and the
circular of the Company dated 2 December 2024 and 6
December 2024 respectively.

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions under
the 2021 Master Sales Agreement and the 2021
Master Purchase Agreement above and confirmed that
the transactions have been entered into:

(1)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(8) according to the relevant agreements governing
such transactions respectively on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions under
the 2021 Master Sales Agreement and the 2021
Master Purchase Agreement in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the
aforementioned continuing connected transactions.

ERN ST FIHERBERZZTT—F
THEEHEN _ZEHF+Z8=1+—H
I AR EEFE L HAERER DRI
IMFEHEBBERNEEE HE ERLE
FIFELR BEHP=F -BEEZZ"t
F+ZA=1+HAIL - AREMEGRNE—
T B2RABEERSNAZZSZAE
+ZAZBRIEZNF+ZA/NHAE
B8R

B TESEEBR EMBRE S " —F
THERER _E - —FFBEEREETH
SERRER S WIERZERS .

(1) DBREAEE—RAEEEHBBRET]

3 ;
@ RIEFEHEHFHIBERREIIL; &

@ BRERSNEMBEDRTIL K
VBATEE BFAAAFRENE
BB o

RNBIZH B EER IS B S g A
MBI (& B ZE TIEZER) 5530005k [E 1%
%Fﬁ-ﬁrEﬁﬁ?:ﬁﬂu%E’J@f TEIRZ2R
EFERAAE7405% RIS B L RAIFT s
BRI S IAZBEN R SLAEERIE

_—fﬁEEfJﬁ%T nuﬁ&_g_—fﬁi/ﬁﬁ,@\%
FETNBERERZEHRS - Z#EME
R _EmiRAI S 4A.561\?§’§§ HEFREERK
> BhEBEREME AEBNENFE
RAER IR K fdsm o

ST
14AE B B Dl ERasE

ANE)— EL:H:FE%EH'J E
RZBIMEEIRTE

“EBECMEFR - BXEERTERAR 65



Report of the Directors EE Z iR

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to the term of a loan facility agreement (the
“Facility Agreement”) dated 24 April 2023 (as amended
and restated on 12 March 2025) and entered into, among
other parties, the Company as borrower, several of its
subsidiaries as guarantors, China Citic Bank International
Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited and The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited as mandated lead
arrangers and bookrunners, and various financial institutions
as lenders, a term loan facility of US$70,375,000 and
HK$231,075,000 (together the “Loans”) were made available
to the Group for (i) refinancing the facility agreement entered
into by the Company on 7 May 2020 and (i) financing the
corporate purpose of the core business of the Group.

The Loans are repayable in five instalments as to 15%,
17.5%, 20%, 22.5% and 25% on the dates faling 12, 18,
24, 30 and 36 months respectively after the utilisation date of
the Loans.

If, among other matters: () Dr. DONG Li (‘“Dr. DONG”) does
not or ceases to own, directly or indirectly, at least 51%
of the beneficial interest in the Company carrying at least
51% of the voting right, free from any security; (i) Dr. DONG
does not or ceases to have management control over the
Company; and (i) Dr. DONG is not or ceases to be the
chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, it will be
an event of default under the Facility Agreement, in which
event all or any part of the commitments under the Loans
may be cancelled and all amounts outstanding under the
Loans may immediately become due and payable.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

On 21 October 2010, each of the Controlling Shareholders
of the company namely Dr. DONG Li (also being the
executive Director) and Master Alliance Investment Limited
(the “Controlling Shareholders”), entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with
the Company pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders has individually, jointly, unconditionally and
irrevocably undertaken and represented to the Company and
each member of the Group that, among other things, he/
it procures that his/its associates will not engage, directly or
indirectly, in businesses which will or may compete with the
business carried on or to be carried on by the Group.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided an annual
declaration on his/its compliance with the undertakings
contained in the Deed of Non-Competition undertaken by
them.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
were satisfied that each of the Controlling Shareholders has
complied with the Deed of Non-Competition for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31
December 2024, none of the Directors is considered to have
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is
stipulated by the Directors on the basis of the employees’
relevant experience, responsibility and qualifications. The
salaries and benefits of employees of the Group are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis within the general framework of
the Group’s salary and bonus system which is reviewed
annually. A wide range of benefits, including statutory
compulsory welfare plans, are also provided to the
employees.
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The emolument policy for the Directors of the Group Is
determined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2024.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:

13.6%
35.3%

— the largest supplier
— five largest suppliers in aggregate

The percentages of sales attributable to the Group’s major
customers for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:

7.4%
16.0%

— the largest customer
— five largest customers in aggregate

None of the directors, their respective close associates
(within the meaning of the Listing Rules) or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in

these major suppliers and customers.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed:

0)

(i)

from Tuesday, 13 May 2025, to Thursday, 16 May
2025, (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attending and vote at the AGM, Shareholders should
ensure that all transfer documents, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, are lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 May 2025; and

from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Wednesday, 4 June
2025 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of
determining Shareholders’ entitlement to receive the
final dividend, during which period no transfer of Shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for receiving the
final dividend, Shareholders should ensure that all
transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, are lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited. at 17/
F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 30 May 2025.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 12 February 2025, the Board hereby announces that the
Company has submitted a proposal to the Stock Exchange
in relation to the proposed spin-off and separate listing of
Leoch Energy Inc (an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and the spin-off entity in the proposed
spin-off (“SpinCo”) on either the New York Stock Exchange
or National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations (NASDAQ), pursuant to PN15 of the Listing
Rules, and has obtained approval from the Stock Exchange
that the Company may proceed with the proposed spin-
off. The proposed spin-off will be conducted through a
distribution in specie of all of the shares held by the Company
in the SpinCo to the Company Shareholders in the form of
the proposed demerger of the SpinCo from the Company
through a distribution in specie of all of the Company’s shares
in the SpinCo to all the Company Shareholders on a pro-
rata basis. Following completion of the proposed spin-off and
the proposed distribution, the SpinCo will be demerged from
the Company, resulting in a parallel listing structure of the
Company and the SpinCo, and the Company Shareholders
will be entitled to shares in the SpinCo.

For further details regarding the proposed spin-off ad
separate listing of the SpinCo of the Company in the U.S.,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12
February 2025.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report, same as disclosed above, the Board is
not aware of any significant events that have occurred which
require disclosed herein.
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EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

There was no equity fund raising by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024, nor were there any proceeds
brought forward from any issue of equity securities made in
previous financial years.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
there was sufficient public float of more than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young
who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

There was no change in the auditors of the Company in any
of the proceeding three years.

On behalf of the Board

DONG Li
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
s S
TEELAHRS

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Group is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

CORPORATE PURPOSE,
STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company and considers that the Company’s corporate
culture is aligned. The Group is committed to investing in
the power solution industry, creating value for consumers,
and to delivering attractive and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing operating
environment, the Group places strong emphasis on
workplace safety, employee relations and the efficient use
of materials, energy and resources, promoting a culture of
ethical conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is
important to good corporate governance which is crucial for
achieving sustainable long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of
corporate development’s impact on the environment and
society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy
and reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance of
the Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular
review of the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered,
among others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification
and experience, training programmes and budget of those
relating to Group’s ESG performance and reporting; (i) the
changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and
extent of significant ESG risks (if any); and (i) the scope
and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of ESG
risks. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS

The Company has adopted and complied with the relevant
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) based on the principles set out in Part 2
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The details of the compliance of the CG code set out in
the mandatory disclosure requirements, complied by the
Company, are shown below.

MANDATORY DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board will continue to review its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure that the regulatory
requirements and principles, such as “comply or explain”
regarding the code provisions of the CG Code and
mandatory disclosure requirements set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, are met and the corporate
governance practices of the Company is in line with
expectations of shareholders and investors.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code
contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 save
and except deviation from code provisions C.1.6 (which
stipulates that independent non-executive directors and
other non-executive directors should attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders) and F.2.2 (which stipulates that the chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general meeting).
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16
May 2024 (the “2023 AGM”), Dr. DONG Li, the chairman of
the Board, and Mr. CAQO Yixiong Alan, an independent non-
executive Director, were unable to attend due to their other
business engagements. The management together with
the chairmen and/or members of the Board’s committees
attended the 2023 AGM to answer relevant questions raised
by and understand the views of the shareholders of the
Company instead.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Company (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the
code for dealing in securities of the Company by its directors
(the “Directors”).

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors have confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code and its
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

Board of Directors
Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors

Executive Directors comprised Dr. DONG Li (chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”)) and Ms. HONG Yu.

Independent non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors comprised Mr. CAO
Yixiong Alan, Mr. LAU Chi Kit and Mr. LU Zhigiang.

The name of each Director, as at the date of this report is
set out under the section headed “Corporate Information”
in this annual report and is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between the Directors.
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Number of Board, Committee and General Meetings Held RITEFC D TEETEHERREAXETHIN
E

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the ZEEEEHARTEH UGS R ERFEREE
financial and operating performance, and considering and IR LU ERI R EARA T EERE SRR R EER - U
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company. BEAEZHNEEFIE B mAER BIGRIT
Additional meetings are held when significant events or EBINEHE -REE_ZT_NOFE+-/B=+—HIt
important issues are required to be discussed and resolved. HABEE  RITTTNEST T LE SNBREES
During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, 7 B 2RIEREECZH 2ANFNEETEER
Board meetings, 3 Audit Committee meetings, 2 Nomination 2R AE o

Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings

and 2 general meeting were held.

EI)

Attendance at the Board Meetings, Board Committee EFEES ZEEEERKRFAEHHEE

Meetings and General Meeting g

The attendance of each Director, by name, at the Board JEFHFEETTZ EFTLETIZAR
meetings, Board committee meetings and general meeting R AZRIIEN (gtR) HIWT :
are set out below:

Attendance/ Attendance/ Attendance/
Attendance/ Number of Number of Number of  Attendance/

Number of Audit  Nomination Remuneration Number
Board Committee Committee Committee of General
Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings"

HERE/ HEXE/ HEXES HERES HERES
EXE® BKEZET RRZEET HFMZEEE RERAE

EEN4 2EYUE EYE 2EYE 2EYE LE
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. DONG Li Bt 7 - 2/2 2/2 0/2
Ms. HONG Yu it 77 - - - 1/2
Independent Non-executive ~ BIIFHITES

Directors
Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan BIERE 717 3/3 - 2/2 1/2
Mr. LAU Chi Kit fEpns 77 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. LU Zhigjiang ESRiE 717 3/3 2/2 - 2/2
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Note:

(1) Being the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 May 2024 and the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 30 December 2024.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for leadership
and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance. The Board
has delegated to the senior management the authority and
responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation
of the Group. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various authority and duties set out in their respective
terms of reference. All Directors have carried out their
duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
senior management of the Company. These responsibilities
include implementing decisions of the Board, directing
and coordinating day-to-day operation and management
of the Company in accordance with the management
strategies and plans approved by the Board, formulating and
monitoring the operating and production plans and budgets,
and supervising and monitoring the control system.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
different business experience, knowledge and professional
background. The Company has at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of its Board members with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation
regarding the independence from each independent non-
executive Director pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company still considers the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Independent non-executive Directors have been invited to
serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”). Through participation in Board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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Directors’ Continuous Training and
Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director will receive a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure that he/she has a
proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
business and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and other legal and
regulatory requirements.

The Company will from time to time provide briefings
to all Directors to develop and refresh their duties and
responsibilities. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses provided by legal advisers and/or
any appropriate institutions and they have been requested to
provide the Company with their training records.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest
changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory requirements
in relation to the Company’s businesses, and to refresh their
knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties as a
director of a listed company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors
provided their records of training to the Company. All
Directors, namely Dr. DONG Li, Ms HONG Yu, Mr. CAO
Yixiong Alan, Mr. LAU Chi Kit and Mr. LU Zhigiang
participated in this continuous professional development
mainly by reading various material regarding corporate
governance guide for board and directors.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Dr. DONG Li, the Chairman of the Board, is the founder of
the Group and has extensive experience in the lead-acid
battery industry. With effect from 31 December 2024, Mr. Wu
Kouyue has been appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company.

The roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company are separate and performed by different
individuals.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CAQ Yixiong Alan and Mr. LAU Chi Kit are engaged for a
term of three years commencing from their respective dates
of appointment and is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Mr. LU Zhigiang is engaged for a term of two years
commencing from the dates of appointment and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which are
available to shareholders on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. All Board committees report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Remuneration Committee

The principal role and function of the Remuneration
Committee are to (a) make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure of the remuneration
of the Directors and the senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; (b) assess the performance
of the executive Directors and approving their terms of their
service contracts; (c) review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board'’s
corporate goals and objectives; (d) make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive director and senior management of the
Company which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
(e) make recommendations to the Board of on the
remuneration of non-executive directors of the Company;
() review and approve the remuneration payable to the
executive directors and senior management of the Company
for any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with relevant contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive; (g) review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and (h) ensure that no director of the Company
or any of his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
involved in deciding his own remuneration; and (i) review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three members, namely, Dr. DONG Li (the
executive Director), Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan and Mr. LAU Chi
Kit, the latter two being independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. LAU Chi Kit is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee held two meetings to discuss,
review, analyse and consider any change of the remuneration
policy of the Company and performed all functions as
disclosed above. The records of attendance of committee
members, by name, at the meetings held are set out below:

Attendance/

Name of Director Number of Meetings

Mr. LAU Chi Kit 2/2
Dr. DONG Li 2/2
Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan 2/2

The Remuneration Committee adopted the model of
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

Nomination Committee

The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee
are to (a) review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board; (b) identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (c) assess the independence
of the independent non-executive directors; and (d) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
comprised three members, namely, Dr. DONG Li (executive
Director), Mr. LAU Chi Kit and Mr. LU Zhigiang, the latter two
being independent non-executive Directors. Dr. DONG Li is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings and performed all functions as
disclosed above. The attendance records of each member at
the meetings are set out below:

Attendance/

Name of Director Number of Meetings

Dr. DONG Li 2/2
Mr. LAU Chi Kit 2/2
Mr. LU Zhigiang 2/2

All Board members’ appointments will continue to be made
on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity
of the Board members. According to the Board Diversity
Policy adopted by the Nomination Committee in 2013,
selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will
be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board consists of both male and female members.
The Nomination Committee and the Board recognises the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board
level, and shall strive to take initiatives to identify more female
candidate(s) to further enhance gender diversity at the Board
level. The Board Diversity Policy will be updated to ensure
the potential successors to the Board can achieve gender
diversity.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of
13,017 full time employees in the PRC who included senior
management, management staff, technicians, salespersons
and workers. The gender ratio in the workforce was 64%
male and 36% female.

The Company will continue to take gender diversity into
consideration during recruitment and increase the female
proportion at all levels over time with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender diversity, such that there is a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the
Board in the future.

Audit Committee

The principal role and function of the Audit Committee are
amongst others to (a) review the financial statements and
reports and consider any significant or unusual items raised
by the staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function or external auditor before submission to
the Board; (b) review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditor; and (c) review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system and
associated procedures. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised
three members, namely, Mr. CAO Yixiong Alan, Mr. LAU Chi
Kit and Mr. LU Zhigiang all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. CAQ Yixiong Alan is the chairman of
the Audit Committee and he possesses relevant accounting
and financial management expertise.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024 together with the Company’s
external auditor and the senior management and performed
the following major tasks:

- Reviewed the scope of 2023 annual audit and 2024
interim review work, auditor’s fees and terms of
engagement; and

- Review and discuss the 2023 annual and 2024 interim
financial statements, results announcement and report,
the related accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the relevant audit findings.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the
Board regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

The attendance records of each member at the meeting are
set out below:

Attendance/

Name of Director Number of Meetings

Mr. CAQ Yixiong Alan 3/3
Mr. LAU Chi Kit 3/3
Mr. LU Zhigiang 3/3

In addition, the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and has discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company on the accounting policies
and practices adopted by the Group and the internal controls
and financial reporting matters of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following
corporate governance duties as required under the CG
Code:

° to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board performed the following corporate
governance matters:

° review of the corporate governance duties under the
CG Code; and

o review of the compliance with the CG Code.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE
INDEPENDENT VIEWS FROM
DIRECTORS

During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board. Taking into account the following channels, the
Nomination Committee considered that the Company had in
place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board. To ensure independent
views and input from any Director, the following mechanism is
established by the Board:

86

Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall
provide a written annual confirmation of independence
to the Company on their compliance with the
independence requirements as set out under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
shall assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors upon appointment and annually
to ensure they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

Composition of Board

Currently, 40% of the Board members are executive
Directors while 60% of the Board members are
independent non-executive Directors, which exceeds
the requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-
third of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Board Proceedings and Decision
Making

At least 14 days’ formal notice of regular Board
and Board committee meetings will be given to all
Directors, and all Directors are invited to include any
matters for discussion in the agenda. By at least three
business days in advance of every regular Board and
Board committee meeting, Directors are provided
with the meeting agenda and the relevant board
papers containing complete, adequate and timely
information to enable full deliberation on the issues to
be considered at the respective meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be
considered at the meetings and, where appropriate,
they are required to abstain from voting on any Board
resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all
regular meetings of the Board and Board committees
on which they serve. They should also attend general
meetings of the Company to acquire understanding of
the views of the shareholders.

Remuneration of Independent Non-
executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed
fee(s) for their role as members of the Board and Board
Committees and no equity-based or incentive based
compensation program is granted to independent non-
executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their
decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence.
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Access to Professional Advice and Up-
to-date Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack
and orientation program for all new recruits to the
Board. Such program would familiarise the newly
appointed Director with the nature of the business,
the corporation’s strategy, the internal control and
corporate governance practices and policies, and
directors’ duties and responsibilities. Subsequent
information packages are regularly provided to the
Directors to keep them abreast of their responsibilities
and infuse them with new knowledge relevant to the
Group’s current business and operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice
from the Company Secretary as well as from
independent professional advisers at the expense of the
Company.

Independent Views and Inputs
Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged
to express freely their independent views and inputs
in an open and candid manner. The Chairman also
encourages questions and challenges from Directors,
in particular independent non-executive Directors and
their comments and concerns are closely followed up
by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman schedules
a meeting annually with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to
discuss the affairs of the Group.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes
that record not only the decision reached but any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by
Directors. Draft versions of the minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and confirmation before
it is finalised for records. Minutes of all Board and
Board committee meetings are available for Directors’
inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms have been reviewed by the Board on an annual
basis and the Board believe these measures would allow
Directors to contribute effectively and independent views and
input are available to the Board and Board committees.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

Anti-corruption

The Group formulates the “Business Ethics Control
Procedure” which requires both employees and suppliers
to sign the agreement for integrity. In addition, the “Anti-
Corruption Procedure” is also formulated to cover lawful
business, avoidance of conflict of interests, and fair
competition, etc. The Group requests all employees to
abide by the business ethics, employees must not ask for or
receive any improper form or other improper benefits, which
include but not limited to rebates, commissions, improper
gifts or hospitality; avoidance of conflicts of interest at work.
All employees are required to avoid any activities which might
involve potential conflict of interests and they are required to
receive regular training on anti-corruption.

EEERARS

NEMERFER GRS CEPTEMBIR

RREFRUNEARENTRAER - 5
SHRERRARREEESER UHKE
REREERTERAEHERRES FIEE
FENREFELRETEENERHCHITAIH
BB

LAEFINERBERRRMEEEETEEES
R BEFERARSHRESEFIAMEMK
EXCRESERE N ESBURMAER

EFREREE ZRE

FAT DR EEE RS RS T A Y 2 ART
B EHIEE B R

=]

FEBFIE (BERBRRBIEIEF)VER A
BT -HEEDRRTRZR MR IS TFHIET
(REEBERER)  BEASEEGEEE B
RHTER DFHEFF $$IKXFEEEIF§
BIBEER BEIARRNHEWRZIEE
S EAMAIEEM m  BFEERRREN Tﬂ%%
TEREIAR R TIFTRFA &R -FIEE
THBEBRREMR S RBEN BRI
I BEREMNRE S

“ETMEFR - BXEERTERAR 89



Corporate Governance Report ¥ &8RS

Whistleblowing Policy

Employees are encouraged to report any non-conformity or
violation of the anti-bribery and corruption policy in writing to
management directly or to our dedicated response team. All
cases will be investigated in a timely and confidential manner
and the personnel who are involved in whistleblowing will be
protected.

The Group formulates the “Regulations for Management
of Whistle-blowing and Appeals” which stipulates in detail
the procedure of whistle-blowing, the methodology of
investigation and the way of appeal by the person under
investigation. Employees can complain or report in a
confidential manner to the Group’s senior management
through the General Manager’s letterbox, telephone, and
face-to-face communication, etc. The Group protects the
personal privacy and the related rights of the whistle-blower.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of the Company with a view to
ensuring that such financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and that relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements are met and applicable
accounting standards are complied with. The Board has
received from the senior management the management
accounts and such accompanying explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment for approving the financial statements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
effective internal control and risk management systems to
safeguard shareholder investments and the Group’s assets
on an ongoing basis and for reviewing the effectiveness
of such system on an annual basis. Internal audits were
carried out on all significant operation units of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The senior management reviews and
evaluates the control process, monitors any risk factors
on a regular basis and reports to the Audit Committee on
any findings and measures to address the variances and
identified risks.

During the year under review, the Board conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget. The Board is of
the opinion that the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The Board
is also reasonably satisfied that there are sufficient resources
of staff with appropriate qualifications and experience in its
accounting and financial reporting team and that sufficient
training and budget have been provided.

External Auditor and Auditor’'s Remuneration

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
report responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 97 to 105 of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditor, for annual audit services provided to the Group
and for non-audit services which comprise professional tax
services, amounted to RMB3.4 million and RMB0.5 million,
respectively.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to
the Shareholders of the Company by way of (i) cash or (ii)
shares. The profit distribution policy of the Company shall
achieve continuity, stability and sustainability.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from
time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
When considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
the Board will take into account the Group’s financial results,
business conditions and strategies and future operations and
earnings.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions
under the Laws of Hong Kong, the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the
Company

Shareholders’ Rights
Convening an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association,
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law or the Articles of Association. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting following the procedures set out
in the preceding paragraph.
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Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders are welcome to send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board addressing to the Company Secretary
of the Company through the following channels with contact
details as set out below:

i) by mail to the Company'’s place of business at Unit C,
33/F, TML Tower, No. 3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong; or

i) by email to ir@leoch.com.
Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
shareholders’ meetings.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ mestings will be
voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each shareholders’ meeting.

Changes to Constitutional Documents

There were no changes in the second amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
(the “New M&A”) during the year ended 31 December 2024,
and the Company’s New M&A are published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Relationship with the Controlling
Shareholders

The Company has received, from each of the Controlling
Shareholders, an annual declaration on his/its compliance
with the undertakings contained in the Deed of Non-
Competition entered into by each of them in favour of
the Company pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders has individually, jointly, unconditionally and
irrevocably undertaken and represented to the Company and
each member of the Group that, among other things, he/it
and his/its associates will not engage, directly or indirectly,
in businesses which will or may compete with the business
carried on or to be carried on by the Group. Details of the
Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in the Prospectus
under the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling
Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
have been satisfied that each of the Controlling Shareholders
had complied with the Deed of Non-Competition for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Board believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts
a shareholders’ communication policy which sets out
various communication channels for establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders. The policy is reviewed on an annual
basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company maintains a
website at www.leoch.com as a communication platform for
shareholders and investors, where information and updates
on the Group’s business developments and operations,
financial information and other information are available for
public access. Shareholders and investors may write directly
to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
for any inquiries.

The Board considers that general meetings of the Company
provide an important channel for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as
well as the chairmen and/or other members of the Board
committees have endeavored to be available to answer
questions raised by the shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communication
and relationship with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them informed of the Group’s
developments.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy through discussions amongst Board
members during board meetings. The Company has
reviewed communication activities and engagement with
Shareholders conducted in 2024 and was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy which allowed Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company.
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Company Secretary

The company secretary of the Company, Ms. LIN Jianan, is
one of the employees of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary must take no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in each financial year. Ms. LIN has
provided his training records to the Company indicating
that she has not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training by means of attending in-house briefings, attending
seminars and reading relevant guideline materials.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Leoch International Technology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Leoch International Technology Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to
306, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which also
include International Accounting Standards (‘lIASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MEEZER

FREZSEIR (&

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEZERMAREMBREZSER

Inventory provision

FEERE

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture,
development and sale of lead-acid batteries and other
related items. Since technology develops rapidly in the
lead-acid battery industry, the Group’s inventories were
subject to significant risk of obsolescence. Significant
judgements and estimates were involved in determining
the amount of provision of slow-moving and obsolete
inventories by management. As the inventory balance
amounting to RMB3,365 million was significant to the
Group, which represented 23% of the total assets of the
Group, and the provision of inventories was made based
on subjective estimates and assumptions concerning
future consumption or sales of inventories, we identified
this as a key audit matter.
EEEFENENS HENHEENREE M AEMAE
FEm HANMBESHZEMNERAE > BEEZ
FEARBEANBNREM NEBEETFIHKMER
SFfstiRB Bz TR I REARFIE (L5t HNEF
SiEENEARIES 0BT EEEMEHIEBEKX
1t BEEEBEEREBEZ23% BFEEFREBERMBE
HENGFEHEEREZ TR RRREL  RILEER
i pllPSTeal e P

N

Mz My

\

The disclosures about inventories are included in notes
2.4, 3, 6 and 20 to the financial statements.

BRTFE 2 IRBERH I HIRRMFE24365%20°

We obtained an understanding of management’s
process about how to identify the slow-moving and
obsolete inventories and to calculate the amount of
provision.

BEEC THREEERBU I FHAREFE KT
HRETREZREF-

We evaluated the sales orders in hand for the
purpose of identifying the slow-moving and obsolete
inventories by checking, on a sampling basis,
the sales orders and agreements, and assessing
the estimated sales taking into account previous
estimations, the historical evidence supporting
underlying assumptions and current market
conditions.

EEE ML FREHESTE ) ST EBMEZHHES]
BRIpHEEE RIERREFS  WAE R Aifast
SRR ZELE R RTINS E 5T HE
&Ho

We also checked on a sampling basis the ageing
reports of inventories and the production records and
sales of inventories made after the year end.
EETEHEE VRS RERBZ EECHRMIE
B2 7 SHH & E TR o

For the net realisable value of the slow-moving and
obsolete inventories identified, we checked samples
of recent sales invoices for the value.

MPTEE 2 i kREFEZSRFEMSs  &F
BT E R ERA 2 BE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REEZER

FREILSEIR (&

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEZERMAREMBEZER

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5B IE R E

The trade receivable balance was significant to the
Group, which amounted to RMB3,704 million and
represented approximately 26% of the total assets as at
31 December 2024. Assessment of the recoverability of
trade receivables involves a high level of management’s
judgement and estimation. During the year, management
used a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses for trade receivables. The matrix was initially
based on the Group’s historical default rates, and specific
factors that management considered in the estimation
of the rates including the type of customers, ageing of
the balances and recent historical payment patterns.
Management then calibrated the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information, such as forecasted economic conditions.
BIZRWRIRGARE SEEMSNEER HEHEAA
REES7TM4EE T (R B _NE+_"_A=+—HZ&
PEEABE4926% © ¥t B 5 PRI IE 2 BT UL [E] M R ST B
REREEEHE R - £ BEIEERAREERET
EEZRIIEZ TR A8 - ZIEREE BN &
ERNBRENEREEENMOISIZEENXRFE RN
BERAR TR EE  BRRE RIS T X MR
o Hig BIEERBEEETRE  BBARME SR G0FE
RASEIR ) SRR B EERIREER-

The relevant disclosures are contained in notes 2.4, 3, 6
and 21 to the financial statements.

BRIRBEHE N BRARMEE24-3 6/K21°
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We evaluated the design, implementation and

operating effectiveness of key internal controls which

govern credit control, debt collection and estimate of

expected credit losses (‘ECLS”).

EEEMLEIRE RN ER e RTRIREEEE
(FEERIE ER51R)) (h5t 2 RAE BRIV 5T B

FBERMME

We assessed, on a sampling basis, whether items
in the trade receivable ageing report were classified
with the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices.
EERBAREFALLBRRE P EEE EEREE
BT LB ZRNTIERERETHNEEESHA
BERIREARA °

We assessed the adequacy of the ECL provision by
() evaluating the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions used in establishing the ECL provision
matrix; (i) examining the information used by
management to form such estimation, including
testing the accuracy of historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates were
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information; and (jii)
examining the actual losses recorded during the
current financial year.
EEEBUTANMETRBREEREREZREN !
(FHMEEEENRITAREEBER A ERRRAR
w2z eEYE (T EEEERILSMEFIRBZE
K B AT EN IR~ BRI s h BT
BERERERBREFEE RN KA ERETEE
A K(ifE B A FEERS 2 BIREGE

We checked the relevant disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

EFERHHENG AV BRI ZARIKE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED
IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF

THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs which
comprise standards and Interpretations issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

HAFHRZHEMER

BERFESHHEHMBENAET HMWENSEHA
FERENERD RS BRERESHIZE
BMER S BRI o

EEHREYBREAFHNERIRREZEAME
#h BEST GRS REAT A BIRESR

MEFHEREMHBREZEZMS  EFHNEE
TRBEHEMEK WELLBERERBEMERE
RREEUBRRAESFEELEETEENE
FHFREERNT ST EFEE AR 45

ENESERTHIFE EEBR/HEMBERHIER
Ekﬁaaﬁlﬁ i BEERREZFE -SFLERLIL
TELIRE -

EEAGROGMBHRRZEE

BRREFEEREERMYBREER (BRI
S ERZEGREMIER K2R REBATIF
PINRERERREVNEBERAFERNGER
B WETESHEBLEZNRIERIE U6
MG AR BRI FERIGFRERERHE
AR EEERMERAL ©
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF

THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

MBI EMBRRZE
&

ERRBEEAEAENETESAHAT—HD &
FHEREESZBERSEX AT R EERIRER
BE-EETF !

o HRREHMEBRN G ERMERAR ST
BREFEERERRIBER K5t RTT
BEFUEHZF AR MURERGEE KR
BENBELER FAEERRZER A
FRERSERIBE S e Bf  RiE  ERIER  ER
BRAt » SE RS A EREER 2 £ > R R AE 3
REIFFME RN IRE AR R RS
PARAEH IR A FERME TR IR E AR R
AU ELRE °

o  THEZZBAMZABIES URFER
FERTBEE 2EZERF BENILIF
H BERRSERIZAMMEERER-

o  THMEEFEFIRASSHERZBERERFHE
SHEEt R ABRAIREE 2 S 1B M o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

MBS EMBRRZE
1t (&)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use o HESFRARFESSSHHERZBEHEL

104

of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is CHAU, Man Lok.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025

MBI EMBRRZE
&
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

& A= 2L
mEEEmR
Year ended 31 December 2024
HEZWF+"A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“TTME B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®TT AREF T
REVENUE &= 5 16,126,477 13,471,235
Cost of sales & A (13,859,632)  (11,527,528)
Gross profit EF] 2,266,845 1,943,707
Other income and gains HAWA K W a5 5 240,876 227,894
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHES (534,682) (464,279)
Administrative expenses THRFX (500,188) (446,084)
Research and development costs NI PN 6 (342,635) (371,868)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of TREE (RERSE)
impairment on financial assets, net BB R FEE 6 (58,782) 4,134
Other expenses HhpAx 7 (32,406) (20,982)
Fair value losses on financial BARBEEZFHT A
instruments measured at EmstEmNsRT AN
fair value through profit or loss, net N BEEEIEFERE 6 (44,709) (5,114)
Finance costs 7% Bl A 8 (299,990) (223,554)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Ran=F 6 694,329 643,854
Income tax expense FrigtiRZ 11 (130,827) (76,018)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF 563,502 567,836
Attributable to: MR AL
Owners of the parent NEEB A 566,393 535,372
Non-controlling interests JEIERG R (2,891) 32,464
563,502 567,836
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE B AT Z@ESIZEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FELERER
THE PARENT 13
Basic 8= 9N RMBO0.41 RMBO0.39
AR¥0417t AEREM0.397T
Diluted #E RMBO0.40 RMBO0.38
AR® 0407t AR¥E0.387T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEEmWBER

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ T ME+_BA=t—HILEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —=-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AREF T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF 563,502 567,836
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hfttz2mikas, ~ (§518)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that  FBEREARIE I NIER
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BEmNEMEE
subsequent periods: Wi, (B538) -
Debt investments at fair value through BAREBEEBEESF A
other comprehensive income: Hitt2mkma
BERE
Changes in fair value ?ﬁ’&fbﬁfﬁ AEf) 22 461 ©)
Income tax effect FREMEE 30 (115) 2
346 )
Exchange differences on translation of S IZINEFSAIE B =58
foreign operations (29,411) (20,597)
Net other comprehensive loss that may R EERHIRIEFHDEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BEmNEMEEEE
subsequent periods HRE (29,065) (20,604)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income &2 ERER
Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZWF+-A=+—HULEFE
2024 2023
—E-mE ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(N AR®TT AREF T
Other comprehensive loss that will not RBREPEAZEMDLE
be reclassified to profit or loss in ERGNEMEEER !
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at EERANEBEED
fair value through other FFAEMEEW RN
comprehensive income: EalKRE
Changes in fair value ?ﬁ@ﬁ:f‘ifﬁ 45 40 (10,806) (7)
Income tax effect FriSME® 30 2 4
(10,804) (13)
Exchange differences arising on HIEEBHRERZET
translation of functional currency to ”r‘h EENERELE
presentation currency (4,545) (4,987)
Net other comprehensive loss that will REBEEPBAEENDIE
not be reclassified to profit or loss EEmNEMEEER
in subsequent periods RE (15,349) (5,000)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS SEEHMEEER
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX NpRIRE (44,414) (25,604)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FFEERHEN @A
FOR THE YEAR 519,088 542,232
Attributable to: DUF AT FE(
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZZPN 521,005 509,720
Non-controlling interests JEERR = (1,917) 32,512
519,088 542,232
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBIRRE

31 December 2024

“ETME+"A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
+=B=+—8 +-A=+-H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AREBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB R E 14 3,073,482 2,963,936
Investment property KrEYE 15 363,475 324
Right-of-use assets FRESE 16(a) 498,650 472,511
Goodwil S 17 3,711 2,405
Other intangible assets HittmpEE 18 798,121 822,674
Equity investments designated IEERANBEEFH A
at fair value through other Hih2EmmER T
comprehensive income KE 19 1,393 11,967
Financial assets at fair value BAnEBEESF ABGR
through profit or loss NEmEE 24 306,461 303,219
Prepayment and deposit for FENRIBERZE - KE K&
property, plant and equipment REIEMREREREE
and right-of-use assets 63,383 78,534
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 30 91,241 68,968
Total non-current assets ERENE ELEE 5,199,917 4,724,538
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Inventories £ 20 3,365,229 2,748,720
Trade receivables =R E 21 3,704,278 3,247,241
Debt investments at fair value BAREEERE AHM
through other comprehensive income SHEHBENERRE 22 161,166 189,258
Prepayments, other receivables FETRIE ~ HEWERIE
and other assets REMEE 23 663,340 631,017
Financial assets at fair value BAnEBEEHN ARG
through profit or loss SRS E 24 23,980 25,360
Pledged deposits BEIERER 25 662,028 965,767
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBSZEEY 25 743,975 1,563,343
Total current assets MENE EARE 9,323,996 9,370,706
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #F & B8R

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

—E_MF —EC=HF
+—B=+—H +=-BA=+—H

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 ARETT ARETT

CURRENT LIABILITIES piE =R
Trade and bills payables BN RIERENER 26 2,603,037 3,003,992
Other payables and accruals HiE S am R Est & A 27 1,094,771 1,476,026
Financial liabilities at fair value BAnBEEE AED

through profit or loss NEREaE 24 10,371 10,340
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMBEES

other borrowings 28 4,005,321 3,501,194
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 22,802 14,254
Income tax payable FESFT1STR 291,475 204,241
Total current liabilities MENEEARE 8,027,777 8,210,047
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFE 1,296,219 1,160,659
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEHERTHERE

LIABILITIES 6,496,136 5,885,197
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 454 B8k RR

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E-mE o=
+=ZBA=+—H +=A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MisE AREFT ARETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEGE
Convertible bonds R IR 29 68,960 61,132
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMBEES
other borrowings 28 1,116,210 956,169
Lease liabilities HEas 16(b) 65,426 32,888
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 30 84,551 99,739
Deferred government grants i S YT 478 B 142,209 146,629
Total non-current liabilities JERBEEAREE 1,477,356 1,296,557
Net assets BEFE 5,018,780 4,588,640
EQUITY g
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BHA TR A (GG
Share capital [EZN 31 118,469 116,971
Equity component of convertible bonds PR EHRIRE R 2B 29 26,623 26,623
Reserves L 33 4,453,260 4,055,568
4,598,352 4,199,162
Non-controlling interests JEVER Em 420,428 389,478
Total equity e AR ZEE 5,018,780 4,588,640
Dong Li Hong Yu
£F AE
Director Director
BEXE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EAEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNE+_A=+—HILEEE

Not
[iE3

&

Attributable to owners of the parent

Exchange
fluctuation
Tesenve
ERRS
&E
RMB'000
AEBTT
(note 33)
(3£33)

Retained
profits

REEH
RMB'000
NRBTT

Total

ait
RVB000
ARBTT

Total
equity

kB
RMB1000

ARETR

At 1 January 2023 RZE-z#-A-A
Proft for the year KEEET
Other compreensive ncome for the year: ~ AEE MR EINE :

Changes infai value of ety ERBARBERHHA
investments designated at fair value Eh2ENGHERERE
through other comprehensive income, WALEELS MIRE
net of tax

Changes In air value of debt BOABEEDIARY
investments at fai value through other 2ERENERRELS
comprehensive income, net of tax BELH NKRE

Exchange diferences on translation of RERNBNERER
foreign operations

(25,388)

2,056,526
535,372

3822278
535,372

U

(25,632)

4,036,238

567,836

(19

U

(25,584)

Total comprehensive income for theyear ~ AEE2ENHEE

Acquistion of subsiciaries BEHBAT
Exercise of the share options riEEkE
Dividends paid BARE

Issue of convertile bonds EaRES
Appropriations to reserves BEEE

Equily-seted share option amrangements — MBS HRMRERH

536,312

(171,660)

(75319

509,720
7,198
(171,660)
26623

5,008

542,232
143,009
7198
(171,660
26,628

5,008

At 31 December 2023 R-F-=#+-R=+-H

SATHEARL
Share Fair value
option reserve reserve
RAEE
RRERRE #h
RMB'000 RMB'000
AW ARBTR
(note 33) (note 33)
(ha33)  (1&E8)
17,049 2190
- (19
- m
- [
(2825) =
5,008 =
19,232 210y

(51,020

2,344919°

4,199,162

4,588,640
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity & &R E#HR

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZMFF+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRA N
Equity
component
Share of Share Fair  Statutory Exchange Non-
Share  premium Merger convertible option value reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve bonds reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity
hkES RfEE ERED

kE RivEER A NEZDS BRERE ek B REEN Ait FEREE RELE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR ABETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
Note (note 31)  (note33)  (note33)  (note29)  (note33)  (note33)  (note33)  (note 33)
ME o (MEs1)  (F&ss)  (MEss)  (Hies)  (WEiss)  (H&ss)  (MEss)  (Wss)

At 31 December 2023 RIBZZE
+-A=1+-H 116971 1,158,798  281,301* 26,623 19,232* (2210} 304,548* (51,020)* 2,344,919* 4,199,162 389,478 4,588,640
Profit for the year KEERR = = = - - - - - 566,303 566,393 (2,891) 563,502
Other comprehensive income for AEEEMAENE
the year:
Changes in fair value of equity EERALBEEY
nvestments designated HARMZERESN
at fair value through other REMRENARER
comprehensive income, net of 28 NIRNE
tax - - - - - (10,804) - - - (10,804) - (10,804)
Changes in fair value of debt BARBEEDHA
investments at fair value through A2 ERENES
other comprehensive income, RENMEEES
net of tax nkiE - - - - - 346 - - - 346 - 346
Exchange differences on BERINEEN
translation of foreign operations ERES - - - - - - - (34930 - (34930 974 (33,956)
Total comprehensive income for AEEZANGEE
the year - - - - - (10,458) - (34,930) 566,393 521,005 (1,917) 519,088
Acquisttion of subsidiaries KENBAG - - - - - - - - - - 32867 32,867
Exercise of the share options TEmRE 1,498 16,053 - - (5,573) - - - 11,978 - 11,978
Dividends paid BfiRE - - - - - - - - (138,150)  (138,150) - (138,150)
Appropriations to reserves BEEE - - - - - - 8163 (87,639) = = =
Equity-settied share option NRREENBRERSE
arangements - - - - 4,357 - - - - 4,357 4,357
At 31 December 2024 e 13
+ZA=+-B 118469  1,174,851*  281,301* 26,623 18,016*  (12,668)* 392,187 (85950 2,685523* 4,598,352 420,428 5,018,780
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * L EHEBEROEGEUBERRNRAZECHE
of RMB4,453,260,000 (2023: RMB4,055,568,000) in the AR ®4,453,260,0007c (ZEZ=F : AR¥
consolidated statement of financial position. 4,055,568,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘7|-\ IE@/“LE%

Year ended 31 December 2024
HEZWF+"A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“EWE ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& XEMEBHAENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax A F] 694,329 643,854
Adjustments for: TS BEHRE .
Finance costs A% Bl A 8 299,990 223,554
Interest income ) B WA 5 (23,936) (19,929)
Fair value loss from financial assets BAREBEEEF ABGR
at fair value through profit or loss, NEREENAREE
net 518 P8R 45,595 12,110
Fair value gain from financial BAnBEEHt ABGE
liabilities at fair value through NEmMasnNAnEE
profit or loss, net Wi o 25 (3,261) (1,074)
Loss on disposal of items of BEME BMEKKZKEEER
property, plant and equipment B8 6 1,068 14,079
Gain on lease termination K IFAENNE (232) =
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEKRKEITE
plant and equipment 14 348,577 323,369
Depreciation of investment property BB 2EITE 15 10 10
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 16(a) 35,455 19,991
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 18 281,410 237,800
Amortisation of deferred 4% S YT 48 B 12
government grants (16,130) (17,253)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) B EWERIERE,
of trade receivables CRE#[a]) 21 58,782 (4,134)
Write-down of inventories to net WREEEJEIRRE
realisable value 6 29,905 20,812
Inventory damaged by flood RKKIBENEFEE 7 24,338 =
Dividend income from financial assets &2 A EEE BT ABTH
at fair value through profit or loss THBEENREWA 5 (10,992) (8,289)
Equity-settled share option expenses LU 45 EAYBERR R 6 4,357 5,008
Gain on bargain purchase HEWEWE 6 - (75,835)
1,769,265 1,374,074
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 42 RERER
Year ended 31 December 2024

BHE_ZMFF+_A=+—HIEFE
2024 2023
“E-ME 2=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®FT AREF T
Increase in inventories FEEM (643,108) (397,805)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 EUERIEIE 0 (441,749) (452,384)
Decrease/(increase) in debt BRREEED §+7\Hfﬂ
investments at fair value through 2HKRENEHRRERL
other comprehensive income (1) 28,553 (27,862)
Increase in prepayments, other FET R IE ~ Hfh R IE K,
receivables and other assets HMh&E ZE N0 (19,225) (141,591)
Decrease in financial assets at BAnEBEEHF ABGEN
fair value through profit or loss ERE AR 349 9,623
Increase in financial liabilities at BARBEESFT AEGRHN
fair value through profit or loss R EEE - 636
(Decrease)/increase in trade and =] % FET TRIB I FE (T 245
bills payables Bl g0 (425,818) 528,807
(Decrease)/increase in other Hfm}% NEREV g
payables and accruals CRiZL) /g0 (184,661) 133,807
Cash generated from operations LRSI FREIE G 83,606 1,027,305
Income tax paid BETATER (81,934) (63,607)
Net cash flows from operating activities &&= /EEFTSIR & M2 F 28 1,672 963,698
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 422 RERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZWF+-A=+—HULEFE

2024 2023
—ENE =
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

PysE AREBTRE ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING R EEHFREHSRE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUF 8 23,936 19,929
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BENLREER

plant and equipment (954,957) (623,664)
Proceeds from disposal of items of EEME -MEKMXREEER

property, plant and equipment HPFEFIE 16,996 5,589
Dividend income from financial assets @A A EEESN T AR TN

at fair value through profit or loss TREENRKREWA 5 10,992 8,288
Proceeds from disposal of HEZRAANEBEED

financial assets at fair value FFABEENEREEN

through profit or loss Prigsia 1,596 6,066
Additions of financial assets at BnEA R EEES

fair value through profit or loss STABENEMEE (49,345) (60,000)
Additions of intangible assets ENErEE 18 (256,467) (275,362)
Additions of right-of-use assets BINGREEE 16(a) (1,996) (5,538)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS B A 37 (116,663) 62,776
Withdrawal/ (placement) of RE (FFA) BIgE

pledged time deposits EHITERR 303,739 (171,961)
Receipt of deferred government grants U H 3 ZE B /i 4 85 11,710 69,601
Net cash flows used in investing CEEBPTARERE

activities (1,010,459) (964,276)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 428 REHRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZMFF+_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
“ENE S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% AR®BTT ARBTF T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RtE;EENFRBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares, net of BRAD 21T BREEITRIS
issuance expenses 31 11,978 7,193
New bank borrowings MERTEE 8,392,414 6,369,079
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIBITEE (7,769,867) (4,918,582)
Interest paid B E (293,143) (223,554)
Principal portion of lease payments HENTEASI D (18,668) (12,194)
Dividends paid BNRE (138,150) (171,660)
Proceeds from issue of BT R B BIPTIERIE
convertible bonds - 87,755
Net cash flows from financing activities R E EZENFTISIR S M2 F2E 184,564 1,138,037
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERREEEY RAL)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  &h0;%%E (824,223) 1,137,459
Cash and cash equivalents REYNRERIREEEY
at beginning of year 1,563,343 436,194
Effect of foreign exchange rate PEER SRR EHRE
changes, net 4,855 (10,310)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MEXRMWIRERIRNEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 743,975 1,663,343
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH & R IR & L EWER O
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B KMIRITAEER 25 743,975 1,563,343
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Notes to Financial Statements

R 75 v 2R M 5E

31 December 2024
“EIWE+ZA=+—H

1.

118

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Leoch International Technology Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 27 April 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Act 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s shares have been listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 16 November 2010. The
registered office of the Company is located at the office
of Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, and the
address is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in power solutions
business and the recycled lead business.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the immediate holding company and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Master
Alliance Investment Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and wholly owned by Dr. Dong
Li.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are

31 December 2024

—EME+"A=+—H

1. REREEEN (&

BERMBARZER

KRB EEMBRABMFIBAT

as follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
sEMeR /R BETRMRESEAT
WEAE ML/ EMAS REEHY BETRARES FEfEEEA R TBER
Direct Indirect
B itk
% %
IHELENERAF 11 March 2003 PRC/Mainland RMB577,909,382 = 100 Investment holding and
(Leoch Battery (Jiangsu) Corp.) China* manufacture and sale of lead-
(Jiangsu Leoch’) () acid batteries
IHETENARAS CI&BL))  —ZB=E=A+-B  HE/FERM  ARI577,909,3827% REZR WEABENREEH
EERTERRIARAR 9 May 2005 PRC/Mainland US$103,780,000 - 100 Investment holding and
(Zhaoqing Leoch Battery Technology China* manufacture and sale of lead-
Co., Ltd)) (‘Zhaoging Leoch’) (i) acid batteries
ERETETRRNERAD (EBEL)() —STRFRANA "R/ RE R 103,780,000 7% REZR NENHERREEY
RYNBHHEREMERAR 26 July 2006 PRC/Mainland US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
(Anhui Uplus Energy Technology Co., Ltd.) China* batteries
(‘Anhui Uplus’) (i)
ZHNENRERRITARAR ZEIAECLAIHAR RE/ERM 10,000,000%7¢ RENHENREEH
(&) (i)
AITELMERERERAD 26 April 1999 PRC/Mainland RMB882,030,381 = 100 Investment holding and sale of
(Leoch Shenzhen Renewable Energy China* lead-acid batteries
Co., Ltd.) (‘Leoch New Energy’) ()
MITELMERERERAD —MANEBBZ+RE  hE/FEMM  ARK882030,3817 RERRANHENREEY
(TERLHAER) ()
BRMELNERERAT 27 November 2002 PRC/Chinese RMB3,500,000 - 100 Leasing of properties
(Dongguan Leoch Battery Technology Mainland*
Co., Ltd) )
BRMELHERERAD) ZER2E+-AI+tR E/ERM AR 3,500,007 HENE
Leoch International Sales Ltd 31 December 2010 Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(‘Leoch International Sales’)
BrERHEERAR (BLERHEE) —ZT-ZF+°A=t+-H &% T HENMEEH
Leoch Power Supply (H.K.) Limited 18 August 2004 Hong Kong HK$12,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and sale of
(‘Leoch Power Supply’) lead-acid batteries
B+ER (R ARAR ((BLER) —ZERFNABTNR B 12,000,000E7% REERMHENREEN

"B NEFR — BXEBRKTERAS
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

e =5z 0\ =
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. REIREEER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)

5 'RT] . —_ = N =
Information about subsidiaries ERMBATRZEN (&
(continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
ML R BETRARESEAT
WEAR ML/ HREH REENY BETRAREX EEREEAT TEEH
Direct Indirect
B S
% %
Leoch Battery Corporation 17 June 2003 USA™ 1S83,256,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(‘Leoch Battery Corp.’)
Leoch Battery Corporation ZZE=ERATER i 3,256,000%7¢ HESRMEEH
(TLeoch Battery Corp. )
Honour Label Investments Limited 28 February 2005 BV US$1 - 100 Investment holding
(‘Honour Label’)
Honour Label Investments Limited “ZERECACHA\R  EBRUEE™ e RERR
("Honour Label })
Peak Year Investments Limited 25 January 2007 BVI™* USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
(‘Peak Year')
Peak Year Investments Limited ZERFE-AItRE  EERLEE™ 1£7 REEK
("Peak Year )
Shieldon International Limited 19 January 2007 BVI™ USS1 = 100 Investment holding
(‘Shieldon”)
Shieldon International Limited (" Shieldon)) ~ZEt+&—E+AH KBRUBE™ 1£7T REZK
Leoch Battery Company Limited 25 April 2007 Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and sale of
(‘Leoch Battery Company’) lead-acid batteries
Leoch Battery Company Limited ( “TEHERAZ+RR  ER 1,000,000%7T REARAHERRESH
I'Leoch Battery Company J)
BRETRERRNERAT 15 March 2006 PRC/Mainland RMB300,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(Nanjing Leoch Battery Technology China*
Co., Ltd)) )
ARETRERRITERAH) “EZRE=ATRH HE /IR AR 300,007 HERBEEH
TRETREREMERAR 14 December 2004 PRC/Mainland RMB1,000,000 = 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(Beijing Leoch Engineering Technology China*
Co., Ltd) )
FrET REREGERAG) ZEIME+ZATNE  E/RERM 1,000,007 HERMETH
RELENRGERAT 27 September 2007 PRC/Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(Leoch Battery Shenzhen Corp.) i) China*
FIELEMEIERAR) EREEARIHER E/RERM 1,000,007 HERMETH
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

1. REIRERER (&)

ERBARZEN (&

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
HEL/ R BEIRBRESEAT
WEAR ML/ HMAH REENY BETRARES AR TRER
Direct Indirect
B G}
% %
Cathering Holdings International Company 3 May 2010 BvI™ US$4 100 - Investment holding
Limited (‘Catherine Holdings")
Catherine Holdings International Company ~ “E—Z4£1B=H HREZHE™ 4ET Bty
Limited (T Catherine Holdings |)
Leoch Battery Pte. Ltd. 5 April 2010 Singapore $G$2,000,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(‘Leoch Battery Pte.’)
Leoch Battery Pte. Ltd. _Z-BFMAEA g 2,000,004 M7 HERRERH
(TLeoch Battery Pte. ])
Leoch International Holding Pte. Ltd. 21 April 2011 Singapore SG$1 - 100 Investment holding
(‘Leoch International Holding’)
Leoch Intemational Holding Pte. Ltd. “E——#MAZ+-H HME 1T RERR
("Leoch International Holding J)
ZHETERREERAT 26 Qctober 2010 PRC/Mainland RMB625,817,381 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
(Anhui Leoch Power Supply Corp.) China* batteries
(‘Anhui Leoch Power’) ()
ZHBTBRRNERAR ZZ-ZETACTRR O RE/HERM ARIS605817,381% BEMEERREEN
(M&EELER)()
Leoch Lanka (Private) Ltd. 26 January 2012 Sri Lanka LKR337,712,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
batteries
Leoch Lanka (Private) Ltd. “2-"E-AT+RH HEEF 337,712,000 HEHHERRESY
HEBREL
Leoch Batteries India Private Limited 31 October 2012 India INR305,988,330 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leoch Batteries India Private Limited “Z2-"FtA=+-B HE 305,988, 330N EE e £ HERRERH
Big Help Group Limited (‘Big Help”) 19 May 2011 Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Big Help Group Limited (T Big Help 1) Z$—ERRTAA &8 157 REEk
BIREERE (R BRAR 23 June 2014 PRC/Meainland RMB1,607,458,555 - 100 Investment holding
(Leoch Investment Development China*
(Shenzhen) Limited) (i
BrRERE (RY) BRAE ZZ-MERAZTZA RE/HRERMT  ARIE607,458,5557 REZER

"B NEFR — BXEBRKTERAS
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31 December 2024
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122

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1. REIRERER (&)

ERMBABZEN (&

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BETRARESEAT
WEAR MR/ EMAH REEHH BETRARES AR TREK
Direct Indirect
B S
% %

AN IRERRITERAD 29 November 2012 PRC/Mainland HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(Shenzhen Lihang Battery Technology China*

Co., Ltd.) (i)

RNIMBRRAEERAF() ZZ-CE+-AZtAB FE/TRERN 10,000,000%7 RELER

Leoch Super Power India Pvt 7 August 2015 [ndia INR259,110,200 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid

batteries

Leoch Super Power Indiia Pvt “Z-5%)\AtH fE 259,110 2008NE &t BERBESRESH

Energymax Power (M) Sdn Bhd 10 July 2016 Malaysia MYR40,000,000 - 51 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
(‘Energymax’) batteries

Energymax Power (M) Sdn Bhd ZE-REtE+H EXADR 40,000,000 HEHHERRESY
(TEnergymax ) ERATLE

ZUNEHHFAERMREEAERAT 9 September 2016 PRC/Meainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(Anhui Uplus New Energy Material China*

Technology Co., Ltd.)
(‘Anhui Uplus New Energy’) ()

ZUNBNFRERMNEEERAS  ZE-REABAR 8/ PRI AR 5,000,007 REER
(MR AE IR ()

AABREEFRKERAT 9 January 2017 PRC/Mainland RMB110,000,000 - 60 Recycling and remanufacture of
(Taihe Dahua Energy Technology Co., Ltd.) China* lead from batteries disposed of
(‘Taihe Dahua’) ()

AMBEAEERHRBRAT “Z—tE-fAAnH TE/hERE  ARH110,000,0007 BEEENENRELEN
(TRHBEAE) ()

Tele Power Sdn. Bd. (‘Tele Power’) 28 July 1999 Malaysia MYR1,000,000 - 51 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid

batteries

Tele Power Sdn. Bhd. ( Tele Power ) —“MNELAZTN\E BRAZ 1,000,006 REEL S RENHELREE

Leoch Battery (Vietnam) Limited 29 September 2017 Vigtnam US83,750,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid

batteries

Leoch Battery (Vietnam) Limited “T—tEARZTARE HE 3,750,000%7¢ HEMHENRESH

Leoch Super Power (Vietnam) Limited 29 September 2017 Vigtnam US$2,100,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid

batteries

Leoch Super Power (Vietnam) Limited “T—tEARZTARE HE 2,100,000%7¢ HEMHENRESH
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

31 December 2024

—EME+"A=+—H

1. REIRERER (&)

ERBARZEN (&)

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
ML/ R BEIRBRESEAT
EAR ML/ HREH REENY ERTRARER EEREEAL TELH
Direct Indirect
B %
% %
Leoch France 23 November 2017 France EUR100,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leach France “E—t&+-A°+=H #E 100,000E 7T HESRERM
Leoch Nordeuropa GmbH 22 February 2018 Germany EUR100,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leoch Nordeuropa GmbH “E-\£”A_+-H £& 100,0008% 7 HENMETH
Leoch Italia s.r. 11 October 2018 Italy EUR100,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leoch ltalia s.r] ZZ-\f+tA+-B  EBAA 100,0008%7 HERRERH
Leoch DBS Limited (‘'LDBS’) 28 June 2017 United Kingdom GBP751,000 - 100 Investment holding
Leoch DBS Limited (TLDBS J) TEtERAZTNR HE 751,000 REER
Leoch Battery UK Ltd. (‘LBUK’) 20 October 2015 United Kingdom (GBP3,163,929 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leoch Battery UK Ltd. (FLBUK J) “Z-R&E+AC+A HE 3,163,020 5 HENBEEN
FIETERERERAT 21 September 2020 PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(Shenzhen Leoch Power Development China*
Co., Ltd) i
RAIELEREEERAT) IZIREARCT-B  E/HERN K 10,000,0007 HERREEH
ZHETHAERERERAT 3 September 2018 PRC/Mainland RMB350,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of lithium
(Anhui Leoch Renewable Energy China* batteries
Development Co., Ltd.)
(‘Anhui Leoch Energy’) i
R ERERERAT “Z-\ENnA=H TR/ ERM ARS350,000,0007 RERHEREH
(MZHEBLHAER) ()
ZHEEHEERAF () 11 August 2021 PRC/Mainland USD45,000,000 = 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
China*
ZHEENEARAF “22-£\A+-AH HE/ RE R 45,000,000% 7 HERMERH
IHETHERRRERAT () 9 December 2021 PRC/Mainland RMB304,965,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
China*
THEH IR EERA) “2”-E+ZRAR hE/FERT AR304,965,0007 HERMERH
Leoch Battery Australia Pty. Ltd. 20 September 2019 Australia AUD200,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
Leoch Battery Australia Pty. Ltd. “B-hENAZTH bl 200,00087% HENRETH

"B NEFR — BXEBRKTERAS
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124

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1. REREEEN (&

ERMBABZEN (&

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ registration Issued and interest attributable
Subsidiaries registration and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
ML R BETRBEEFEAR
WEAF ML/ HREH REENY BETRAREX EEREEAT TEEH
Direct Indirect
B %
% %
RIELBLERERAT 24 March 2021 PRC/Meainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
China*
RIELBEERERAT TEI-E-AT4MEA PE/ERM AE10,000,0007 HERBEEH
BEETHERRAT 14 March 2022 PRC/Meainland RMB200,000,000 - 100 Raw material procurement of lead-
China* acid batteries
BEEIREERAR “ER_"E=R+MmA TR/ ERM  AR200,000,0007 HEETHREMERE
LEOCH IBERIA SL. (‘IBERIA") 21 May 1992 Spain EUR512,020.24 - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
LEOCH IBERIA SL. (TIBERIA |) -AAZERAZ+-H AN 512,020,248 7 HERBRERH
REATENERAR 28 December 1991 PRC/Mainland USD92,400,000 - 70 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
(Tianjin GS BATTERY Co., Ltd) China* batteries
(‘Tianjin GS”)
FEALTENERAR (XEAL) —hA—F+ZAZHN\E B/ HER 92,400,000% 7T BEMHEERREEN
AEEBH (BE) BRAF 1 February 2002 PRC/Mainland USD26,000,000 - 70 Manufacture and sale of lead-acid
(Yuasa Battery (Shunde) Co., Ltd.) China* batteries
(‘Shunde Yuasa’)
mREE (BE BRAT (EERE) —T2-£°A-H HE /IR 26,000,000% 7 RENHEARESH
RERNMEREERAT 5 January 2005 PRC/Mainland USD57,991,000 - 9582 Recycling and remanufacture of
(Tianjin Juli Material Technology Co., Ltd.) China* lead from batteries disposed of
(‘Tianjin JuLi’)
FEZNVEREAERAR ((KERn) “S2R4-ARA HE/ HE 57,991,000% 7T BEETHOMRELER
ERETHAERREERAT 26 June 2023 PRG/Mainland Nil - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
China*
EREHHERRRERAG ZEIZERAIEAE E/ERM £ HERMETH
IHETBEERERAT 12 May 2023 PRG/Mainland Nil - 100 Sale of lead-acid batteries
China*
IHETBEERERAT ZZZZ-FHRA1CH HE/ HE £ HERMETH
ERSEEBHERAT 25 December 1991 PRG/Mainland Nil - 70 Sale of lead-acid batteries
(Yuasa Battery (Guangdong) China*
Company Limited)
ERFZEEHERAR —AA—E+ZBZ+RA E/FERH E: HERMEEH
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries
(continued)

* PRC represents the People’s Republic of China which
excludes, for the purpose of this report, the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the PRC, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan.

* USA represents the United States of America.

e BVI represents the British Virgin Islands.

i) The company is registered as limited companies under
PRC law.
(i) These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises under PRC law.

During the year, the Group acquired Yuasa Battery
(Guangdong) Company Limited from a third party.
Further details of this acquisition are included in note 37
to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.1BASIS OF PREPARATION

126

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“‘IFRSs”) (which include all International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.1BASIS OF PREPARATION

(continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangement;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.1BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of subsidiaries, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over subsidiaries, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill)
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and impact of the revised IFRSs are
described below:

@)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale
and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate occurring from the date of initial application
of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

2.2 & B 5 R 350 B o5 1A 1
5 ()

130

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
Annual Improvements to Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS
IFRS Accounting Standards 9, /FRS 10 and IAS 77
-Volume 11

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

< Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

132

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

IFRS 18 replaces |IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS
18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 are
moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed
as |IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings per Share
and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other
IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to
other IFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other IFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of
the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have
a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with IFRSs. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it
is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are considering the application
of IFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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31 December 2024
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

134

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date
on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10
and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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31 December 2024
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET

136

EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 17 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7),
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as

follows:

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1,
IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs
in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition,
the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional
requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A
of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 17 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7),
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows: (continueq)

o IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Staterments: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between
the investor and other parties acting as de
facto agents of the investor, which removes the
inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

o IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost”
in paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior
deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

2ABEKREETHER

EBCHEEE

EHaHHUBE AR -BREZREHU
WEE BN QA BESS  ZAREERE
EEEFENEENWERMNAABE E
EEERWEL ZAEES ARKENGR>
Fe A 5 B 3547 DU ER AR U B 75 2 U A BY AR
FEDABI - NEEFEHT > NERE
BEECURAAEBENREB A OHNEES
BERVRISLLA » SRR HRUE 75 BUIFEAc
m o JFIERBIRA— I EMA D TR A RE
B5H 8 - WEBRRIR AR EE R 25 o

EFERZ—RIEBRBEGE—BRA
k—EEEBEEmEHRRREELREE
IEFHEXRER cEERECWE—EX
?%0

EXRERWE-BEEBER SRESHRK
O TR U S B ERR B IR IR R AR R 1 5T
EREAZENEMEERER UMEFLEEN
DERET EREESBREES TG4
PRBRARNITELR

HEFSHDIEEET  UERFANRAE
mEURBEHBNRAABEENE EH
RIS RAVF s A R R S E MR E UL
m (NI A) REsT e



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income, debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

When an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated
as the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(il

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

24 KT
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POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Office equipment 3 -5 years
Motor vehicles 4 -5 years
Tooling and equipment 3 -5 years
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and depreciation methods are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis,
with depreciation periods consistent with the useful
lives of the buildings and land.
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POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition as cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Computer software

Computer software of the Group is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 10
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship of the Group is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 10
years.

Trademark

Trademark of the Group is amortised on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of 8 years.

Licence

Licence of the Group is amortised on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of 10 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-
line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying
products not exceeding five years, commencing from
the date when the products are put into commercial
production.
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POLICIES (continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@ Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Freehold land
Leasehold land
Properties

Plant and machinery

Not depreciated
46 to 50 years
2 to 9 years

3 to 10 years
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

ease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

152

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

For sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate,
lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the leasebacks at the present value of expected
lease payments to be made over the lease term.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the expected lease payments. Any
differences between the payments made for the lease
and the lease payments that reduce the carrying
amount of lease liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

154

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and

rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

156

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

2ABEXRGETEER (&

RERHMEMEE @)

BEE

TREENRESTB AZEDERINT ¢

ol

A

REER A B SMEE (BF LR

R B SRR B E )
A B WD HEN B EEER L
PSR~ 3T SR ERS - W A R $E
i

RADBEEZFFAREMEE N Z S/
EE (BEHIR)

MBRAANEEEESFAEMEE B =AE
BRREMS » M B  SNEE LRI ER
BRI R m R AR ) W % SRR S R A
StENEMEERRNS 2 - B
AEBESNE M E IS o & LTSS
By REMEE R @ REZRHNRSRANE
BEEFREMTARDR

“TomEER - BXEREHARAR 157



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments
and equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.
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POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent,
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
(continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are one year past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

(continued)

General approach (continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual

cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

2AEKRE
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POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS
9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (frade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair
value of the liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a long term liability on the
amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is
allocated to the conversion option that is recognised
and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction
costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option
is not remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity
components when the instruments are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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168

POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity future contracts to hedge its price
fluctuation risk. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of

derivatives are recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis. The costs of raw materials comprise
the purchasing costs of the materials and other costs
incurred in bringing the materials to their present
locations and conditions. The costs of work in progress
and finished goods comprise direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of manufacturing
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.

When the effect of the time value of money is material,
the amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the
sale of certain industrial products for general repairs of
defects occurring during the warranty period. Provisions
for these assurance-type warranties granted by the
Group are initially recognised based on sales volume
and past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present values as appropriate. The
warranty-related cost is revised annually
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Provisions (continued)

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the
policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes, except that deferred tax is not recognised for
the Pillar Two income taxes.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

172

where the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

174

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred government grant account and
is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

2ABEXRGETEER (&

Ik = B 5
FESAM

B R AR BV SRR R EE T
FREHES  HE RN RAEE RN EE
ZEFEYURBRAREZENNE

HENREESERER MEREAER
IR AR = Sy B sy ST
REZRRETHS - IENERGHRGER
fEET IR B RE > E= S ] 3RAERMIT
BARAAZ= N B BEIRE » BRI R 5T ERESIIR
mEFRA B A W B OSBRI fE N G EERTS
FIf#RR

HENEEGETERARDESREEY IR
BHEAMEN @ (—F U L) RESD
Al U B BRIRE T 8 > WIZ A RS
BHRERAEREREFBILRERZRIT
REETITR - AN BERAEEREB
B—FEHNEAREN mHRER DR AE
IR TRESSIY W m R B RA AN EGH
BRI EAX HENTERER N
B R GE YRRV DI —
ARG ERITEREEAMELONTET
LEREE > M2 RERM IR S 2ERH 165
B TERRIITIERE A

“TomEER - BXEREHARAR 175



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

176

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the industrial products.

Some contracts for the sale of industrial products
provide customers with rights of volume rebates,
giving rise to variable consideration.

\olume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided
to certain customers once the quantity of
products purchased during the period exceeds a
threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are
offset against amounts payable by the customer.
To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount
method is used for contracts with a single-volume
threshold and the expected value method for
contracts with more than one volume threshold.
The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily
driven by the number of volume thresholds
contained in the contract. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied and a refund liability for the expected
future rebates is recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) Sale of properties

Revenue from the sales of properties is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
ownership is transferred to the buyer.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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178

POLICIES (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including Directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
in exchange for equity instruments (‘equity-settled
transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial lattice model, further
details of which are given in note 32 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of the reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

180

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets,
a capitalisation rate ranging between 2% and 10%
has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue,
about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period, it will assess whether the information affects the
amounts that it recognises in its financial statements.
The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its
financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after
the reporting period and update the disclosures that
relate to those conditions in light of the new information.
For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the
Group will not change the amounts recognised in its
financial statements, but will disclose the nature of the
non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial
effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be
made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the Directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.
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POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB. In prior
years, the Company’s functional currency was RMB.
As at 1 July 2018, the Directors had re-evaluated
the economic environment of the Company and
determined that the functional currency of the Company
has been changed from RMB to USD given its major
funding and financing activities were raised increasingly
in USD. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the
Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts
in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.
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POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into industrial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease
term not constituting a major part of the economic
life of the commercial property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains substantially all the significant
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these
properties which are leased out and accounts for the
contracts as operating leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise
the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise
the option to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g.,
construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options (continued)

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of plant and machinery with longer
non-cancellable periods (i.e., 10 to 15 years) are not
included as part of the lease term as these are not
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement
is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Tax

Determining income tax provisions requires the Group
to make judgements on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates
tax implications of transactions in accordance with
prevailing tax regulations and practices and makes tax
provisions accordingly.

The Group’s determination as to whether to recognise
deferred tax liability for withholding taxes from the
distribution of dividends from the subsidiaries in the
PRC according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is
subject to judgement on the timing of distribution of
dividends. The Directors had assessed whether it is
probable for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to distribute
dividends out of their profits earned after 1 January
2008. For details, refer to note 30 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial years, are described
below.

Impairment of gooawill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024
was RMB3,711,000 (2023: RMB2,405,000). Further
details are given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit and other forms of credit insurance).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwil))

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

3.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

ERGFFIEN R (G5 (&)

&5t REEE M (42
FEBMEEHE (FEHN)

FEBRRKSRESPRTEFABEFEMEE
(BEEAREE) ALEEAAENR -H
thIFEMBEE AR REER e
WeElFFETTRE RIS - (B EREREE IR
TELBBAHRWEEEE BIREE
BHENAREREENRSE) » BIER
BRE  RABEREEREEBEREEE
NFRZRENRNVIHELZ Z RIS HIE
WAREHERNEEENEEMAFE
HERAEREESNE IEERBREFEE
HIRELEBUNTEFARRRERE » EI
BENTRXLGIEZFRERENRE
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Usetul lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
It could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations, competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles or unforeseeable change in legal
enforcement rights in future. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Usetul lives of intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related amortisation charges for its intangible assets.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of intangible assets of similar
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations. Management reassesses the
useful lives at each reporting date.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of an inventory is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience
of selling products of a similar nature which could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions.
Management reassesses these estimates at each
reporting date. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the amount of inventory provision charged
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss was
RMB29,905,000 (2023: RMB20,812,000) (note 6).

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with
the accounting policy for research and development
costs in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires
management to make assumptions regarding the
expected future cash generation of the assets,
discount rates to be applied and the expected period
of benefits. At 31 December 2024, the best estimate
of the carrying amount of capitalised development
costs was RMB739,592,000 (2023: RMB743,294,000).
Further details are included in note 18 to the financial
statements.

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

ERGFH I Rt (&

&5t REEE M (42
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FEMOZIRFEIEEBERPNMGEE
BRETERMEENMA  ZE M5t
BERERTRIAHERBEEERNBARE
R IERFZFHFNTHMERELX
R EEEENRSREOPELZEMR
FreBEZZINF+A=+—HILHF
B RGeEaxiIENEEREBSES
AR 829,005,000t (ZE2Z=F : AR
20,812,0007%) (I5E6) ©
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EEstAARKET739,592,0007T (CE =4
AR #743,294,0007T) o #E—FFIBE T
FERRMIEE180

“TomEER - BTEREHARAT 195



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
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196

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in power solutions
business and the recycled lead business.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, who are the Group’s CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance, does not contain profit or loss information
of each product line and the executive directors review
the gross profit of the Group as a whole reported
under IFRSs. Therefore, the operation of the Group
constitutes one reportable segment. Accordingly, no
segment information is presented.

No segment assets and liabilities and related other

segment information were presented as no such
discrete financial information is provided to the CODM.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about products

An analysis of revenue by product is as follows:

KEDEER (B

EmBEH

REMEI DB DT

31 December 2024

—EME+"A=+—H

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
Power solutions business BEIRRR S RER 14,503,819 11,447,457
Recycled lead business (O] U 5 75 1,622,658 2,023,778
16,126,477 13,471,235
Geographical information & &
(a)  Revenue from external customers () FKEIEFEF I @
2024 2023
“ENE “ET=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
Mainland China H B A B 9,474,381 8,157,704
Europe, the Middle East and Africa BN ~ 58 K2 FEM 2,753,830 1,935,577
Americas =M 2,571,306 2,140,455
Asia-Pacific (other than the Mainland 53 &M1& (f~ & #& 0 B A BE)
China) 1,326,960 1,237,499
Total revenue il g 16,126,477 13,471,235

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

Lt m BRI R RFIEM DT

"B NEFR — BXEBRKTERAS
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31 December 2024
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4.

198

OPERATING SEGMENT 4.

INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information (continued)

(b)  Non-current assets

KEDEER (B

wEER (&

b) FRBEE

2024 2023
—EmE BT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Mainland China ==] 5N 125 4,099,010 3,925,553
Other countries/areas HMER, #hE 701,812 414,831
Total non-current assets FERFEEMEE 4,800,822 4,340,384

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
No revenue from sales to any customer amounted to

10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years
2023 and 2024.
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31 December 2024

—EME+"A=+—H

L W
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME 5. Wz~ A R =
AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WU -
2024 2023
“ENE —ET=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Revenue from contracts with customers B FE &#kE 16,126,477 13,471,235
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWE
() Disaggregated revenue information ) e BRI
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARF T
Types of goods ISE Yk E
Sale of industrial products HETHER 16,126,477 13,471,235
Timing of revenue recognition Wt 2 B 52 B5
Goods transferred at a point in time PR B EEEE > §Y) 16,126,477 13,471,235
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME 5.
AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

() Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

W am ~ E AU A R X
(%)

ERENWE (&)

()

Wt XA ()

TRITRBRERVSAASHEER
M SRR S HARRED 2 WmEE8

2024 2023
—EmE B ——
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRE ARBTT

Revenue recognised that was FFARSHYENEEN

included in contract liabilities at the BT
beginning of the reporting period:
Sale of industrial products HETXESR

303,500 284,339

(i) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation for the sale of
industrial products is satisfied upon delivery of the
industrial products and payment is generally due
within 60 to 90 days from delivery, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

All performance obligations for sale of industrial
products are for periods of one year or less.
As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied performance
obligations is not disclosed.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME

AND GAINS (continued)

(43)

31 December 2024

—EME+"A=+—H

5. W~ HMUA Kk m

2024 2023
=g 1 = 3 .
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBTFT
Other income and gains Hhug A R Y&

Bank interest income RITHF BUA 23,936 19,929
Government grants* B fa 134,285 45,713

Dividend income from financial assets at B EEEF T AEBEDN
fair value through profit or loss SHBENKREWA 10,992 8,288
Sale of scrap materials HE K 6,809 17,174
Foreign exchange gains, net SNBE U 75 0 SR EE 45,374 42,687
Rental income R ON 5,111 3,290
Gain on bargain purchase EEWEW D - 75,835
Others EHh 14,369 14,978
Total other income and gains EH ik A R WK 48%8 240,876 227,894

and subsidies provided by the local government
authorities to the Group as encouragement for its
investment and technological innovation. There are no

The government grants represent various cash payments

unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these

subsidies.

- A # B TH 153 5 BUR BB P40 T R E B A
KBRS RIA AL U B IR E R AT A
o iR A MR E MR R B IF MR 3
REIR-
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

202

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

MA@

REENMANEF TN GTA) U TIE

(crediting): B®EH -
2024 2023
—EMF B =
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sk ARETT AREF T
Cost of inventories sold FRrEFENA 11,931,492 10,112,627
Employee benefit expense (including BEBFIX (BEES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): < (fF5E9)) :
Wages and salaries TERHE 1,387,577 1,209,759
Equity-settled share option MERGEE B R
expenses Bz 4,357 5,008
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETE 89,357 116,220
Total 4B st 1,481,291 1,330,987
Amortisation of other intangible assets ELfth i 2 & 2 # §5
except for deferred development (IR 3E A 28 B AN BRIM)
costs 18 21,507 12,654
Research and development costs:  FEEALZS :
Deferred development costs I SIE R 3% il A H £
amortised* 18 259,903 225,146
Current year expenditure FRAX 342,635 371,868
Total 4Bt 602,538 597,014
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENE = 3,400 3,400
Fair value loss from financial assets A MDEEEE T ABE
at fair value through profit or loss, NEREEANEE
net B8 3R 24 44,101 5,114
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31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. MA@ (&)
(continued)
2024 2023
“EME —E=HF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AREF T
Fair value loss from financial BARBEES AEDR
liabilities at fair value through ZETMEBEEANEE
profit or loss, net E518 > XA 24 608 =
Depreciation of property, MEBERREITE
plant and equipment 14 348,577 323,369
Depreciation of investment property R &Y ¥ E 15 10 10
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRAEEEITE 16(a) 35,455 19,991
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) B 5 EUWERIERE,
of trade receivables, net CRE#E[D]) > $ %8 21 58,782 (4,134)
Write-down of inventories to net WoREEE O EIRFE
realisable value* 20 29,905 20,812
Loss on disposal of items of BEYE HBERSKE
property, plant and equipment, net BB RIEE ) R EE 7 1,068 14,079
Foreign exchange differences, net NBEUW ER 0 SR EE 5 (45,374) (42,687)
Lease payment not included inthe st AFRE&EFtEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HENR 16(c) 27,538 33,662
Bank interest income RTHR) BUA (23,936) (19,929)
Gain on bargain purchase HEWEBWE - (75,835)
* The amortisation of deferred development costs and * RS AN EIE MR EEE ] EIRF
write-down of inventories to net realisable value are Bt AR e BmRTHE M A F o

included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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31 December 2024
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204

OTHER EXPENSES

7. Hipx

An analysis of other expenses is as follows: HMAZ 2T
2024 2023
“EME TEC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEEYE BENREER
plant and equipment, net BIEs18 > 258 1,068 14,079
Inventory damaged by flood R KIBENEFEES 24,338 =
Others Hh 7,000 6,903
Total 4z 32,406 20,982
FINANCE COSTS 8. BATSERZS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: AU T -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETF T
Interest on bank loans (including IRTTER (BT ES)
convertible bonds) FE 240,498 184,192
Interest arising from discounted bills AHIREREE AR 54,523 36,618
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 4,969 2,744
Total 4Est 299,990 223,554
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. E5fl&

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RE EMHRA -~ FELQBEHZE383(1)(@)
to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of L)~ OFER AT RBEEEFDERD) R
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the FoEPIRB . FRNESMEANT ¢

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFT

Fees BE 657 648
Other emoluments: HAu = -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &~ ERL R EYEF 2,714 2,476

Equity-settled share option expenses DS A BRI 270 292

Pension scheme contributions BIREETEHERR 69 83

Subtotal INEF 3,053 2,851

Total 48z 3,710 3,499
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. &M< (&)
(continued)

(a) Independent non-executive (@) BIEBITES
directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive BEIFFRTEEZ N 2BEUWT -

directors were as follows:

Salaries,
allowances  Performance-  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expenses  contributions Total
HEEMR NEREER BhE
fig BB BREaTA BRER HEEA fact

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREBTR  AE®TR  ARETRT  ARBTR  ARETR

2024 ZEIME

Mr. Lau Chi Kit RERE 219 - - 52 - 271
Mr, Lu Zhiojang ESRLE 219 - - 39 - 258
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan EMERE 219 - - 52 - 2an
Total st 657 - - 143 - 800
2023 ECCE

Mr. Lau Chi Kit Anmrs 216 - - 22 - 238
Mr. Lu Zhigiang ESRLE 216 - - 25 - 241
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan EMERE 216 - - 2 - 238
Total st 648 - - 69 - 7
There were no other emoluments payable to the FERTEEEIIERNITES T EM
independent non-executive directors during the e (C2T=F 8o

year (2023 Nil).
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31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EE%E (&)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) MITES
Salaries,
allowances  Performance-  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expenses  contributions Total
E A1) NEREEN &g
g BUER  BRETEA BRERR HENHEA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBFL  ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR  ARETR
2024 b1
Executive directors: HiTES !
Dr. Dong Li EXfit - 1,660 - - 69 1,729
Ms. HONG Yu EALT - 1,054 - 127 - 1,181
- 2,714 - 127 69 2,910
2023 et
Executive directors: HTEE:
Dr. Dong Li XML - 870 - - 67 937
Ms. Yin Haiyan* ezt - 906 - 102 16 1,024
Ms. HONG Yu ey Tk - 700 - 121 - 821
- 2,476 - 228 83 2,782

*

Ms. Yin Haiyan retired as an executive director on
16 May 2024.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2023: Nil).

* EELEIR 2 NFRA+7<H
BREXRBRTES-

FAMETAEREFHEARER

EEAMENZH CE=F:

4HE) o
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31 December 2024
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10.

208

FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included two (2023: two) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023:

10. A EmaES

three) non-director, highest paid employees are as

FRLLEeFNEES BEmE (CTF
T=F ) B HEBNEE BRSO
HO-FR Heg=% CE=F : =) JF
EFRzESHNESIFHIMFENT -

follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR¥T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #7%& ~ 285 R EYIEF 3,305 3,152
Equity-settled share option expenses DR m AR RS - 229
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIMHERR 72 40
Total 4Bt 3,377 3,421

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

QI

#ENE YR IFEER

R EEA

Number of employees

EEA#
2024 2023
—EME 2=
Nil to HKD1,000,000 £ %1,000,00078 7T = 1
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T 3 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001t %£2,000,00078 7T - -
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001#& 75 %E2,500,000/8 7T - -
Total M5t 3 3
Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024
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11.INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which members of the Group are domiciled and
operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, the Company is not subject to any income tax
in this jurisdiction.

The subsidiaries of the Company, Honour Label, Peak
Year, Shieldon and Catherine Holdings, which were
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, are not subject
to income tax as these subsidiaries do not have a place
of business (other than a registered office only) or carry
out any business in the British Virgin Islands.

LLeoch Battery Corp., incorporated in the United States,
is subject to corporate income tax in the United States.
The applicable federal corporate income tax rate is
26.55% (2023: 26.55%) on taxable income.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is based
on the statutory rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the
assessable profits of subsidiaries incorporated in Hong
Kong.

The Singapore authority approved the application of
LLeoch Battery Pte. for the Global Trader Programme on
24 May 2014 and it was renewed on 30 August 2019,
the effective period of which is from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2023. The provision for the current
income tax of Leoch Battery Pte. is based on the tax
rate of 17% for the year 2024 (2023: 10%).

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

1. FR15#8%

FEBBNAEERERDNEEMAAEE
PRENBN A EEEFTEL HBEANEN1RE
IR SR

RIEFR 28 SRR KRG R AT BEAER
ZElEEEEBNERFTSR

R TE A B R L B B s MR L A A B KB
‘A8 (BMHonour Label~Peak Year ~ Shieldon
Catherine) RERBRE L BB MR S M
Bh GERERRIN BB ERZETR > B
ZEW BN B EBRMPTEH

Leoch Battery Corp.J5it=BIEEMALIL » 7B
EREBMNEEFRSR - MERRETS
BERANEAEEMSRE226.55% (ZF
T =% 1 2655%) ©

BBNGRIN EBZMAR AN E AT
AVREERIREA ) > HOETEIRER1656% (TTE =
F 1165%) st

MINEERR _E—NEARB-+MA#
ERRZE—AFENB =+H&EHLeoch
Battery Pte. 5RIE2IKE Z st 8I0IERE
MEH—E—NF—HA—HEEZZT=F
+-B=+—HlE- R _ZE_IM&EELeoch
Battery Pte. BIEAPRISIRTLIZIETA17% (CTF
T = 1 10%) sHEEE
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

11.

INCOME TAX (continued)

The provision for PRC current income tax is based
on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC as determined
in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax
Law which was approved and became effective on 1
January 2008, except for certain subsidiaries of the
Group in the PRC which are taxed at preferential rates.

Jiangsu Leoch, Zhaoging Leoch Battery, Anhui Leoch
Power, Anhui Uplus and Anhui Leoch Energy were
designated as high-tech enterprises by the PRC tax
authorities and were entitled to a preferential tax rate of
15% for the year 2024.

Taihe Dahua, which engages in qualified recycling
businesses, is entitled to a 10% deduction of revenue
from manufacturing qualified products with main
qualified raw materials.

The major components of income tax charge for the
year are as follows:

1. FRISM (&)

SRAERRPENETHEARERBER
S EIRNERFR S I B T AR R P B 1R 25 PR
S (RTEEN\E-—F—HERERE
) AL BN PRI E A B P ERR
FLU2B%REEMR KRS H

R _E S IHET BEETER 2
HWIBETER RS R T R HIE LA
FETERFERRIASHEREE =
BEZMEMES15%-°

AMBAERFTEGEREWES I=EN
SREREERBEREMNEESERE®RP
FUERRI10%

FRPMSMAXNEZEME DN :

2024 2023
=g 11 = 3 —ET=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARETF T
Current — PRC BNHE— 33,406 25,283
Current — Hong Kong BNER—&H 1,866 929
Current — Singapore BPHR—FTh03% 66,508 52,479
Current — USA BPHE— =& 12,543 8,853
Current — Vietnam BNEA— R 35,236 (232)
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFEREBERR
(BBREE ) 11,396 (9,924)
Pillar Two income taxes — current tax* B HFTER—ENERRIE" 6,984 =
Deferred tax IRIETRIE (37,112 (1,370)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIES HAREE 130,827 76,018

*

* BRI IE S T E R AR -

The current tax expense mainly relates to Vietnam.
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11.INCOME TAX (continued) 11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions
in which the majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are
domiciled and/or operate to the tax expense at effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates
(i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

FRISH (&)

BANNBIARE DB AR MR, R
HEREERBRIEEMK A BNBRARKAT
EA IR IER S B B IR R St B IR
SHRIRMUARBRRE QUEAERE) HBEER
MERIHERINT

2024 2023
—FmE B
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR®TR % ARETFT %
Profit before tax Ma A 694,329 643,854
Tax at the applicable tax rates & ERAREAER
i"E| 132,825 19.1 115,620 18.0
Tax concession for ATWEABN
certain subsidiaries MEBEE (34,502) (5.0) (42,291) (6.6)
Additional deductible research  Z85NBT40 B %
and development expenses (553 (36,918) (5.3) (44,095) (6.8)
Income not subject to tax BAFREA (624) (0.1) (18,959) 2.9)
Expenses not deductible AR
for tax 12,191 1.8 15,931 2.5
Adjustments in respect BRI RN AR
of current tax of MIBIEH 2 A
previous periods 11,396 1.6 (9,924) (1.5)
Tax losses utilised from FRBFHE
previous periods RIEEE (6,184) (0.9) (3,627) (0.6)
Tax losses not recognised RHERIRIER S 52,643 7.6 63,363 9.7
Tax charge at the RERREAEN
effective rate MIEREY 130,827 18.8 76,018 11.8
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

11.

212

INCOME TAX (continued)
Pillar Two income taxes

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules. The Group has applied the mandatory exception
to recognising and disclosing information about
deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from Pillar
Two income taxes, and will account for the Pillar Two
income taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar Two
legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect as at 31 December 2024 in certain
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Group has assessed its potential exposure based
on the information available regarding the financial
performance of the Group in the current year. As
such, it may not be entirely representative of future
circumstances. Based on the assessment, the Group
should benefit from the transitional CbCR safe harbour
for most of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates except for Singapore. The Group is still in the
process of assessing the potential exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes. Potential exposure, if any, to Pillar
Two income taxes is currently not known or reasonably
estimable. The Group continues to follow Pillar Two
legislative developments, as more countries prepare
to enact the Pillar Two model rules, to evaluate the
potential future impact on its financial statements.
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BIHARRIBEARR - 5 — I AN AEEEE
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12.

13.

Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

DIVIDENDS 12. 12 B
2024 2023
—ENE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFT AR®ET T
Proposed final — HK7 cents BEARBA-SRTEWL
(2023: HK7 cents) per share CEZ=F 78 90,959 86,790

The proposed final dividend for the year of 2024 is
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,373,897,419
(2023: 1,362,202,493) outstanding during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the rights issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, adjusted to
reflect the interest on the convertible bonds, where
applicable (see below). The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

" NFEEERIREAGTAATRE
RIEERFBFREHIES IR

BRATEEEEDRA AR

LEREF

SREABHSENRGADEBERRT
EANBEFEERNRFERETEIINSBR
NAET 981,373,897, 41908 (C B =4 :
1,362,202,4930%) B A E > WAL= bR
FRHA-

EREERMNERI AR EEEDA
NEEAFEar) BEE > (EARER
BURREIRRESFE (R T30 < 5tHFT
AR EREKRMNEF B FEREITEINY
HERME G EEREXENFIAENR
@) URBRRREBABTHEDERSR
ERATE RS RS S BERFEEETHNESE
BBV 198
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31 December 2024
“EINE+ZA=+—H

18. BAFEBEEaFTA AR

13.EARNINGS PER SHARE =
EEREN (&)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT (continued)

are based on:

RERREEERRNTHRE T BIREE -

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ES9

2024 2023
“EME S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
Earnings &BF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BARstEsREARBN 2
holders of the parent, used in the basic BAREBERTEA
earnings per share calculations P& A 566,393 535,372
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESTE 11,450 10,017
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BRI ESF B Al
holders of the parent before interest BRABEEERITAE A
on convertible bonds e R A 577,843 545,389

Number of shares

bk 4=
2024 2023

Shares 4]
Weighted average number of ordinary ARtEsREARBRZ

shares outstanding during the year FRETTINNEBR

used in the basic earnings per share N8

calculation 1,373,897,419 1,362,202,493
Effect of dilution — weighted average e e - TERmE

number of ordinary shares: T8

Share options FERG A 24,560,157 30,971,108

Convertible bonds AR ES 60,000,000 60,000,000
Total wast 1,458,457,576 1,453,173,601
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31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% B K2 1E
EQUIPMENT

Plant and Tooling and Construction
Buildings machinery ~ Office equipment  Motor vehicles equipment in progress Total
e RERHS HAERE "E TARRHE HEIE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEFR AEBFR AEBTT AEBTR AEBTR AEEFT AEEFR

31 December 2024 ZZIRE+ZAZ1-R
Cost: A
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZZE+ZAZ+-BR

1 January 2024 “E_mE-E-H 1,425,822 3,467,347 78,092 60,786 314,136 422,631 5,768,814
Additions HE 54,678 182,223 6,751 6,180 11,163 571,447 832,442
Tensters 8% 54,431 61910 8 104 1,00 (680,723) (363,162)
Acquisiion rom subsiciaries (note 37) B EHBAT (H337) - 539 1,058 1,174 - = 21N
Disposals RE (3471 (28976) (1,019 (2,962 (1,001) - (37,434
Exchange realignment ERER 4,649 2,445 % 105 1212 (o4) 8411
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+-A=+-A 1,536,103 3,685,488 85,059 65,387 326,544 513,261 6,211,842
Accumulated depreciation and LHERAE:

impairment:
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=E+ZA=+-Bk

1 January 2024 ZEImE-B-3 (¢61,094) (1,995,673) (51,301) (¢5,782) (249,459) (1,569) (2804,876)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERTERE (81,149 (241,251) (7832 (6,817) (11,528) - (348,577)
Disposals EE 1,821 13,627 511 2489 856 - 19,370
Exchange realignment ERBE (1,757) (2491) (40) ™) & - (4,275)
At 31 December 2024 RIBCmE+ZA=+-H (42,179) (2225,768) (58,596) (50,181) 260047) (1,569) (3,138,360)
Net carying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+ZA=1-H 993,024 1,459,700 26,463 15,206 66,497 511,692 3,073,482
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31 December 2024
—EomE+=A=+—H

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Plant and

Buldings machinery
EES FERiEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

AT A\RETR

14. 9% - BEM&RE (&

Tooling and Construction
(Office equipment Motor vehicles equipment in progress Total
FRERE e TERF& IR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR AREFR ARHTR NRHT T

31 December 2023 ZECEEIREH-H
Cost: A
At 31 December 2022 and RIBZZEFZAZT-HR

1 January 2023 “E-ZE-FE-H 1,183,983 3,137,955 56,841 56,638 285,364 100,271 4,819,052
Additions HE 30,933 196,665 82171 3973 32,448 336,798 609,094
Tensters 8% 2012 16.962 3t 2 ! (19909
Acquisiion rom subsiciaries (note 37) B BHIBAT (H337) 223183 163489 14,29 4,165 - 5,544 410610
Disposdls RE (15,509 5223 591) 9%1) (4205 . (68.485)
Exchange realignment ERE% 956 2.501) 2% (49 185 ] (1.457)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-ZE+-A=1+-A 1425822 3,467,347 78,092 60,786 314,136 422,631 5,768,814
Accumulated depreciation and ReHTERAE .

impairment:
At 31 December 2022 and RIEZZE+ZA=+-BRk

1 Jancary 2023 ZE-c£-B-A {416,769) (1777699 {14,208 {#5,167) 43.854) (1569 2.520366)
Depreciation provided during the year  ERITERE (53,526) 251,233) (7,406) 2,503 8,701) - (323,369)
Disposals EE 10,137 33,159 138 18717 3212 - 48817
Exchange realignment ERBE (936) 100 (19 1 (116) - 960)
At 31 December 2023 RIBIZE+IR=+-H {461,094 (1,995,673 51.201) (#5769 249,450 (1569 804678
Nt carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=E+ZR=1-H 964,728 1,471,674 26,791 15,004 64,677 421,062 2,963,936

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
buildings and machinery with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB392,715,000 (2023:
RMB534,260,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group. For details
of the pledged assets, please refer to note 35 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTY

15. 1 B3

2024 2023
—E-mE —E:C=FE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
Cost: A
At beginning of the year F4] 561 561
Transfer from construction in progress BEBTETRE 363,161 -
At end of the year FR 363,722 561
Accumulated depreciation: RETITE -
At beginning of the year == (237) (227)
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE (10) (10)
At end of the year FR (247) (237)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZB=+—HBWEHEE 363,475 324

The Group’s investment property represents two (2023:
one) industrial properties in Mainland China which
was subsequently measured using the cost model.
The Directors have determined that the investment
properties are industrial property, based on the nature,
characteristics and risk of the property. The Group’s
investment property was revalued on 31 December
2024 based on the valuation made by the Group’s
finance team. The chief financial officer has reviewed
the valuation assumptions and valuation results once
a year when the valuation is performed for annual
financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to a third party under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 16 to the financial statements.

REENKREMERTREAENRE (T2
T=F A TEYE ZEYEHERE
FRAEE G E EFCRBREYENYE
B R EGECKREMES T EYZE-
FEECRBEAEEF BB K ELNGE -
B EE e N S _NE+_B=+—H%
B EETRMG  EEATER TR
SHEL A BEESF s bERR LG
BEfER

ZEREMERBECEHEREG—R%E=
7 E— TR BRI B RARM 16
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. 18 EY= (&)
(continued)
Fair value hierarchy AREEER
The following table illustrates the fair value TR AEBRENEN AN EETEE
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment R
property:

Fair value measurement

as at 31 December 2024 using
RIEZME+ZA=+—BNAABEFEFER

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

G IR EXTHE EBEAFIEZR

A R{E BWARE BAHE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B18) (%278) ($3E) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT ARETFT N

Industrial property TEME - - 460,879+ 460,879

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using
RZE=F+A-t+—HNARBEFEFH

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

B EXTRE EATIBRE
HIHRE WAHE WAHE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E1E) (52/8) (538) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR AREBT ARETT ARETT

Industrial property TEYE - - 14,236 14,236

* The fair value measurement of the industrial property * TEMENAAEBEBEE S THEHELTHNA
incorporates the fair value of the underlying land. NEE-

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value ERE—REAFE R B2 ANEES

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no EWEEE IEEBAZEBHE=HR(CZ

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). —=F o
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31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. 1REME (&
(continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RRBERER (&
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used LR AREYEEEFRANGERMTREE
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment WABEZBE
properties:
Significant
Description Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Unobservable inputs
fan fE B EXTOIBREBAYE BESMETIIH
2024 2023
“EmE ZTT=F
Plot of Daping Community Comparison method Market prices RMB1,277 RMB1,181
Residents Committee, per square meter per square meter
Tangxia Town, Dongguan City
REMBEREATHE A e STAK BFAK
ERZEGRMIR AR#1,2777% AR#1,1817T
Puxinhu Community Residents Comparison method Market prices RMB2,570 -
Committee, Tangxia Town, per square meter
Dongguan City
REMBEEESLNTE thEsE mE SEHK -
ERZEE AE#2,5707%
These properties are industrial in nature and are ZEYEBTEME REATERE
currently production and office premises, in line with the BEMEERRNERA

principle of highest and best use.

The fair value of the investment property is determined KEMEN LN ABERALLREAET %5
using the comparison method based on comparing the AR RN YIRS ISR ELWIEN
subject property with other comparable sales evidences Hh Al ELeR 2 S5 & /ReEETTIEE o BE
of similar properties in the local market. Comparable NABEZAFLER  FEREYERIEESR
properties of similar size, character and location are PURE R R I BN O & LY EET D
analysed and selected for the investment property in Mo nABESEEMBENEEZIEIER
order to arrive at a fair comparison of its fair value. The 4o

fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
market unit sale rate.
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

16.LEASES

220

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
property, plant and machinery and other equipment
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 46 to 50 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 2 and 9 years, while plant and
machinery generally have lease terms between 3 and
10 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms
of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
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16.LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

@

Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

16. 18
FEBEREEA @)

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

(%)

Right-of-use assets (@ FEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FRAEEFEHAREENREEBERE
assets and the movements during the year are as FERWT -
follows:
Leasehold Plant and
land Properties machinery Total
HELH ME  BREXRKS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®BTR ARETR ARETR
As at 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—H—H 211,381 27,553 92 239,026
Additions RE 5,538 26,449 - 31,987
Additions as a result of KERBABERRE
acquisition of subsidiaries 217,536 3,358 - 220,894
Depreciation charge NEER (6,313) (13,630) (48) (19,991)
Exchange realignment BRI (198) 795 @) 595
As at 31 December 2023and  ~ R-Z-=&
1 January 2024 -i- B=1+—Hk
_Z-mE—-B—H 427,944 44,525 42 472,511
Additions NE 1,996 57,967 - 59,963
Additions as a result of KRB AR ENAE
acquisition of subsidiaries = 2,949 = 2,949
Disposal i - (4,660) - (4,660)
Depreciation charge TEER (11,675) (23,750) (30) (35,455)
Exchange realignment ER AR (174) 3,516 - 3,342
As at 31 December 2024 RZE_ME
+-A=+—-H 418,091 80,547 12 498,650

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
prepaid land lease payments with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB106,252,000
(2023: RMB106,835,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.
For details of the pledged assets, please refer to
note 35 to the financial statements.

A ZETOFE+Z/A=1+—H &%EE
ETIREFELN A AR 106,252,0007T

(ZE2Z=% . AR%106,835,0007T)
HEM LA ERIBEIRIFIEAERE
EER—RIRTRE 2B R  CIREE
EF B AR HRRM 350
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

16.LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilites and the

16. 705 (#&)

b MHEER

FEEEREEAN (@)

HERENREERINEANNEEHN

movements during the year are as follows: IR
2024 2023
=g 11 = 3 “B=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARETF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—B—HNREE 47,142 29,171
New leases HEE 57,967 26,449
Additions as a result of acquisition ~ WEER B ABENARE
of subsidiaries 3,057 3,113
Accretion of interest recognised FABREEHN S IEHE
during the year 4,969 2,744
Payments (NEN (23,637) (14,938)
Early termination RERIE (4,892) =
Exchange realignment PE A 3,622 603
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-_A=+—HWEEE 88,228 47,142
Analysed into: S
Current portion TRENEL 22,802 14,254
Non-current portion JERBNZL 3 65,426 32,888

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements.

N EZAK
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16.LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

16. 705 (#&)

FEBEREEA @)

) KEmAERIIEE BT ENT -

2024 2023
“EME ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHN S 4,969 2,744
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RS EITEER
assets 35,455 19,991
Expense relating to short-term leases E25EHATAE A RIS
(included in cost of sales, selling, Gt ATHE A~ THE
administrative expenses and TR EDHEES)
distribution expenses) 27,538 33,662
Total amount recognised in RB@m ARSI
profit or loss 67,962 56,397

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases and future cash
outflows relating to leases that have not yet
commenced are disclosed in notes 34(c) to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its production and office premises
consisting of eight production premises and four
office premises under operating lease arrangements
(2023: three production premises and fifteen office
premises). The terms of the leases generally also
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB5,111,000
(2023: RMB3,290,000), details of which are included in
note 5 to the financial statements.

(@ FHERIRS R ABEE R A 1M KA
FAEAEBNRKRIBSRAN BRI
|FRME34(C) ©

FEBEALHEA

AEBRELSESHEZHHBELEERE
R AEYE BEN\BEEREREE
WMAEYECEI=F: :1!5*1*%&
+HBEMWAEYZ) - ZEHEERRARIN

K P Z AR ZE T RERT FE/RLHE
AR S RE - F AL B EMBIEE KA
AARME5111,000T (CTEZ=F: AR
3,290,0007T) * s¥ 1B &I B B R R M 5E5
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31 December 2024
“EINE+ZA=+—H

16.LEASES (continued)

224

16. 705 (#&)

The Group as a lessor (continued) TEBEALEAN (B
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease A_E_ME+"_A=+—H ' BB LxEER
payments receivable by the Group in future periods RIEEEMR P~ KRS H SRR E
under operating leases with its tenants are as follows: RS I
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRE ARBTT

Within one year —FR 17,564 1,038
After one year but within two years —F Y EEMEMUR 15,716 1,005
After two years but within three years MEM EEB=FMUA 15,725 1,002
After three years but within four years —FEMU EENEMR 15,850 1,000
After four years but within five years WEM EERFEMUA 15,167 1,000
After five years EEME 51,756 5,551
Total st 131,778 10,596
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31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

5
17.GOODWILL 17. 88
RMB’000
AR® T

Cost and net carrying amount: A K BR TR (E
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of N TEZ=F—HF—BMmE

accumulated impairment MR R RE 2,405
Impairment during the year FENRE -
Cost and net carrying amount at BAEARKN _E_=F+_HA=+—H

31 December 2023 FEREFE 2,405
At 31 December 2023: A ZE_=¢+"HA=+—8H:
Cost B 10,828
Accumulated impairment KEtRE (8,423)
Net carrying amount BREEE 2,405
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RIZEZWNE—A—HmE

accumulated impairment MR ERE 2,405
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37) WiE—RM B A B (FsE37) 1,306
Impairment during the year FNRIE -
Cost and net carrying amount at BARKR S _NME+_F=+—H

31 December 2024 BIRRE R E 3,711
At 31 December 2024: A EFE+"B=+—H":
Cost %N 12,134
Accumulated impairment RKETRE (8,423)
Net carrying amount ERENEE 3,711
Impairment testing of goodwill 2R ENE
Goodwill acquired through business combinations FHRERSHKENEEESKESBERE
is allocated to the respective cash-generating units ELEU (MREELEA) ERE -

(“CGUSs”) for impairment testing.
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

17.

226

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
(continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to
CGUs as follows:

17. 52

(&)
BERENE @

DECERTETBEUZHEREEBENT

2024 2023

—EME B =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTFT
Energymax Energymax 237 237
Taihe Dahua RANFRAZEE 39 39
LBUK LBUK 1,937 1,937
IBERIA IBERIA 192 192

Yuasa Battery (Guangdong) BRZEEEMNHERAT

Company Limited 1,306 -
Total wast 3,711 2,405

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior
management.

The key assumptions adopted on the growth rate and
discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management’s best estimates. The
terminal growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%) is determined by
considering both internal and external factors relating to
the CGUs. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections are 15% (2023: 15%) for Energymax, 15%
(2023: 16%) for Taihe Dahua, 11% (2023: 11%) for
LBUK, 14% for IBERIA (2023: 14%) and 15% for Yuasa
Battery (Guangdong) Company Limited.

Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of goodwill is based would not
cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed its
recoverable amount.
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18.0THER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

18. HthiE B &

Deferred
Computer  development Customer
software costs relationship Licence Trademark Total
Blk#t EERZERE EEH% [d [ EEH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT  ARBTR ARETT ARETn ARETR  ARETR
31 December 2024 “ETME+-R=1+-A
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RIE-ME-B—HAK
accumulated amortisation B TR R 58 18,517 743,204 13,284 41,085 6,494 822,674
Additions HE 266 256,201 - - - 256,467
Acquisition of subsicliaries (note 37)  WKEENIB/AE) (i5£37) 368 - - - - 368
Amortisation provided during the year ER#SH R (4,056) (259,903) (2,615) (10,813) (4,023) (281,410)
Exchange realignment ERHE - - 2 - - 2
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+-B=+-H 15,094 739,502 10,692 30,272 2471 798,121
At 31 December 2024: RIZZMFE+ZA=1+—8:
Cost [imS 43,442 2,172,072 24,058 108,126 26,154 2,373,852
Accumulated amortisation RiHE (28,348) (1,432,480) (13,366) (77,854) (23,683) (1,575,731)
Net carrying amount REFE 15,004 739,592 10,692 30,272 2471 798,121
31 December 2023 _E--E+”RA=1-H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of RZE_=F—-RA—HN
accumulated amortisation BA MR R HEH 6,943 707,412 14,673 47573 6,640 783,241
Additions RE 14,334 261,028 - - - 275,362
Acquisition of subsicliaries (note 37)  WKEEKIB/AE) (i5£37) 1,402 = = = = 1,402
Amortisation provided during the year ER# SRt (4,167) (225,146) (1853) (6,488) (146) (237,800)
Exchange realignment ERHE 5 - 464 - - 469
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+"B=1+-H 18,517 743,204 13,284 41,085 6,494 822,674
At 31 December 2023; RIBZ=F+"B=+—-H:
Cost Bk 42,809 1,915,871 24,003 108,126 26,154 2,116,963
Acoumulated amortisation Kt (24,292) (1,172,577) (10,719) (67,041) (19,660) (1,294,289
Net carrying amount REFE 18,617 743,294 13,284 41,085 6,494 822,674
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—EomE+-A=+—H

19.

228

EQUITY INVESTMENTS 19. f5ER AR BEEFHF A
DESIGNATED AT FAIR HithemEmImmER TR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER B
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2024 2023
—E_MEF —ET=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Equity investments designated at EERANBEEHA

fair value through other HittemWmp =t

comprehensive income: SE

Unlisted equity investments, FFrmEEMRE

at fair value BAREE 1,393 11,967

The above equity investments were irrevocably HRAEBRAZSEREBRBERE E
designated at fair value through other comprehensive IR BN tIEE R AN EBEE
income as the Group considers these investments to FEt AEMEEWE -

be strategic in nature.
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20.INVENTORIES

Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EmE BT
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARBTT

Raw materials E 877,183 765,176
Work in progress TE&S 1,345,963 895,422
Finished goods B AY 1,142,083 1,088,122
Total 4Ect 3,365,229 2,748,720

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
inventories with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB49,500,000 (2023: RMB100,000,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group. For details of the pledged inventories,
please refer to note 35 to the financial statements.

ATETME+_B=+—H > AEEKRE
BEMN A RBE49,500,0007 (CEZ=F: A
K #£100,000,00070) 2 & TFEEEIRFES
AEBMER —RIRTHENEF - BREEE
HEENES A2 EE350
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—EomE+-A=+—H

21

230

. TRADE RECEIVABLES

21. B R EW RIS

2024 2023

—E_MmEFE —EI=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AR¥T T

Trade receivables & 5 EWEIE 3,836,188 3,320,369
Impairment BE (131,910) (73,128)

Net carrying amount BREFE 3,704,278 3,247,241

The Group grants different credit periods to its
customers. Credit periods for individual customers are
considered on a case-by-case basis. Certain customers
are required to make partial payments before or upon
delivery. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables and closely monitors them
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. Trade receivables of
RMB1,328,531,000 (2023: RMB995,565,000) were
under short term credit insurance and RMB59,357,000
(2023: RMB59,352,000) were under letters of credit.
In addition, the Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged certain
trade receivables amounting to RMB611,395,000
(2023: RMB410,880,000) to banks with recourse
in exchange for cash (note 35). The proceeds from
pledging the trade receivables of RMB533,759,000
(2023: RMB327,160,000) were accounted for as
collateralised bank advances until the trade receivables
were collected or the Group made good of any losses
incurred by the banks. The details of the transfer of
factored trade receivables are included in note 42 to the
financial statements.
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21.TRADE RECEIVABLES

(continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 based on the invoice date,

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

1. B 5 BRI (&)

RIBNER-E_=F+"HF=+—H
B ZRUFIERE A (ORBEER 1

net of loss allowance, is as follows:

BRECOATENT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREF T

Within 3 months 3EHAA 2,801,303 2,569,245
3 to 6 months 3ZE61E B 604,697 469,362
6 to 12 months 6E12EH 187,548 164,491
110 2 years 15824 93,650 30,152
Over 2 years 2FEL E 17,080 13,991
Total 4Bt 3,704,278 3,247,241

Movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

B 5 RIRIRER B R R HRNEEE TN

trade receivables are as follows: S G

2024 2023
—EMF —E2EC=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETF T
At beginning of year REH) 73,128 81,772

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses, JE{EE1E, G EEE]) »
net (note 6) &8 (F5E6) 58,782 (4,134)
Amount written off as uncollectible WEE A rTUg Bl & 58 - (4,510)
At end of year REXR 131,910 73,128

The increase of RMB58,782,000 (2023: decrease of

EEEEIE NN A R 1558,782,0007T (CE =

RMB8,644,000) in the loss allowance was due to the
increase in trade receivables which were past due for
over 12 months.

F DR AR 158,644,0007T) TH R AR IE
12185 B9 & 5 FEUGRIRIEINPRE ©
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21.

232

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. BZRIKFIE (&
(continued)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting RERESHALRBEEEEETRESD
date using a provision matrix to measure expected Mo UGt EFRAEERB - BEXTLERE
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days ARG EREANZER LD EETY
past due for groupings of various customer segments A EIEFRENAIRRERFZHEMEE
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and R XN RIESLE) MARNE#E -
rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other Zt B RN AER R ERIR
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects EHHAAENERBEEE Y ERE G RE
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of REEFEGTFEANSEBERAFER c—iRM
money and reasonable and supportable information = B EWFUEINAAAEE —0 B #miad)
that is available at the reporting date about past events, BT TENRIT LAES o
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TR AEBFEBEREEEENESRE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a WRIENEERMRER
provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2024 RIEZWFE+"R=+—8
Current Past due Total
BP#A el st
Customers Customers
with credit Ordinary with credit Ordinary
enhancement  customers enhancement  customers
EERA FERA
MER LEER WER LEEFR
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.62% 1.79% 20.57% 100.00% 3.44%
Gross carrying amount REQRE
(RMB'000) (NREFT) 3,144,713 476,745 139,397 75,333 3,836,188
Expected credit losses BHEEEE
(RMB'000) NS0 19,386 8,524 28,667 75,333 131,910
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22.

Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The balances as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023 represent bills receivable held by
the Group which were measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, since the bills receivable
were held within the business model whose objective
was achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling the financial assets, and the contractual
cash flows were solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

.TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. BEZRIKHIE (&)
(continued)
As at 31 December 2023 B =F+"_FA=+—H
Current Past due Total
0l bt 4t
Customers Customers
with credit Ordinary with credit Ordinary
enhancement customers  enhancement customers
BEERA EERH
MER LERR HER BERF
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHEXE 0.34% 1.20% 25.35% 100.00% 2.20%
Gross carrying amount AREAE
(RMB'000) NS 2,610,401 608,858 59,133 41,977 3,320,369
Expected credit losses BHEEHE
(RMB’000) (NEEF ) 8,830 7,331 14,990 41,977 73,128
7 44 =
DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR 2. A BEES T AEM

EHW@mNREHRE

TR CEFEFA=tT—ARTE=

+TTRA=+—HNEHREESERFENR
AEEZFH T AHMEE W @mIEREES

FRRBERREBEE R AR BBNIR SRS
MERLESREESBNNBHERATE
B MamRERnERANEIEARER
KBRS -
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

22.DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR

234

VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(continued)

The ageing analysis of bills receivable presented
based on the issue date at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 is as follows:

22 AN BEL I T A M
EEBmNVEHRE @)

R_ENE+"A=+—AATET=F
—f— B=+—RB#%%ETRB2IZRKRRE

IR OMIT -
2024 2023
—ENEF —ET=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETT

Within 3 months 3MEA R 123,169 148,854
3 to 6 months 3E6(E A 36,590 32,368
6 to 12 months 6ZE12EH 1,407 8,036
Total 4Bt 161,166 189,258

The net gain on changes in the fair value of the debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounting to RMB461,000 (2023: net loss
RMB9,000) was recognised in the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income during the
year.
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31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

=+ =+
23.PREPAYMENTS, OTHER 23. FAfdIE s Ht IR IE K&
=5
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER HthEE
ASSETS
2024 2023
—E-ME —EI=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREEF T
Prepayments SEENE ] 356,931 341,296
Deposits and other receivables Sl REMEWERIE 297,357 279,255
Interest receivables FE U F B 5,294 6,066
Loans to employees BEEFHNER 3,758 4,400
663,340 631,017
The financial assets included in the above balances SR EIEN M E ERY EITHRE
relate to receivables for which there was no recent Nt AR EEMNEWTIBERR - N
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 THERIBEI=F+IA=+—H & &
December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was EfhstEEEEER

assessed to be minimal.
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

24.

236

FINANCIAL ASSETS/
LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24 BARBEEH ABD
NEMEE AR

2024
“E-ME
Assets Liabilities
BE afiE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥T
CURRENT REh
Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ _EHEZMRE W AREE 68 -
Commodity future and option contracts, 7 RElE RHAES 4
at fair value BAREE 476 -
Other unlisted investment, at fair value ~EIE EHRE WA REBE 23,436 =
Put option, at fair value SUhERRE R EE - 10,371
Total 4BEt 23,980 10,371
NON-CURRENT JETRED
Unlisted investments, at fair value ELTRE BAREE 306,461 -
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24.FINANCIAL ASSETS/

LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

31 December 2024
—EoME+=ZA=+—H

24 A A BES T A

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

NEREE 8E (@)

(continued)
2023
_=EC=F
Assets Liabilities
BE =K
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARF T AREF T
CURRENT i)
Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ _EHH#EHFMERE  RANEE 76 =
Commaodity future and option contracts, & mHIE REAES4]
at fair value BAREE 1,078 =
Other unlisted investment, at fair value ~HIE LK E AN EBE 24,206 =
Put option, at fair value SULER B AREBE - 10,340
Total 4EEt 25,360 10,340
NON-CURRENT JEREN
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELERRE  BAREE 303,219 =
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

24.

238

FINANCIAL ASSETS/
LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

The above listed equity investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
they were held for trading.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity future and option contracts, to manage
the lead price fluctuation risk, which did not meet the
criteria for hedge accounting and are measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

The above other unlisted investment was the right to
receive the proceeds from future sales of the properties.
It was mandatorily classified as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows
are not solely payments of principal and interest.

The above unlisted investments were fund investments

that have defined investment period and there is
contractual obligation to distribute.
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31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

25.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

25. IR F& KR 1T 45 BR A B B B

=+,
AND TIME DEPOSITS EZA
2024 2023
“ENE ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Cash and bank balances Be K IB1T4S R 743,975 1,563,343
Time deposits EHITERR 662,028 965,767
Subtotal /INEF 1,406,003 2,529,110
Less: Pledged for interest-bearing A ERLEtERITEEER
bank borrowings (45,104) (25,766)
Pledged for bills payable B EN ERE (326,764) (597,220)
Pledged for letters of credit EERAREER (290,160) (342,781)
Subtotal INE (662,028) (965,767)
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRSEEY 743,975 1,563,343
Denominated in RMB MARSE 1,120,592 1,825,346
Denominated in US$ ETEHE 158,505 205,911
Denominated in HK$ MUABITEHE 61,391 382,622
Denominated in Indian Rupee HENEELLEHE 11,233 11,324
Denominated in Euro (‘EUR”) ek (TER7Tl) 5H1E 11,190 56,371
Denominated in Singapore Dollar (‘SG$”) LNk cstE (T#rTl) 7,657 1,082
Denominated in THB MU#kstE 7,651 7,646
Denominated in Malaysian Dollar (‘MYR”) LU ERFALRSE
(TBRAEELH) 5HE 7,046 8,594
Denominated in GBP DIEEE 6,729 9,070
Denominated in Sri Lankan Rupee VBB FELLLEHE 5,106 5,190
Denominated in Vietnam Dollar L EstE 4,886 3,991
Denominated in Australian Dollar (‘AU$”)  LURTT (FG&7T)) 5HE 2,919 11,881
Denominated in MXN M EBEHRRE 1,001 =
Denominated in JPY HESE 97 82
1,406,003 2,529,110
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

25.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

AND TIME DEPOSITS
(continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

25. IR F KR 1T4EBR A B B B

7 (&)

ARG EHRIAEING 28T RIBF
[ A S I G ' T AR 1 e 4 B ~ R PR e A BB
BIRE  AEREMERBEERTEAR
B IR IMB LUETTINEZE RS

FRIRTRIRSIZRE B IRTTERAIRATE)
BERBEEF R AERERZFERHAR—
BE=ZERA % RYEERZERFREE
RME & BIRERFERA RN B iR
TR ERE R T s i B 15
BRFAVIRTT -

26.TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

26. B 5 R RIA R BT R 5

2024 2023

—E-mE —=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR®ET T
Trade payables B ENIE 1,187,451 1,054,764
Bills payable FEAT ZE 1,415,586 1,949,228
Total #ast 2,603,037 3,003,992
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26.TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

(continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

26. & 5 B TRIE K B 1 4R

(43)

RIREIR > BREARBRE RIERE
FEHHARERRE AT ¢

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREF T

Within 3 months 3EHAA 1,248,762 1,624,793
3 to 6 months 3ZE61E B 903,190 784,223
6 to 12 months 6ZE12EH 423,338 572,495
110 2 years 15824 19,660 13,628
2 to 3 years 2E3F 4,314 5,937
Over 3 years BiB3E 3,773 2,916
Total st 2,603,037 3,003,992

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and
are normally settled on 90-day terms. All the bills
payable have maturity dates within 365 days. As
at 31 December 2024, bills payable amounting to
RMB759,932,000 (2023: RMB698,900,000) were
issued on intercompany sales transactions within the
Group and these bills were discounted to banks for
short term financing.

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s bills
payable were secured by the pledge of certain of the
Group’s time deposits amounting to RMB326,764,000
(2023: RMB597,220,000) (note 35).

B ENRIBATRE  B—MRAEMNOH
WA RN RIEHER3658 N EIff -
R_E_WNE+_"_B=+—H ' KEEH
EERARBETHNHERZETEEES
ARM759,932,0007t (ZEZ=4F : AR
698,900,0007T) MIFE T 24k > B ERRAL
RFRITIEIGHARE ©

N ZEINF+ZA=+—B xEEET
FEN RIBEUAREE SRR AR 326,764,000
7T (T2 =% : AR¥597,220,0007T) B9%&
TFEREMERERR (I5E35) o
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

27.0THER PAYABLES AND

242

27. Hith B RIB K Bt E A

ACCRUALS
2024 2023
“EME ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AREF T
Provision for social insurance HERE MR REH B E
and retirement benefits 169,437 203,559
Contract liabilities BREE @) 281,795 303,500
Accrued expenses FEsth 117,711 120,758
Accrued payroll fEET T & 100,454 152,332
Payables for purchase of items ~ EBE¥% - BEKRRE
of property, plant and THE B RIE
equipment 13,907 151,573
Provision for product warranties 7 fR1E & B 53,156 23,486
Tax payables other than current  FE{HF318 (BENHBFR1SHR
income tax liabilities B1ERIN 72,256 76,404
Payables to non-controlling FETIEIERR IR BB R = AR
shareholders and senior BIEE 2B
management 28,000 98,500
Payables for acquisition of USSR BB A Bl RS FRIE
subsidiaries 38,516 131,824
Provision B 15 (o) 66,117 73,882
Others Hih (©) 153,422 140,208
Total ik 1,094,771 1,476,026
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27.0THER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

27. TR IE R Bt &
(#&)

M -

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ BRESHEEFBOT:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—EZWE “SI=fF “2T=F
+ZB=+—H +ZB=+—H —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBFR AREFTT

Short-term advances received from customers B U E 7 55 BH# =

Sale of goods HEGY 281,795 303,500 284,339

Contract liabilities are short-term advances received to
deliver industrial products. The decrease (2023: increase)
in contract liabilities was mainly due to the decrease
(2028:increase) in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of goods at the end of
the year.

The provision of RMB81,012,000 was recognised at
the acquisition date of the acquiree Tianjin GS Battery
Company Limited and Tianjin Juli Material Technology Co.,
Ltd. The provision is related to discharging the obligations
to remediate pollution made over certain production plant
locations. During the year, the contingent liability has been
utilised RMB7,765,000. At the end of the reporting period,
it has been decreased to RMB66,117,000.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

BHEEAMXNIXERBEKRZEHR
HMoBHBERL CEZI=6F#m x=E
AR HMERERHECKRERNEPER
B (CEZ=4F ) A

RUWERERES R EFELENERAT &
KEBRNMEREARATZ B BREE
ANE#81,012,0007T © ZE LR IR B E
BHETEEREMEMELRNSTRER-
FR> AEEEFEAAR?,765,0007T ©
REREEIR > HERZE AR66,117,0007T

HMEARIBEARE > BX 8 EEENER
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28.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 28.:tEfR{TREMMES
OTHER BORROWINGS

244

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
ZSIREHZAZ-B TRTZFEHCAZH-A
Effective Effective
interest Interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB000 rle (%) Matuty RVB000
BRRIE () i ARBTR BEHZY) El NS
Current ki
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured HEROER BER 310t07.98 2025 760,600 25610845 2024 1,061,986
HIBOR+2.75 - Jak 43 HIBOR+2.75 Z3IpE
310798 2562845
HIBOR+2.75 HBOR+2.75
Collateralised bank advances, secured BHRRTEN BHA 20110500 2025 533,759 23210500 2024 327,160
2012500 - Jak 43 232500 Z3IpE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, guaranteed HERAEE BER 2000 7.69 2025 2,446,946 20010837 204 2,005,625
HIBOR+3 ZECRE HBOR+3 —ZTmE
200%7.69 2002837
HIBOR+3 HBOR+3
Current portion of long term bank borrowings, REGORERBDD FER HIBOR+ 2025 264016 HBOR+ 2024 106423
Quaranteed Applicable ZECRE Applicable —ZTmE
margin margin
HIBORHEAE % HBOR:ERE £
Total - current it 4,005,321 3,501,194
Non-curent it
Interest-bearing bank borowings, secured HERAEE AR 33010830 2026-2038 487451 33010830 20252038 283266
3.30%8.30 ZECREER 330%830 “ECRER
ZES)\E Z3D)\E
Interest-bearing bank borowings, quaranteed  StEEFEE BER 2,00 10 9.60 2026-2021 280,887 20010960 2005-20% 69,840
200960 v 33 2002960 “BCREE
it Jal 3 Z3IRE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, guaranteed SHEEAHEE BRER HIBOR+ 20% 7812 HBOR+ 2005-2026 603,063
Applicable v Applicable “ECRER
margin margin ZBIRE
HIBORHEAE % HBOR:ZRS %
Subtotal - non-current at-3ERE 1,116,210 956,169
Convertiole bonds TERES 1811 2026 68,960 1811 2025-2026 61,182
- S a2
v
Total - non-curent Fr-FRE 1,185,170 1,017,301
Total ozt 5,190,491 451843
Denominated in AMB NARHHE 3,088,873 3035419
Denominated in USS MWemstE 650,708 809511
Denominated in HKS WatE 503,586 602,634
Denominated in SG3 MifatE 9,34 9,694
Denominated in MYR LERAGLEHE 37,248 3134
Denomineted in EUR MRt E 1% 897
Denominated in THB PE S - U
Denominated in JPY MEEHE - 17,172
5,190,491 451849
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28.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 28.

OTHER BORROWINGS

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

(continued)
Analysed into: DT
2024 2023
—_EMF B =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
Bank loans and advances repayable: AR THREEN
IRITEMNRBR
Within one year —FR 4,005,321 3,501,194
In the second year F_F 468,276 405,190
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEZEEFRE
BEEEME 663,333 438,111
Beyond five years AFE 53,561 174,000
Total Aast 5,190,491 4,518,495

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured by the
following pledge or guarantees:

()  Pledge of the Group’s assets with a total value of
RMB1,204,966,000 (2023: RMB1,177,741,000)
for the bank borrowings as disclosed in note 35.

(i)  Cross guarantees executed by companies within
the Group.

FEBRRITEE U T R E R RIFR
il

0) a’tfﬁmﬁ‘ﬂﬂkﬁg EEEARE
1,204,966,0007c (ZE_=F : AR
1,177,741,00070) WEEEHEER 1t
MIEE35INER) ©

i) AEBERRBETAERRER
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

28.

246

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Under a loan facility agreement (the “Facility
Agreement”) dated 24 April 2023 and entered into
by the Company as borrower in relation to a term loan
facility of US$70,375,000 and HK$231,075,000 made
available to the Group, there are specific performance
obligations on Dr. Dong Li, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, not to cease to own, directly or
indirectly, at least 51% of the beneficial interest in the
Company, carrying at least 51% of the voting right, free
from any security. Further, Dr. Dong Li shall not cease to
have management control over the Company or cease
to be the Chairman of the board of directors of the
Company. At the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, such obligations have been complied with.

Several of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries
were parties who act as guarantors, and the entire
equity interests in two wholly-owned subsidiaries were
pledged, to guarantee punctual performance of the
Group’s obligations under the Facility Agreement.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding term loan
balance under the New Facility Agreement amounting
to US$59,819,000 and HKD196,414,000 (total
equivalent to RMB611,888,000), which is repayable
within three year. The term loan bears interest at
HIBOR+Applicable margin per annum.
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RIBAQE] ((EAERA) RZEZ=FM@
B+ BEmmAEE R #70,375,000% T
&%ummm%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁm
EXmEzE (REWHE) EBHNE
£ BES1E L (Z!&’AE%J&E;% TR IE
A (BRIER ARRAEDSI%NEmE
m TEDS1%IEER) (RHMERIIETF) o
s EFE T A ERIEBEE A RBNERE
TR IHERABINEETEEFE -t
EZEHE_ T _NE+_-_A=+—HILt
FEFEMBRRBE BRETEREIE
T_'—o

TRARETEENBARIERERA—TT
WA WEEENBARNEHREFRE
B ERAEREREITREWRE TS
Fo

RIZEZMF+Z“A=+—H8 ®HEH=E
ETNHREETHER4ER259,819,000
EIT&196,414,0008 7T (GEHEERARE
611,888,0007T) @ BN = FRELE - THIE™
SEHHBORHBEREEStB o
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29.CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 9 January 2023, the Company issued unlisted
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) in principal
amount of HK$91,800,000, carrying interest at the rate
of 5.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears,

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

29. A A G 1E

RIZBZ=ZF—ANB > ARTHTEEER
#391,800,00078 i F HFK5.5%5t 8 > IS
BHFEM WRIE Z T RFERRIF L
MR RS ((ARRRE) - SHEERT

and will mature in 2026. The offering price was at 100% IR IR AR EER100% ©

of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes.

The fair value of the liability component was estimated BEIRD 2 AMNMBETHE R EEIRRE 2 F8{0L
at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest B FRIMISBFNEEZEITHE T LU AT
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The FIGRBRES SRR Sl M 5T AN B M B ©

residual amount is assigned as the equity component
and is included in shareholders’ equity.

The convertible bonds issued in 2023 have been split P8 =F BT RRES DO AR
into the liability and equity components as follows: BEED MERE AU -

RMB’000
ARBTT
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued in 2023 N TE T ZFBTH
PR ESEE 80,262
Equity component HmI (26,623)
Liability component at the issuance date RETHENEES D 53,639
Interest expense M EREX 10,055
Interest paid BFE (4,581)
Exchange realignment e 2,019
Liability component at 31 December 2023 ’\\:g:_fﬁ—l— A=+—H
HE &I 61,132
Interest expense MEMXZ 11,565
Interest paid BAFE (4,649)
Exchange realignment FE R aEEE 912
Liability component at 31 December 2024 A ZEZMF+ZA=+—H
NaEIs 68,960
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31 December 2024
—EomE+ZA=+—H

30.DEFERRED TAX

30. iEIEFRIE

FRELERBEEREBNESHERNT

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Change in fair Change in
Depreciation value of debt fair value of
and investments financial
Provisionfor ~ impairment at fair value liabilities
impairment  of property, through other Unpaid  Provision for Deferred  at fair value
of trade plant and comprehensive payrolland  impairment of Unrealised ~ government through Lease
receivables equipment Tax losses income accruals inventories profit grants  profit or loss liabilities Total
DEE MEE
LN 2834
HEHE Aft2E BhnER
EREN  RRGRE izt *IE i3 BRHAR
RERESE Kt el BHRE  RMEHER AERR  AEREN  DUBRER BE2e U &3t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB100
AEETR  ARBTR  ABMTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ABMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ABETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=£-5-H 19,381 1,012 127 334 11432 6,061 14,821 6,944 1 6,206 49
Defered tax credited(charged to the statement Mt/ (IR E) BRZIMELHE
of proft o loss during the year (6.455) (329) 906 - 1,363 217 (2,988) 2,666 (109) 3212 3
Deferred tax credied o otner comprenensie. — FRETAZ M2 ANENELRE
income during the year - - - 2 - - - - - - 2
(Gross defored tax assets at 31 December 2023 ~FZ=£+ZA=1-BH
ELHEERLE 12,926 687 1213 3% 12785 8,178 11,833 9610 (108) 9418 7%
Defered tax credited(charged to the statement  E/tA/ (IR E) BREH
of proft or loss during the year gitiE 10474 (328) 778 - 9%67) 752 2989 281 108 719 20,089
Deferred tax charged to other compretiensive. ST AE M2 ENER
ncome dlurng the year A - - - [115) - - - - - - 115)
(Gross defored tax assets at 31 December 2024 ~F-MEFTZA=1-HH
BLHEERLE 23400 31 11385 2 11818 16,702 14822 12481 - 16,612 106,772
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30.DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

31 December 2024

“ECNE+"HA=+—H

30. IRIETR IR (#8)

Change in fair

EIERIBERE

value of equity Change in fair
investments value of
designated Fair value financial
atfairvalue  adjustments assets
Capitalised  through other  arising from at fair value
interest  comprehensive  acquisition of through  Right-of-use
expense income  subsidiaries  profit or loss assets Others Total
EREAR
BEZHHA
Eth2EkE NEEEE
MG E WEEHE HABER
BEKEH HAREE NFEEZ SHEEN
GEL: 28 QNABEEE  AABEED EREEE 2t ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT NRETR NEETT NRETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At1 January 2023 AZET-E-F-f 1,248 (39%6) 16,022 36,472 6,200 10,834 70,386
Deferred tax charged/{crecltec] to the statement of EREA/ (MBE) BRRNETRE
proftt or loss during the year (1,248 - (2.402) (2925) 2,624 2,958 (993
Deferted tax crecfted to other comprehensive income ~ ERE AR M2 ERBETRE
during the year - (4] - - - - @]
Acquistion of subsiciaries (note 37) WEEKBAR (Hizka7) - - 3727 - - - 3727
Exchange realignment ERBE - - 453 - - - 453
(Gross deferred tax fabiltes at 31 Decemboer 2023 ZECSEHIAZ-AN
BEREEELE = (400) 52,800 33547 8830 13,792 108,569
Deferred tax charged/{credltec] to the statement of EREA/ (RE) BRRY
proft or loss during the year FLHE - - 3,50) (15,617) 6,701 4398 (8,023
Deferred tax crecited to other comprehensive income MG AR M2 ERRNELRE
during the year - 2 - - - - 2
Acquisiton of subsidiares (note 37) WEEMBAR (Hzk7) - = (767) S S S (767)
Exchange realignment ERE% - - 305 - - - 305
(Gross deferred tax fiabiltes at 31 December 2024 ZETMETZR=1-HM
EIREEELE - 402) 48,833 17,930 15,531 18,190 100,082
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

30.

250

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of
the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

30.

IRIEIRTE (42
BIEMIREE (&)
R2IITMS » B FEERAEER BB

AR RIREE - U T A A EB MM BRE
BRZ EIEFRIRAEER DA

2024 2023
—E-mE —F=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in P S BRI R R FESR
the consolidated statement of financial B IEE E B E
position 91,241 68,968
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RAZ SRR R RIESR >
the consolidated statement of financial IR IE & (& 528
position (84,551) (99,739)
6,690 (80,771)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB969,833,000 (2023: RMB806,620,000) that will
expire in five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the
Group.
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FEBRFRAEEENRBEBEEAR
#969,833,0007c (ZEZ=F : AR¥
806,620,0007T) * &R A B F A AT
RERFERIR HH - AN ZFRBRTVAERIE
—EREF BB B A RIFTEL - U E LR
SDIELEMIBEE > MBS TP B A FEER
M Pl S EN AR TR TR RS 1R R

FEBBRE P REARERIIAINEARME
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30.DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30.

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the
Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB1,119,144,000 (2023:
RMB959,999,000).

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

EIERRIA ()
IEERIE S & ()

RIZ-WNE+ZRB=+—H  LERE
&= B 7 7 B AR Bl 32 R B /BB 2 B Y AR B
BF] (ARMTENR) BARMNREDE
JERRIB - BEERA A FMBARERRR
RAKFIBED BN - T NE+—H

=+—H8 BRPEAENRBATNRES
R LIRS E IR TR B RS R £

FEAEZE S HA A AR KE1,119,144,0007T (—
=~ =1 . AR #959,999,0007T) °

31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. iRz
Shares Bz 1R
2024 2023
—E-ME ===
Authorised: JERE -
10,000,000,000 (31 December 2023:  10,000,000,000 (Z&E ==
10,000,000,000) ordinary shares of +=ZBA=+—8":
HK$0.1 each (HK$'000) 10,000,000,000) P& A%
EEO. 178 TTH @R
(F#E7) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETAEE
1,382,418,166 (2023: 1,365,990,666) 1,382,418,16688 (ZE =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 1,365,990,6668%) =A%
(HK$’000) EEO. 178 TTH @A
(F#7m) 138,241 136,599
Equivalent to RMB’000 MERARETT 118,469 116,971
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

31

252

.SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 31. &7 (42

Shares (continued) B&1n (48)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share KRB RGN T -
capital is as follows:
Number of
shares in
issue  Share capital
BE817
v 4=] fgzs
Note RMB’000
B EE ARETT
At 1 January 2023 A-E-=F—B—H 1,357,954,666 116,250
Exercise of share options TR 8,036,000 721
At 31 December 2023 and A ZE_=F+"A=+—H
1 January 2024 Ez_%_@-’cl‘: B—H 1,365,990,666 116,971
Exercise of share options TR (i 16,427,500 1,498
At 31 December 2024 A ZEMNE+"A=+—H 1,382,418,166 118,469
()  The subscription rights attaching to 16,427,500 0 16,427,500 FERARRERB I AR AE e B #%

share options were exercised at subscription
prices ranging from HK$0.52 per share to
HK$1.44 per share, resulting in the issue of
16,427,500 shares of HK$0.10 each for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of
RMB11,978,000. An amount of RMB5,573,000
was transferred from the share option reserve to
the share premium account upon the exercise of
the share options.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and

the share options issued under the schemes are
included in note 32 to the financial statements.
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NFEER0.52BTETI 448 THIFE
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2010 Share Option Scheme”) which was approved
and adopted by the written resolutions of all the
shareholders of the Company passed on 14 October
2010 (as amended at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 18 May 2018) for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of, the Group and for such other
purposes as the board of Directors may approve from
time to time. Eligible persons of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme include any director or employee (whether full
time or part time), consultant or advisor of the Group
who, in the sole discretion of the board of Directors, has
contributed to or will contribute to the Group. The 2010
Share Option Scheme expired on 13 October 2020.

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

2. fBheEstEl

RERRESTE

KTRBBETEERENE (TE—FFH
IRiEStE) KX RREERRN T —F
FHATHABBNEEREZR (WEART
RIE—N\FHER+N\BRTHRFRAFK
T HES) HERFR EERTERAL
MBI IO URBRE DI ELER
WA FEBERAFEN ) URARES
SARHENEMAR — S-S FRERE
SAENEERALTOREESFELETAEY
WA EEEFEERMNAERTAESRN
BE (FREREGRR) B —
T-TEBRESEN _Z_TF+A+=
BEim e
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31 December 2024
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32.

254

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“‘New Share Option Scheme”) which was approved
and adopted by the written resolutions of all the
shareholders of the Company passed on 30 October
2020 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards
to eligible persons for their contribution to or potential
contribution to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group, and
for such other purposes as the board of Directors may
approve from time to time. Eligible persons of the New
Share Option Scheme include any executive or non-
executive director including any independent non-
executive director or any employee (whether full-time
or part-time) of any member of the Group, any trustee
of a trust (whether family, discretionary or otherwise)
whose beneficiaries or objects include any employee
or business associate of the Group, any adviser or
consultant (in the areas of legal, technical, financial or
corporate management) to the Group, any provider of
goods and/or services to the Group who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed to the
Group. The New Share Option Scheme will expire on
29 October 2030.

All schemes of the Company are available to the

Directors and employees (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group.
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting and certain disclosure and reporting
requirements.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under all schemes
of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in all
schemes of the Company within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting and certain disclosure and reporting
requirements.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

2.FBRHESTE (&

RERRTESHE (BB

BRIERNDEF TETHABHTERR
RENEAIHMBALTHERE BEx
ESBILIFNITE SR AE o LESh > TR
T+ EBHER T A ARNEERRIFIL
FERITESR > WRFHEAMBRALRER
fERIE ) (HBA A A R REARENETR
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32.

256

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The subscription price of share options is determinable
by the Directors, but may not be less than the
highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company. A
consideration of RMB1.00 is payable on acceptance of
the offer of an option or options.

After 13 October 2020, no further options will be
granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
However, the provisions of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options,
which were granted during the life of the 2010 Share
Option Scheme, and may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

The New Share Option Scheme became effective
on 30 October 2020, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of adoption of the New Share Option Scheme by
shareholders by resolution at a general meeting. The
maximum number of share options available for grant
under the New Share Option Scheme at 1 January
2024 and at 31 December 2024 were 77,814,466.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32. lER TR (&
(continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BREE (&)
The following share options were outstanding under UTBEARAB S —SFRERE 218
2010 Share Option Scheme of the Company during the THIE R TERREARE
year:
2024 2023
“EME “EC=E
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
In#E ik
FigTEE  BREHE 2 FHTEE  BREHE
HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
Bk Fi& SR T
AT BT
At 1 January n—B—~H 1.24 21,475 1.22 26,530
Exercised during the year FRTE 1.10 (4,948) 1.14 (5,055)
Forfeited during the year FRRIK 1.42 (1,290) = =
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 1.27 15,237 1.24 21,475
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32.

258

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32. BB E (B
(continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BEE (B)
The following share options were outstanding under the MUTAFERRRBBRESTEIETRER
New Share Option Scheme of the Company during the TTIEHBRRAE .
year:
2024 2023
—_EMFE B -F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
Nt i
TTEE BREEHE 2 FHTEE  BREHE
HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
s Fig Bk T
BT BT
At 1 January ®—A—H 0.65 48,418 0.65 54,950
Exercised during the year FEANITE 0.67 (11,480) 0.76 (2,981)
Forfeited during the year FRRIK 0.60 (3,706) 0.61 (3,551)
At 31 December »+-B=+—8H 0.64 33,232 0.65 48,418
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Movements in the Company’s share options under
all schemes of the Company during the year are as

32

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

RISt E ()
AR E ()

FRAARMAEE N REBREZE
BT :

follows:
Number of share options
BlRiEdE
Closing price of the shares
At Exercised At Date of Exercise Exercise of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during 31 December ~grant of share periodof price of share before the date on which
participant SREHANER 2024 the year 2024 options  share options options  Vesting period options were granted
# . )
= L i TEARELE
-B-B  EAfE  =t-B KU BREGES BREGEE  BEN FARRGZETE
HKS per share
shiEn
Directors i3
Mr. Cao Yixiong Alan EMELE 300,000 - 300,000 22 November 1 December 1.020 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 1.020
2016 01710 fime o or after 1 December 2017; ) o
;g;/—\ﬁ 21 November (| BEEREAHZ =52 -TR_E—tE+_A-BAZERARERT
-A 2026 )
s | ZI-tE (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
+2F-B% fime on or after 1 December 2018; and 3 o
:gir\g 0 g&&%m%?ﬁ(zzﬁz—ﬂm:g—/\ﬂ:ﬁ—Eﬁz%m B
“t+-8 (i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 December 2019.
i) ERERBARZBT=D2—TR_E- nﬁJr F-REz EEARE
AT
200,000 - 200,000 19 July 2019 1 August 1.280 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 0610
“E-nf 200t fime on or ater 1 August 2020; ) B
tAthB BJUMO%’E [ %ﬁ?&ﬂ%&&@?&ziﬂz—ﬂﬁ:gigﬁ}\ﬁ—E@ZZ%EW%FFEWT
%% )
NB-BZ fi) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
i fime on or afte 1 August 2021; and ) )
tA+/R 0) EERREGH =52 -ARF-F/\R- B2 KEARBAT
(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any ime on or after 1 August 2022,
i) EEERRAGZET= A2 UR_E_ZE)\A-RAZEEARER
fifge
300,000 - 300,000  3Apri2020  16Aprl 2021 0600 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 0480
“ECRE 102 Aprl fime on orgfter 16 April 2021; ) ) B
MA=A 20%0 () EEBRELH=H7-TR ST -FRATABAZAEARERT
BT )
ME+7"HE (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
b time on o ate 16 Apr 2022; and § N
mBZH ﬁn%&%E@@ﬂzzﬁZ—ﬂ%:@::ﬁ@ﬁ+ﬁEﬂz%Eﬁﬁ@wh
(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any tme on or after 16 Apri 2023,
i) BEEREAZ BT 22— IR B ZFMA RS ZERANE
alisdd
300,000 - 300,000 24 Qctober 1 November 0520 (i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at 0530
2022 202310 any time on or after 1 November 2023,

“ECF 23 October
+BZ+mE 2032
I3k

0 ERBREEEZNAZ-AR-F=E-A-BAZEERERRAT

(i) One-lourlh of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at
any time on or after1 November 2024;

) ERBRELHMAZ AR _RET-A-DAZHEMHRRT

(i) One-fourth of the total number of the shere options granted are exercisable at
any time on or aftert November 2025; and
fi) gﬁ%m%@%ﬁz%zfﬂm:giﬁfﬁﬁ —BRZEEFRERT
() The remaining one-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 November 2026,
1) %ﬁ%ﬁ%%?ﬁ(m?ﬂ—ﬂﬁtg:ﬁﬁ—ﬁ —BHZEEANE
1%
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

+—H

(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

FBARESTE (B

RERRtEStEl ()

Number of share options
BlRiEdE
Closing price of the shares
At Exercised At Date of Exercise Exercise of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during 31 December grant of share period of  price of share before the date on which
participant SHEHAER 2024 the year 20%: options ~ share options options  Vesting period options were granted
i “EomE
. = N - - SEARALEE
-B-B  EAfi =t-B KU BREGES BREGRE  BES FARRGZETE
HKS per share
skin
Directors
Mr. Lau Chi Kit Asprs 300,000 - 300,000 22 November 1 December 1020 () One-hird of the total number of the share options granted are exercisabe at any 1,020
2016 201710 fime on or after 1 December 2017;
:gjg 21 November i gﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%éﬁ(zzﬁz*ﬂm:?fﬁiﬂ*Eﬁzﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%
= 202 )
s | II3-tE (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
+2B-A% fime on or after 1 December 2018; and )
:giﬁg fi g&;ﬁm%ﬂ%&zzﬁz—ﬂm:g—/\ﬂ:ﬁ—E%Zf&&@ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ
“+-8 (i) The: remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on o after 1 December 2019.
i) BB $ T A7y "B NETA-BRZHEART
At
200,000 - 200,000 9Ju|y 2019 1 August 1.280 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 0610
F-NE 2020t fime on or after 1 August 2020;
kA thE wgqguw_zim 0 ERBRERHZ=H-AR-F-FE\A-RUZRERRERT
R% - é E (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
S - fime on or after 1 August 2021; and
tA+/R fi E}ﬁi% BRI =57 -1 - F 6/ B-BR2AEARENG
(ii) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any tme on or after 1 August 2022,
i) ERER AR BT =02 TN _F-"F)\B-RAZREAREA
fifge
300,000 - 300,000 SApnI 2020 16 Apri 0600 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 0480
202110 fime on o after 16 Aprl 2021; ‘
IH B 2Apn\ 2030 i %&?&H@M?&ZE%Z—M:?:—EHﬁEﬁzéﬁﬁ%ﬁWﬁ
)
IH +/ N E Ed (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
e 23 fime on or after 16 Apr 2022; and 3 )
mA~H ) ERBRERYZ =02~ T _EMATREA KERREAST
0] They remaining one-third of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any tme on or after 16 April 2023,
i) ERBRELEZ B TR -IR "B ZEMA RS2 EEANE
Afreee
300,000 - 300,000 24 October 1 November 0520 () One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at 0530
2022 202310 any time on or after 1 November 2023; ‘
S 23 October (| BERREAEZENZ TR 55 +-A R EERREAT
TEZTEA 22 %;
-5Z (i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at

260

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

any time on or after1 November 2024;

) ERBRELH A2~ AR_F_RET-A-BAZRERHRRAT

(i) One-fourth of the total number of the shere options granted are exercisable at
any time on or after1 November 2025; and B
(i) g&?ﬁm%Z[ﬂﬁZ*ﬂm:giﬁfﬁﬁ*EﬁZé&ﬂﬁFeﬁWh

&
() The remaining one-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 November 2026, .
v) ﬁ%gﬁ%%&zﬂlﬂz MRZBZAET-F-BAZ BN
ffTtee



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Number of share options
BlRiEdE

31 December 2024
2N+ =ZA=+—H

Bzt E (3B

RERRHESHE (@)

Closing price of the shares
At Exercised At Date of Exercise Exercise of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during 31 December ~grant of share periodof price of share before the date on which
participant SHEHANER 2024 the year 20? options  share options options  Vesting period options were granted
i 13
Z3omE +28 iRl SHBRERY BN
-B-B  EAfE =t-B  RHAE  BREGES BREGRE  BES FRARRGZEHE
HKS per share
shiEn
Directors iz
Mr, Lu Zhigjang ESHRE 300000 (75,000) 225000  240ctober 1 November 0520 {) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at 0530
2022 202310 any time on or after 1 November 2023;
St 23 October () ERBRELHNA2-TR_E_=F+-F-BAZREARERT
+AZ+MA 2082 ;8
Z8Z= (i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at
+-f-BE any time on or after! November 2024;
+¥§§ i) ERBRELS MY -TR_EIMET—F - Bz ERRERT
(ii) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at
any time on or after1 November 2025; and
ff) gﬁ}ﬂ;%ﬂg?ﬂ%{zﬁZ—ﬂfﬁ:?:ﬁ¢+—ﬂ—E§E21’§&ﬁJ BEwT
() The remaining one-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 November 2026.
) BEBREAH BTRAZ TR S AFT—F - ARz REARE
alisdd
MsHong Yu Hagt 1000000 (600,000 400,000 13 Januery 16 January 0560 {) One-ftth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any 0.560
2021 202210 time on or after 16 January 2022;
:§i—§ 12 January () EEBREAYZ 17T B _E-B1/HRZERARRAG
-Bt+= 2031 )
BTk (i) One-fth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
ANAGES fime on or after 16 January 2023;
:§$75 i EEERELR 27 AN "B ZE-B Az ERAREAT
(i) One-fth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
time on or after 16 January 2024;
fi %ﬁ?&m%%ﬁ(2£ﬁz—ﬂm:§:¢—ﬁ TREGZEEARERT
(i) One-fth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at any
time on or after 16 January 2025; and
) BREREEE2 22T - FZRE-B+ARAZEEAREAT
(v) The remaining one-fifth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 16 January 2026.
() ERBRRARZETRAZ IR E_AE-A TR BAARE
R
800,000 (200,000) 600,000 30 September 1 October 0572 (i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at 0540
2022 202310 any time on o after 1 October 2023;
f:jgig 30 September (| ERBRERHZEG2-TIR-TZ =5 +A-AALREARERT

20

(i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are exercisable at
any time on or after 1 Octaber 2024;

i) ERRRERH DA TR S ME+A-DHZREAHERT

(i) One-fourth of the total number of the shere options granted are exercisable at
any time on or after1 October 2025; and

fi) gﬁ%ummﬁz—m@:g:ﬁﬁﬁ— Az EARRERT

() The remaining one-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 October 2026,

W) ﬁ%ﬁ%%@%%z@ﬂﬂz—ﬂﬁtgiﬁﬁﬁ B ZEEANER
IRe

4300000 (8750000 3,425,000
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

L

32.fEfeEst 8 (@)

#Esta (@)

Number of share options
BRiEYE
Date of Exercise Exercise Closing price of the shares
At Granted  Exercised Forfeited A grant of period of price of of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during during during 31 December share share share before the date on which
participant SEERLIER % theyear  theyear theyear 024 options options options  Vesting period options were granted
i
i 3
ZEIRE 128 B SEERERLAS
-B-B  EREY  EARE ERRM Zt-B BHLES BREOEN BREGEE S84 HEATRAZEHE
HKS per share
SRiEn
Other employees in aggregate £t B8 At
(each not exceeding the 1% (S EFBA(ERI
individual imit) REE#1)
3,247,000 - (1,048,000) (150,000) 1,149,000 22 November 1 December 1020 f) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are 1,020
2016 01710 exercisable at any fime on or after 1 December 2017;
ZE-RE 21 Nowember () BRERESHZ=HZ-TN-E-tETZA-RAZEE
t-AZtZR 2026 ABEATE;
T5-tE (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are
+2B-R% exercisable at any tme on or afer 1 December 2018; and
Z3CAE i ERBRESH2=H7-IN_F-\E+ZA-RAz%A
- ABHRHE R
“+-A (i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options
qranted are exercisable at any fime on or after 1 December 2019,
i) EREREEEZBT=A2-TR-F-NE+2A-BEZ
EEAREANR.
1,446,000 - - (400,000)  1,046000 25Mey 2017 1June 2018 1760 () Onehird of the total number of the share options granted are 1.690
TEtE 02My exercisable at any time on or afer 1 June 2018;
ERZtER A7 (| ERBRELH2=57-INE-\ERA-RAZEAR
ZE2-)\F RRATE,
~A-BE (i) Onethird of the total number of the share options granted are
TECtE exercisable at any fime on or after 1.June 2019; and
EAZ1EA ) BEBREEHZ=A2-IN_E-NEAA-BAZERER
BERE; R
(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options
qranted are exercisable at any fime on or after 1 June 2020.
i) BEBRESEZET=A2-TR-F_FF/A-B2k
EEERAR:
3,099,000 - (149,000) (2000000 2,750,000 4 December 16 December 1442 () Onethird of the total number of the share options granted are 1430
017 218t exercisable at any time on or after 16 December 2018;
ZE-tF 3 December (| ERBRESH,=H7-IN2F-\E+ZAT5ALZE
+2AmA 07 EEEEATE
Z3-\fF (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are
12A+78 exercisable at any fime on or ater 16 Deoemboer 2019; and
-t dalg: i) BEBREEEZ=A2-IN_E-NETZATABI2E
+2AR=H HARBNTE, R
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(i) The remeining one-third of the total number of the share options
qranted are exercisable at any fime on or after 16 December 2020,

) BRERESHZET=NZ-TIR"F-FE+2A1REY
ZHEPRERTR:
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32 BERGHEETE) (B)
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued) FBRREETE (58)

Number of share options
BRiEYE
Date of Exercise Exercise Closing price of the shares
At Granted  Exercised Forfeited At grant of period of price of of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during during during 31 December share share share before the date on which
participant SEERATER % theyear  theyear  theyear 024 options options options  Vesting period options were granted
i
13 3
ZERE 128 B SEERERLAN
-B-A  EREY  EARE ERRM Zt-B BLES BREOEN BREGEE HE4 HEATRAZEHE
HKS per share
SRR
Other employees in aggregate £t B8 A3
(each not exceeding the 1% (S EFBA(ERI
individual imi) Tthi%)
11,083,000 - (2:251,000 (540,000) 8,202,000 19 July 2019 1 August 1280 f) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are 0610
-0 2020t exercisable at any fime on or after 1 August 2020;
tAThE 1820 (| ERBRESH2=H7-UR_B_BE\A-AAZAAR
ut ERNTE;
N\A-BZ (il One-thid of the total number of the share options granted are
“ECE exercisable at any fime on or after 1 August 2021; and
tA+/AE i ERBRESH2 =27 -IN_F_—-E/\B-Re2%4R

BRI R

(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options
granted are exercisable at any fime on or after 1 August 2022.

i) BEBRESEZBT=H2-TR-F__ENA-Bazk

ERERTE
1,000,000 - (600,000) - 400,000 3 Aol 2020 16 Aprl 2021 0800 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are 0480
- 102 Apr exercisable at any fime o or after 16 Apr 2021;
mA=R 2030 (| ERBRELH,=57-IN_E_-EOATRALZAR
8-f AREAGE;
ME+7RE (i) One-thrd of the total number of the share options granted are
3%k exercisable at any time on or after 16 Aprl 2022; and
REZH i) EEBREER =D RS ZEMBABYZER
fABHRHE; R

(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options
granted are exercisable at any fime on or after 16 Apri 2023,
i) BEBREEEZBT=02-TR-F_ERATAREL

SERREATRE.
3,600,000 - (1,400,000) (4000000 1800000  13Janvay 16 January 0560 () Oneitth of the total number of the share options granted are 0.560
2021 02t exercisable at any fime on or after 16 January 2022;
e O T 1] (| ERBRESH 1H7-IN_B_E-ARALZAR
-AtzH 03 [EEBATE;
Ik (i) One-fifth of the total number of the share options granted are
e exercisable at any fime on or after 16 January 2023;
S () BRERESHZANZ-TN-E_ZE-BiRRIZER
-A+2A [ARERAE;

(i) One-fifth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 16 January 2024;

) BRERESHZANZ-TN"F_DE-BIARAZ&E
BERGES

(v} One-fitth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 16 January 2025; and

v ERBRELH 187 -IN_B_RE-AHRALZ AR
ABHRGE R

(v) The remaining one-fth of the total number of the share options granted
are exercisable at any fime on o afer 16 January 2026.

() ERBRESHZBTRAZ-TR_EAE-At5ETZ
BEREERGE
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32 BERGHEETE) (B)

(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

L

#Esta (@)

Number of share options
BRiEYE
Date of Exercise Exercise Closing price of the shares
At Granted  Exercised Forfeited A grant of period of price of of the Company immediately
Name or category of 1 January during during during 31 December share share share before the date on which
participant SEERLIER % theyear  theyear theyear 024 options options options  Vesting period options were granted
i
i 3
ZEIRE 128 B SEERERLAS
-B-B  EREY  EARE ERRM Zt-B BHLES BREOEN BREGEE S84 HEATRAZEHE
HKS per share
SRiEn
Other employees in aggregate £t B8 At
(each not exceeding the 1% (S EFBA(ERI
individual imit) REE#1)
10,016,000 - (3:401,000 (318,000) 7,197,000 2 September 16 September 0910 () One-third of the total number of the share options granted are 0840
21 2021 exercisable at any fime on or after 16 September 2022;
ZRT-E 1 Seplember () BEBREEEZ=AZ-INEBZEARTABICER
nAZH 2031 ABEATE;
S (i) One-third of the total number of the share options granted are
HB1AE exercisable at any time on or after 16 September 2023; and
ZE=-f i) BEBREEHZ=A2-INEZFARTARICEE
nA-d ABHRHE R
(i) The remaining one-third of the total number of the share options
granted are exercisable at any fime on or after 16 September 2024,
i) BREREEEZBET=H2-TR-F_REAATAREZ
EEAREANR.
31,202,000 - (5803500 (29880000 22410500 30 September 1 Qctober 0572 () One-fourth of the total number of the share opfions granted are 0540
2022 2231t exercisable at any time on or after 1 October 2023;
ZERCTE 30 September (| ERBRELH NS Z-IN_B_=E+A-RAZRAR
AB=1H 032 RRATE,
e St (i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
TA-8% exercisable at any fime on or after 1 October 2024;
. S ) BEBREEHZNAZ-IN_E_NETA-AHZERER
fBZtE BREAE;

(i) One-fourth of the total number of the share options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after1 October 2025; and

i) BEBRESEZNAZ-IN-F R TA-ARZEAR
BERE &

(v} The remaining one-fourth of the total number of the share options
granted are evercisable at any fime on or after 1 October 2026.

v ERBRELH BTOAZ-TR_EAETA-RYZE
ERERE

65,593,000 - (155525000 (4,996,000 45,044,500

69,893,000 - (16427500 (4996,000) 48469500
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 2. el EstEl (@)
(continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BiEtE (&)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share AE T UFE+ A =+—HERITENE
options outstanding at 31 December 2024 are as AR TIEERATERRI T -
follows:

Exercise price

Number of options per share Exercise period
B ERE SRITEE 1T1EHA
1,749,000 HK$1.020 1 December 2017 to 21 November 2026

1.02078 7T BE—+tHF+A—HEIZEZIARFt+—AIZ+—H
1,046,000 HK$1.760 1 June 2018 to 24 May 2027

1.76078 7T —E-NERE—HEEtHFHE”+MH
2,750,000 HK$1.442 16 December 2018 to 3 December 2027

1,442 5T E-N\EFE+ZB+ARHEZZEtHF+"H=H
8,692,000 HK$1.280 1 August 2020 to 18 July 2029

1.28078 7T “ETEFENB—HEZZ-ASEtHA+/N\H
1,000,000 HK$0.600 16 April 2021 to 2 April 2030
2,200,000 HK$0.560 16 January 2022 to 12 January 2031

0.560%# 7T B CF—At+ARHEZIZE=—%—A+IH
7,197,000 HK$0.910 16 September 2022 to 1 September 2031

0.910% 7T B TFAATAHEZIZE=—FNA—H
23,010,500 HK$0.572 1 Ootober 2023 to 30 September 2032
825,000 HK$0.520 1 November 2023 to 23 October 2032

0.520%E 7T T -F+—RB—HEZE="H+H=-+=H
48,469,500
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32.

266

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

No share options were granted during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

The 16,427,500 share options exercised during the
year resulted in the issue of 16,427,500 ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$1,642,750 (equivalent to RMB1,498,000) and
share premium of HK$11,371,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,480,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
outstanding share options for the subscription of
48,469,500 shares under all schemes of the Company,
which represented approximately 3.51% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at that date. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 48,469,500 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$4,847,000 (equivalent to RMB4,424,000) and
share premium of HK$35,841,000 (equivalent to
RMB32,711,000), before related issuance expenses.

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 29,610,500 share options
outstanding under all schemes of the Company, which
represented approximately 2.10% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

Leoch International Technology Limited — Annual Report 2024

2.FBRHESTE (B

RERRtEStEl ()

BE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFETE
RHEAERE CEZ=F: T))

FN16,427,50017 BIREETE » XA T
ME$1716,427,5008% & 58 5% » & A8 0
1,642,7507%8 7T (FBE T AR #1,498,0007T) °
3 EEAE R E 1B 11,371,00058 7T FEER AR
#10,480,0007T) °

R|RERR > AABEBRITERERE 7
REB AN B FT A 51818 T48,469,500/% f%
B AEREIRATARERINERTREAN
3.51%  IRIEARBNIRBEAREE 2@
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33.RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity in the financial statements.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the capital
contributions by Dr. Dong Li, a director and controlling
shareholder of the Company, to the subsidiaries directly
held by Dr. Dong Li before the group reorganisation
on 8 June 2010 and, in the case of an acquisition
of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary, the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interests acquired.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to allocate 10%
of their profit after tax to the reserve fund until this
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
PRC subsidiaries. Subject to certain restrictions set out
in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the reserve
fund may be converted to increase paid-up capital/
issued capital of the PRC subsidiaries, provided that
the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less
than 25% of the registered capital. The reserve fund of
the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB392,187,000
and RMB304,548,000 as at 31 December 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of companies outside the
PRC. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2.4.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

33.# 1

FEBAFERBEFENRFESARESE
HBERNTEVBRENGSEaEHRPE
Blo

Gt

FEENSHREBRRALDESFRIERRKR
EFFLIN T -TF B /\BEEEER
mHABREFANNB AR EE RHEIE—
BIF2ENB AT 2 HthiEm B S UESRL
IR PR BB IR~ IRV ERR

EEREE

RIEFEABE AEBNFEMBEABA
BHEBENRBEF0%EAEE TS
BHEZREEDFEMERNS0%2 1 o FEH
BlA BTN E FIREIFRET » #8B97ARE
NEE AT UEHRLOE N M E A B E
BABEBITRA ERERMEBIRIERES
BRABMMER M E A& B925% © HH E B A B
HABERN _E_MER_E_=F+_4
=+—H25IA ARE392,187,000t R AR
#£304,548,0007T ©

B ST R Eh e
S B b CUERT A R E R B MAF]

MHRERMEENERETR - ZHEFBREN
Py EE2 AR S SRR ERIE ©
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33.RESERVES (continued)
Share option reserve

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and
the share options issued under the schemes are
included in note 32 to the financial statements.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the fair value
differences arising from the revaluation for the
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and debt investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

34.NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB57,967,000 (2023: RMB26,449,000)
and RMB57,967,000 (2023: RMB26,449,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
property, machinery and other equipment.
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34.NOTES TO THE M.iFREERERME &
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continueqd)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEEHEEZEBEH
financing activities

2024 TETME
Bank and Lease Convertible
other loans liabilities bonds

RIT R

HtE®  HE&E TRRES
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
AR®ETT ARETRT ARBTR

At 1 January 2024 R_E-_MNE—HF—H 4,457,363 47,142 61,132
Changes from financing cash flows MERERELE 622,547 (23,637) -
Acquisition from subsidiaries (note 37) UWEE B KB AT (M45E37) - 3,057 -
Termination of leases KIEEE - (4,892) -
New leases HHEE - 57,967 -
Foreign exchange movement HINBE 1) 41,621 3,622 912
Interest expense ) BRX - 4,969 11,565
Interest paid EfNFHE - - (4,649)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME

+ZB=+—H 5,121,531 88,228 68,960
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34.NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

34.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities (continued)

mAERERERWNE B

(b)

MEZBEEZREET
(&)

2023 TR
Bank and Lease  Convertible
other loans liabilities bonds

HBITRK
HMER HEEE TaRES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT
At 1 January 2023 W_E_=F—F—H 2,710,087 29,171 -
Changes from financing cash flows REREREES 1,450,497 (14,938) 80,262
Equity component of convertible bonds BT & (& % A9 75 2F 7 - - (26,623)
Acquisition from subsidiaries (note 37) WE BB AT (5£37) 283,564 3,113 =
New leases HHEE - 26,449 -
Foreign exchange movement S BE 8 13,215 603 2,019
Interest expense FERX - 2,744 10,055
Interest paid BIFE - - (4,581)

At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F

+-A=+—~H 4,457,363 47,142 61,132
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e

34.NOTES TO THE U.ZERERERMEE &
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continueqd)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERE MMN4EEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FARESEMERZAEIRE R HEEE
statement of cash flows is as follows: mr:
2024 2023
—EME =2
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRE ARBTT

Within operating activities FTAKEES 27,538 33,662
Within investing activities FTAKEED 1,996 5,538
Within financing activities FFAREEE 23,637 14,938
Total 4Bt 53,171 54,138
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35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS 35. B EIKH

Prepaid Property,

land lease plant and Pledged

payments equipment deposits Inventories Trade receivables Total
it E/ER

HEmE BRERRE EREHER B8 HERLRE “it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEFRT AEEFT AREFT ARETT NS AEEFT
(note 16) (note 14) (note 25) (note 20) (note 21)

(H5£16) (HtzE14) (Ht3E5) (H3E0) (WzEo1)

31 December 2024 —E-_mE+-A=+-H

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t 8 R1TEE (Fi5:28)

(note 28) 106,252 392,715 45,104 49,500 611,395 1,204,966
Bills payable (note 26) FEfT 2% (EE26) - - 326,764 - - 326,764
Issue of letters of credit RHEEE - - 290,160 - - 290,160

106,252 392,715 662,028 49,500 611,395 1,821,890
31 December 2023 "B =E+"RF=1+-RH

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t S 81715 E (ff&8)

(note 28) 106,835 534,260 25,766 100,000 410,880 1,177,741
Bills payable (note 26) FEfT =% (EE26) - S 597,220 S = 597,220
Issue of letters of credit R EEE = = 342,781 = = 342,781

106,835 534,260 965,767 100,000 410,880 2,117,742
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36.COMMITMENTS 36. & h
The Group had the following contractual commitments REREHAR  REBMAB LU T EHIEE !

at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
—EmE B
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARBTT

Land and buildings TR IEF 102,469 277
Plant and machinery % S B 14 25 75,235 86,070
Capital contribution for financial assets BAnEBEEHF ABRN

at fair value through profit or loss ETHBENITE 32,500 72,500
Total Aast 210,204 158,847

37.BUSINESS COMBINATION 7. X

The acquisition of Yuasa Battery WEERZZEENERAR
(Guangdong) Company Limited (the (TBE2EN)
“Target Company”)
On 25 September 2024, Leoch Battery Company R_EBE_NENRB_+LB ANATEE
Limited(the “Buyer”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the B 8 /2 F]Leoch Battery Company Limited (&
Company, entered into an agreement with independent B BEEE=F (8A) stREE2EA
third party (the “Seller”) in relation to the proposed BB AN70%:] 1L Hsk > LEEERE
acquisition of 70% of the registered capital of the BABRZENF+—HA=1+HEEE?ZF
Target Company, and the consideration was an amount BER70% °

equal to 70% of the total net asset value of the Target
Company as at 30 November 2024.

“TomEER - BTEREHARAR 273



Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

37.BUSINESS COMBINATION

274

(continued)

The acquisition of Yuasa Battery
(Guangdong) Company Limited (the
“Target Company”) (continued)

After the third anniversary of completion, the Seller
may exercise a put option and require the Buyer to
purchase an additional 10% of the registered capital of
the Target Company. The consideration is calculated
pro rata based on the audited net assets or transaction
acquisition consideration of the Target Company as at
30 November 2024.

As a result of the above transactions, the Buyer
obtained control over the Target Company, which
then became a subsidiary of the Company on 30
November 2024. The Group has elected to measure
the non-controlling interest in Target Company at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of Target
Company’s identifiable net assets.
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37.BUSINESS COMBINATION 7. XHBEH B)
(continued)
The acquisition of Yuasa Battery BEERZZEEEBMERAT
(Guangdong) Company Limited (the (TBEAE) #B)
“Target Company”) (continued)
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of BERABRWEEAN#HNEEREE
the Target Company as at the date of acquisition was NABEWNT :
as follows:
Fair value

recognised on
acquisition the

Target Company
R EE AT
BN AREE
RMB’000
AR¥BTFT
Property, plant and equipment IEN Y 2,771
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 2,949
Other intangible assets HithmpEE 368
Investment in associates REEATNRE 11,096
Inventories 78 27,644
Trade receivables B 5 WA 74,070
Prepayments, other receivables and ENFE WA IE R M E E
other assets 2,002
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 45473
Trade and bills payables B RN RIERENER (24,863)
Other payables and accruals HMEARIBERESER (28,128)
Lease liabilities HESE (3,057)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERMIBEE (767)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEYERNPI#HEEFERLE 109,558
Non-controlling interests JEVER Em 32,867
Goodwill on acquisition g IS 1,306
Satisfied by: IR A AT
Cash B 75,080
Contingent consideration FAAKE 2,917
Total consideration HARE 77,997
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37.BUSINESS COMBINATION 7. (B EH (B)
(continued)
The acquisition of Yuasa Battery KEERZZEEMERAT
(Guangdong) Company Limited (the (TBEAE) (#)
“Target Company”) (continued)
Since the acquisition, the Target Company contributed BWEEEMN R BE_Z-_UFE+-H
RMB22,538,000 to the Group’s turnover and net profit =t+—HIEFE BEATAKERSME
of RMB1,045,000 to the consolidated profit for the year 225 A R #522,538,0007T Ko & i A1) A A
ended 31 December 2024. ES1,045,0007T ©
Had the combination taken place at the beginning e R EL A AEBEBAKRE RN
of the period, the revenue and the profit before giimA 9 Bl A A R #16,308,382,0007T K A
tax of the Group for the period would have been R 1%559,344,0007T ©
RMB16,308,382,000 and RMB559,344,000
respectively.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the MBI B ARENIREREDTAT !

acquisitions of subsidiaries is as follows:

RMB’000
ARETT
Cash consideration RERE (75,080)
Cash consideration not paid yet AEZVHNRERKE 44,768
Cash and bank balances acquired FTEIR & M IRTT A5 ER 45,473
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in st AR E ZHFIEIRSAEN
cash flows from investing activities RERREZBYRAFER 15,161
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38.RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a) BRZFEFHHRREMM A FLRB
S0 AEEEFEATEERNEUT

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related parties BRZ5
during the year:
2024 2023
=g 1 = 3 S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT ARET T
Purchases of equipment from BRIEATIEEHRE
related companies
Related companies owned by BB R EBE A L+
Dr. Dong Li and his associates ~ #EARIEAE 0] 5,377 =
Purchases of raw materials [BRIEATEE FEi1E
from related companies (i)
Related companies owned by ~ EBZF1E - K EBEE A L+
Dr. Dong Li and his associates ~ #& BIRIE A E 134,243 44,271
Sales of products to related [MAEATHEER
companies (i)
Related companies owned by EZ1ELTRHEBE AT
Dr. Dong Li and his associates ~ ##& BIREE A S 91,184 74,299
Interest expense to related MEIEALTZFFIE
parties Bz 38(b)(i)
Non-controlling shareholders of  KfBA & 2 JEIEARAZER
subsidiaries - 87
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38.RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

278

(@) (continued)

Note:

M

The purchases of equipment, purchases of raw
materials and sales of products with the related
companies were made according to prices mutually
agreed between the parties on terms not less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from (as appropriate) independent third parties.

The related party transactions in respect of
the purchases of equipment, purchases of raw
materials and sales of products above also
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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38.RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

B.RAEANLRS (&

(b) Outstanding balances with related (b) ERAEANTHIKREELR .
parties:
Due from related parties Due to related parties
FEEIEA LS FEfIRAEA LB
2024 2028 2024 2023
“BEIME - B ME —EB°=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bzt AREFT ARETT ARBTR ARBT®
Current: TRE
Non-controlling MB AR Z IR
shareholders of fg 5
subsidiaries (i) - - 9,258 99,758
Related companies BT REBRE
owned by Dr.DongLi  ATHEAEMNEE
and his associates NG (i 31,060 11,978 53,447 102,548
Key management rEETESE
personnel of the AB
Group i) - - 20,000 -
31,060 11,978 82,705 202,306
Notes: B 5
() As at 31 December 2024, a loan amounting to 0] RIE-ZNMFE+_"_B=+—H kB2

(i

(i)

RMB8,000,000 (2023: RMB8,000,000) from
non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary was
unsecured, bore interest rate at 4.35% (20283:
4.35%) per annum and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all balances
with the related companies owned by Dr. Dong
Li and his associates were traded in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, a loan amounting to
RMB20,000,000 from Key management personnel
of the Group was unsecured, bore interest free and
repayable on demand.

—ENB AR ZIFERREBEZERA
E#8,000,0007Tc (ZEZ=F: AE
#8,000,0007T) & HEILIF R EH]
4.35% (_7 T =5 14.35%) 5t B R
EREER

(i) RIEB_NER-ZZEZ=4+2"A
=t —B FEREFH LI RHEME
ATHEENRELARNEHRERES
ME IR R B RRERERE -

(i) MIEBEZNF+-_B=+—H KE
FEETBZEEABNERARE
20,000,000 7 AL ~ B K 7AZ
BRERE-
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38.

280

RELATED PARTY 3.FABEANLTRS (&
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Compensation of key management (c) =EEFEEREAENME:
personnel of the Group:
2024 2023
“ENE “ET=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF T
Basic salaries and other benefits HEAFFERHEMER 10,299 9,616
Equity-settled share option expenses LU %45 EHIBE IS HERT X 631 870
Pension scheme contributions BIRBEHEIHRR 222 211
11,152 10,697
Further details of directors’ emoluments are BEEMNE 2 E—THBENMTE

included in note 9 to the financial statements. HRFRMIETO o
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39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39.#%#8R oM Em T A
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of ZHEpER T ANRSIARNEEENT !
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

2024 —E_ME
Financial assets EREE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through Financial assets
profit or at fair value through
loss other comprehensive income
BAREE
ZF:t A

Huml BARBELEHA
THEE Ht2ER=ENZREE

Financial

Mandatorily assets at

designated Debt Equity amortised
as such investments investments cost Total

st Sl

Ee) HEZ
MitiEE BHEE EEURE ERHEE 1zt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

Equity investments designated ~ $5TEHRA A EBEEE

at fair value through other HAEMEENE
comprehensive income MR RE - - 1,393 = 1,393

Debt investments at fair value BARBEEHFHA
through other comprehensive Hitr2EUER

income BERE - 161,166 - - 161,166
Trade receivables BAEWHIE - - - 3704278 3,704,278
Financial assets included in SFATBATIE Eft

prepayments, other receivables  FEUTFUIE R E fth

and other assets BENEHEE - - - 301,115 301,115
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEEZHHA

through profit or loss BRNeREE 330,441 - - - 330,441
Pledged deposits BIREER - - - 662,028 662,028
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEEEY - - - 743,975 743,975
Total @t 330,441 161,166 1,393  5411,396 5,904,396
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39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

39. AR DTN ER T A

CATEGORY (continued) (#)
Financial liabilities TRaE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
profit or
loss
BAnEE
E2EEtA
BEH
EHaRE
Financial
Mandatorily liabilities at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
RBHEM A
] SEN
il B fst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFRT ARBTR ARETR®
Trade and bills payables B EMNTIERENERE - 2,603,037 2,603,037
Financial liabilities included in AR TIE R A &
other payables and accruals Nemafd - 233,845 233,845
Lease liabilities HEER - 88,228 88,228
Financial liabilities at fair value BARBEEEHABEN
through profit or loss TRIBE 10,371 - 10,371
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHERTTEE - 5,190,491 5,190,491
Total 4ast 10,371 8,115,601 8,125,972
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39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39.#%#8R oM Em T A

CATEGORY (continued) (#)
2023 TR =F
Financial assets THMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through Financial assets
profit or at fair value through
loss  other comprehensive income
BAnE®RE
BEHA

By BRARBEZSHHA
THMEE HteEWzNEREE

Financial

Mandatorily assets at

designated Debt Equity amortised
assuch  investments  investments cost Total

g Sl

Gl HEZ
ik BBEE #EzikRE EHEE st

RMB'000 ~ RMBO00 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARET:R

Equity investments designated 1§ E R A ABELS)

at fair value through other SAEMZEEDN

comprehensive income BatRE - - 11,967 = 11,967
Debt investments at fair value BRARBEEHFA

through other comprehensive Hth2 U ER

income = - 189,258 - = 189,258
Trade receivables B EWHIE - - - 3247241 3,247 241
Financial assets included in S ATBIEIE  HAf

prepayments, other receivables  EEER HMBE

and other assets NERMEE - - - 283,656 283,656
Financial assets at fair value BRREEEEHA

through profit or loss BaleREE 328,579 - - - 328,579
Pledged deposits BIRHER - - - 965,767 965,767
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY - - - 1,563,343 1,563,343
Total st 328,579 189,258 11,967 6,060,007 6,589,811
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39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

39. AR DTN ER T A

CATEGORY (continued) (#8)
Financial liabilities =kl
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
profit or
loss
BAREE
EEEA
Bmr
THEE
Financial
Mandatorily liabilities at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
S8 HEW
YNILISTE TRBaE Hst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEBFT AREFT ARETET
Trade and bills payables BERNTIBERECER - 3,003,992 3,003,992
Financial liabilities included in AR MR IE R E E H
other payables and accruals THBE - 522,105 522,105
Lease liabilities HEER - 47,142 47,142
Financial liabilities at fair value through BARBEESH ABRN
profit or loss TREE 10,340 = 10,340
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITEE = 4,518,495 4,518,495
Total 1Bt 10,340 8,091,734 8,102,074
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

40.FRITEAARAEBERAR

BEREK

FEESRTANKREERAAEBERER
SMEERLT-

EEEEHRREKRIBELEEY BRET
FBRRWEIR BRERIRIRREMNR
B StATRN AR s At GRIE R E M E
ENEREE LUkt A M RIARE

BE TERRZETABEMAMTE

FEBERMHLIEAENRMENFIREFE
TRIAERANEEAENBRKEZR - HH
KEEROEEUBENEZEZEGER -
RE®RSAE MHEPIDT R IABE
WEEER WEELEMBIEERA
ZEEHERMBESRAMME - BREE
EEEMIAE BT IRFEEMFRENG
BBERRAERET R

THEERERNAAEBENZTIABRR
575 RFISUEEHERIN BRIZ5S TRIR
ZEEAR - UTAERBRREDARGER
AEE
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40.

286

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-
bearing bank borrowings approximate to their
amortised costs which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31
December 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to determine comparable public companies
(peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy,
and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such
as enterprise value to earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (‘EV/EBITDA”)
multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for
each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by an earnings measure. The
trading multiple is then discounted for considerations
such as illiquidity and size differences between the
comparable companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is
applied to the corresponding earnings measure of
the unlisted equity investments to measure the fair
value. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which
are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and certain investment at fair value through
profit or loss have been estimated using the asset-
based approach. The assets of the unlisted company
include cash and cash equivalents, short-term
principal-protected investment and investments in
portfolio companies. Management has assessed
that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
the short-term principal-protected investment and
the liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts
with consideration of the nature and the short-term
maturities of these instruments. The fair values of the
investments in portfolio companies are estimated using
different valuation methodologies according to the
nature of individual investments, such as the trading
price of listed shares, price of recent investments,
market multiples and the discounted cash flow method.

The fair values of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, which are bills receivable,
have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on the interest rate yield curve.

The Group invests in other unlisted investments, which
represent the right to receive the proceeds from future
sales of the properties. The Group has estimated the
fair values of these unlisted investments by using a
market-based valuation technique based on the selling
price of comparable properties.

The Group enters derivative financial instruments
with various counterparties, principally financial
institutions with good credit ratings. Derivative financial
instruments, including commodity future and option
contracts, are based on quoted market prices.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

40.FRITEAAREBERAR

BERER (&

BEERAANBEEF ST AEMEEKEAITE
EhEmMERERETANEEESS AR
mRENRABEEREEZETEE
FEFRDEECRRERREZEY &
HREREREEARRE - EEEENME
RERREFEY BRREREREERN
~ABE WEZZETAEMEREREHERN
AR EE - REE ARNRENARE
BEREERRENEERBAIENGESE
hE BFE LmRMNXZER THRE
BV ER B EBRIREREIR A

ARBELFFARMEER@ENERRE
(BNEWEE) A RBEEAERFIRI
mERMEHNRERBITRAEENEE

KFEBRENEMIFLHRE  ZFRE
WRER R B £ 5 & P S RUBRIRER o RS2 [
EEATEERGERMERTELLEYE
ZEBREFRELTREZANEBE

FEBERESHFH EFEREETRRE
ZEREBS) ST UMTESRM IR -TTESR
THEEENTSREZBRIEHEIES
i\\ o
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial

BERER &

NREERER

40T EARBERAD

TREFITERERTEN RN EEERE

n& O

288

instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

BAIBEBHIEE

Fair value measurement using

AREEFEFMARR
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EARTHE EAFITHRZ
TERTIZERE WA BASE
(B1/E) (§258) ($3E) ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
2024 —EmE
Equity investments designated 5 TEIRA A BEEE
at fair value through other STAEMEEm G
comprehensive income WEGRERE - - 1,393 1,393
Debt investments at fair value BARBEEEA
through other comprehensive Hi2mi=ENE
income BrRE - 161,166 - 161,166
Financial assets at fair value BARBEEEA
through profit or loss BalEHEE 68 23,912 306,461 330,441
Total et 68 185,078 307,854 493,000
2023 TETZHE
Equity investments designated 5 TEIRA A BEEE)
at fair value through other ﬁ)\ﬁ@%ﬁ”&m
comprehensive income R IR - - 11,967 11,967
Debt investments at fair value BAnE fﬁﬁ@] stA
through other comprehensive Hit2EkENE
income BRE - 189,258 - 189,258
Financial assets at fair value BARBEEHFA
through profit or loss BElNEREE 76 25,284 308,219 328,579
Total 4zt 76 214,542 315,186 529,804
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

Notes to Financial Statements B1F&ERzR M5

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continueq)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level

3 during the year are as follows:

RABERER (&)

40. R TEAREBERARD
BERER ZE)

FREIBANBESELIUWT !

2024 2023
—_EMF B =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREF T

At 1 January n—B—H 315,186 255,044
Total losses recognised in other EREMEEREERZ

comprehensive income E518 48 % (10,806) (17)
Total (losses)/gains recognised in ERiEnmEEr (B8

profit or loss I Gk o (44,564) 5,876

Additions NE 49,345 60,000

Disposals BRE (1,596) (6,066)

Exchange realignment fE R AR EE 289 349

At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H 307,854 315,186
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40.£RITEAABEEAR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL BEELR (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) RABEER

Liabilities measured at fair value BAADBEFENEE

Fair value measurement using

AREEFEFMBER

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

inactive  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTBRRE EATTHZ

EETIERE BARE BAHE
(E1/E) (82/8) (383f8) @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETx ARETR ARETR

2024 —ECmE
Financial liabiliies at fair value A ABEEEF ABEN

through profit or loss THas - - 10,371 11,371
2023 TECCE

Financial liabiliies at fair value A ABEEEH ABRZHN
through profit or loss Sy =K - - 10,340 10,340
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40.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continueq)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level
3 during the year are as follows:

BERER (&

RABERER (&)

40.MTEAREBERAD

FRE=ZBHRAANEEFENESUT :

2024 2023

—_EMF B =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
At 1 January w—A—H 10,340 -

Total gains recognised in other EREMEEREERZ

comprehensive income W 42 EE - -
Total gains recognised in profit or loss EREmER 2 N mARE (3,261) =
Additions hE 2,916 10,340
Disposals BEE - -
Exchange realignment b 2 FR EE 376 -
At 31 December W+-A=+—H 10,371 10,340

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities.

RIENMER_E_=ZF+_"_B=+—

H> 2nBEEMETESE—

[E#RIE I

mRZBEEER hEMEERTHAERT

RAEBANBHE= R
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41.

292

FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The IFRS 7 risk disclosures are entity-specific. This
note must be tailored to reflect the particular facts
and circumstances of the entity and management’s
assessments of risks.

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other
than derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, convertible bonds and cash
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out
in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term
debt obligations with floating rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the
Group’s equity.
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41.FINANCIAL RISK M. TREREEENREE
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) MERE (B
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity”
HE Tl R
o GRidy)  sEmn GRs)  Emn 7 G *
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTF T ARBT T
2024 —E-maE
uSsDh ET 50 (2,150) -
uUsD ET (50) 2,150 -
HKD BT 50 (1,248) -
HKD BT (50) 1,248 -
MYR EXRAmEE 50 (172) -
MYR ERADELE (50) 172 -
2023 ==
uSDh ET 50 (2,500) -
uUsD ET (50) 2,500 -
HKD BT 50 (2,278) -
HKD BT (50) 2,278 -
Excluding retained profits T EERBEN
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41.

294

FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the units’ functional
currencies. The Group operates in Hong Kong, the
United States, Singapore, Malaysia and Mainland
China. For companies in Mainland China, their principal
activities are transacted in RMB. For other companies
outside of Mainland China, their principal activities are
transacted in currencies other than the units’ functional
currencies. Approximately 47% (2023: 42%) of the
Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the operating units
making the sales, whilst approximately 53% (2023:
58%) of costs were denominated in the units’ functional
currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities) and the Group’s equity.
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M. =R EREIERN KRR

MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (%)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) ShEE RS (A
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity”
Ex Al F i
£ (FR)  s8m,/ GRL)  38h0, G
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREFT ARBTT
2024 —E-mE
If RMB weakens against US$ HMARBRETEE 5 50,566 =
If RMB strengthens against US$ HMARERETHE (5) (50,566) -
If RMB weakens against HK$ WARERETEE 5 (15,315) -
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HARBRBTHE (5) 15,315 -
If RMB weakens against EUR$ HARBRETERE 5 (236) -
If RMB strengthens against EUR$ M AREREUTHE (5) 236 -
2023 -
If RMB weakens against US$ MARBRETEE 5 23,786 -
If RMB strengthens against US$ MARBRETHE ) (23,786) -
If RMB weakens against HK$ MARBRABTEME 5 (567) -
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HARERLBIHE () 567 -
If RMB weakens against EUR$ WARBERBTERE 5 9,481 -
If RMB strengthens against EUR$ HARBRETHE 5) (9,481) =

Excluding retained profits

* FEERBEF]
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.FINANCIAL RISK

MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Management has made a detailed analysis of the credit
risk of different customers and divided the customers
into two classes, i.e., type A customers, which have
good credit ratings or have coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance, and type B
customers, which are the other diversified customers.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis, and therefore, the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.
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41.FINANCIAL RISK M. EREMEEIEE N REER
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RAE SR O R FAEEL 748 ()
As at 31 December 2024 RZZ2NE+_"A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B 78
FEBE 2PEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
B B FIWE  WIEAHE Eoh

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Trade receivables* B HEREE - - - 3,836,188 3,836,188
Financial assets included STATEMRIE HAth

in prepayments, other EWHIEREME

receivables and other assets ENGHEE 301,115 - - - 301,115
Pledged deposits BIERER 662,028 - - - 662,028
Cash and cash equivalents BehFeEEY 743,975 - - - 743,975

1,707,118 -

3,836,188 5,543,306
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41.FINANCIAL RISK M. EREAREEENREE
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RAE R R FAREEL 748 ()
As at 31 December 2023 N E_=F+"_A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B 8
FEBE 2 EREERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B BoMEER HPEER  BWEHZE st

RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT ARBTRT AR®TT ARETR

Trade receivables* B S EREE - - - 3,320,369 3,320,369
Financial assets included TR HAth
in prepayments, other EWHIEREME
receivables and other assets ENEHEE 283,657 - - - 283,657
Pledged deposits BERER 965,767 = = = 965,767
Cash and cash equivalents Re&RREEEY 1,563,343 = = - 1563343
2,812,767 - - 3,320,369 6,133,136
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * MAEERABEH AETRENAGHNE
simplified approach for impairment, information based on SEWFIBMS BN EBEEENE R R
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21. o1 ER
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s AEEBESRKFIEESNEEREHO
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are HECBIRIN TSR RMITE2 11855

disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.
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41.FINANCIAL RISK

MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers
the maturity of both its financial instruments and
financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected
cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use
of bank borrowings and lease liabilities. In addition,
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency
purposes.

31 December 2024
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31 December 2024
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41.FINANCIAL RISK M. EHEMEEENREE
MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) meBEERR (&
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, AEENEME BN RELRAIR
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as INE A I
follows:
Less than 1to 15
1 year years Total
DRME 1E158 W

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARETRT

2024 —E-mEF
Lease liabilities HEa’E 25,880 70,054 95,934
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTEIRITEE 4,066,064 1,129,729 5,195,793
Trade and bills payables B ENTIBMENERE 2,603,037 - 2,603,037
Other payables and accruals HnENRIaMEER 233,845 = 233,845
6,028,826 1,199,783 8,128,609
2023 —EB=F
Lease liabilities HEEE 20,125 35,050 55,175
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITEE 3,582,025 1,190,710 4,772,735
Trade and bills payables B EMFIBRENZE 3,003,992 - 3,003,992
Other payables and accruals HiENRIBMETER 522,105 = 522,105

7,128,247 1,225,760 8,354,007
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41.FINANCIAL RISK

MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and a healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total
assets. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

M. =R EREIERN KRR

(#&)

BAREE

FEREAEENTRERARARIERE
FaRUEEFRURERBRENEAR LR
FHED URRKRRNEBERAZERS

FEBRBEERNEESEEEELRNE
RAEL A - REE P RB S FRENR
B mRREBERFBEITHRE HE 4
FUREELTRB -BE" T NFA"ZT
TZFE+ZRA=1+—HLFER BEEEX
WER - BEREEF I EEH)

FEEUEESELREEEA ZHES
S BIRITE B M E R RS RN E
EEELRNT

2024 2023

g= a1 3 BT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AREFT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITEE 5,121,531 4,457,363
Total assets BEMSE 14,523,913 14,095,244
Gearing ratio BEBEX 35% 32%
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42. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL

302

ASSETS

Transferred financial assets that are not
derecognised in their entirety

As part of its normal business, the Group entered
into a trade receivable factoring arrangement (the
“Factoring Arrangement”) and transferred certain
trade receivables to banks. The Group is exposed to
default risks of the trade debtors after the transfer.
Subsequent to the transfer, the Group did not retain
any rights on the use of the trade receivables, including
the sale, transfer or pledge of the trade receivables to
any other third parties. The original carrying value of
the trade receivables transferred under the Factoring
Arrangement that have not been settled as at 31
December 2024 amounted to RMB611,395,000
(2023: RMB410,880,000). The carrying amount of
the assets that the Group continued to recognise as
at 31 December 2024 was RMB611,395,000 (2023:
RMB410,880,000) and that of the associated liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 was RMB533,759,000
(2023: RMB327,160,000), which were recognised as
collateralised bank advances, secured (note 28).

Financial assets that are derecognised
in their entirety

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group factored trade receivables to a bank on
a non-recourse basis for cash. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards associated with the factored trade
receivables. Accordingly, the Group derecognised
the full carrying amount of the trade receivables
factored. The carrying amount of the trade receivables
derecognised as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB101,924,000 (2023: RMB67,076,000).
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43.EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING PERIOD

On 12 February 2025, the Board hereby announces
that the Company has submitted a proposal to the
Stock Exchange in relation to the proposed spin-off
and separate listing of Leoch Energy Inc (an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the spin-off entity in the proposed spin-off (“SpinCo”)
on either the New York Stock Exchange or National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
(NASDAQ), pursuant to PN15 of the Listing Rules, and
has obtained approval from the Stock Exchange that
the Company may proceed with the proposed spin-
off. The proposed spin-off will be conducted through
a distribution in specie of all of the shares held by the
Company in the SpinCo to the Company Shareholders
in the form of the proposed demerger of the SpinCo
from the Company through a distribution in specie of
all of the Company’s shares in the SpinCo to all the
Company Shareholders on a pro-rata basis. Following
completion of the Proposed Spin-off and the Proposed
Distribution, the SpinCo will be demerged from the
Company, resulting in a parallel listing structure of
the Company and the SpinCo, and the Company
Shareholders will be entitled to shares in the SpinCo.

31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

43. FREHABRIE
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

44 . STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

304

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of

44. B RB)Z A FFAR MR

BERRNRABRNREHRZMBRRRZER

the Company at the end of the reporting period is as mF:
follows:
2024 2023
—EMEF BT =5F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR¥T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RNB AR ZKE 978,849 1,124,463
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 1,077 837
Financial assets at fair value through BAnBEES T ABEN
profit or loss SHMEE 68 76
Total current assets MEEEEE 1,145 913
CURRENT LIABILITIES Bt =N
Other payables and accruals HihE B R ESTER 3,106 3,222
Total current liabilities mMENBEEE 3,106 3,222
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAREEE (1,961) (2,309
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BELRERTSHERE
LIABILITIES 976,888 1,122,154
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREIARE
Convertible bonds AT ES 68,960 61,132
Net assets BEFE 907,928 1,061,022
EQUITY g
Issued capital BE&ITRAS 118,469 116,971
Equity component of convertible bonds AR ESIER D 26,623 26,623
Reserves (note) fEE (sh) 762,836 917,428
Total equity AR %R 907,928 1,061,022
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31 December 2024
—B-ME+-A=+—H

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

44. KRB Z BABIRRRKR (&

Note: MI5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KABIZABEBMEWT -
Share Share Exchange
premium Shareholders’ option fluctuation Accumulated
account  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
ERKE
B EER RRHE  EREHE £ 2itEE @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETx ARETR
At 1 January 2023 RZZ2Z=%—-F—H 1,149,501 337,830 17,049 71,546 (470,746) 1,105,180
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEER
loss for the year FHEEBREE - - - - (55,110) (55,110)
Exercise of share options fIfbiEmRE 9,297 - (2,825) - - 6,472
Exchange differences on MBIRINEHN
translation of foreign ERER
operations - - - 27,538 - 27,538
Dividends paid BAKE - - - = (171,660) (171,660)
Equity-settled share option MU AEER
arrangements g - - 5,008 - - 5,008
At 31 December 2023and  ~ RZZZZF
1 January 2024 +ZB=+-Bk
“EmE—-F—H 1,158,798 337,830 19,232 99,084 (697,516) 917,428
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEER
loss for the year SHEEGBEE - - - - (56,711) (56,711)
Exercise of share options BRI 16,053 - (5,573) - - 10,480
Exchange differences on BEIBIN RN
translation of foreign ERER
operations - - - 25,432 - 25,432
Dividends paid EfRE s s - - (138,150)  (138,150)
Equity-settled share option LI R ER
arrangements BRI - - 4,357 = = 4,357
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME
+-A=1+—H 1,174,851 337,830 18,016 124,516 (892,377) 762,836
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31 December 2024
—EomE+-A=+—H

44.

45.

306

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial

statements is set out below:

Five Year Financial Summary

hFEMBREE

E BTN BZUHRRNAERBNBER
BEYBEENEEREE 8B RIFERERM
FHIWT :

Year ended 31 December

HETZA=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_ME C—ZI-=F "B -HF "B _"B_EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFfx AR®TRT ARETR AR®ETR
Restated Restated Restated
mE5| mE5| mE5|
RESULTS ES
REVENUE Wi 16,126,477 13,471,235 12,845,859 11,303,125 9,631,362
Cost of sales SHERA (13,859,632) (11527528  (11,251,085)  (0,793.419)  (8,443,083)
Gross profit EF 2,266,845 1,943,707 1,504,774 1,609,706 1,188,279
Other income and gains HAWA Rz 240,876 227,894 241,727 84,221 108,360
Selling and distrioution HERDHERS
expenses (534,682) (464,279) (389,151) (586,076) (481,179)
Administrative expenses  TEEI (500,188) (446,084) (333,676) (306,212) (266,359)
Research and development  FF 8 Al 7
costs (342,635) (371,868) (382,869) (239,446) (172,720)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of B & (H{EEE) /
impairment on assets REEE (58,782) 4,134 (27,516) (23,761) (20,675)
Other expenses Hitgax (32,406) (20982) (14,443) (102,594) (35,874)
Fair value (losses)/gains BARBEEEFA
on financial instruments BafesTA
measured at fair value MAREE BB/
through profit or loss, net & 3% (44,709) (5,114) 50,767 8,776 (553)
Finance costs SR (299,990) (203,554) (156,222) (143,874) (158,180)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX HAnEH 694,329 643,854 583,392 200,740 161,099
Income tax expense FriempYx (130,827 (76,018) (80,648) (24,566) (13,357
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TEERH 563,502 567,836 502,744 176,174 147,742
Profit for the year UTFATEEAEE
attributable to: A
Owners of the parent ISUNCIEZ 2PN 566,393 535,372 481,075 145,571 133,510
Non-controling interests JEER S (2,891) 32,464 21,669 30,603 14,232
563,502 567,836 502,744 176,174 147,742
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEE - BRRIFERER

As at 31 December

2L
z s

®+ZB=+—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

“ETmE —"E--fF B "F BT —HF "ETEF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

AE®TRT ARETR AREBTxT AREFTT ARETT

TOTAL ASSETS BEME 14523913 14,095,244 10,494,395 9,596,131 9,072,832

TOTAL LIABILITIES =REEE (9,505,133)  (9,506,604)  (6,458,160)  (6,017,066)  (5,672,896)
NON-CONTROLLING IR

INTERESTS (420,428) (389,478) (213,957) (192,428) (160,310)

4,598,352 4,199,162 3,822,278 3,386,637 3,239,626
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B =33m LEOCH INTERNATIONAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
Leoch Battery

Unit C, 33rd Floor, TML Tower

No.3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
EANMAEE SREIHTMLES33MECE

TelB5E: + 8523578 6666  Fax{HE: + 8522117 0016

www.leoch.com
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